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Board of Governors 
 
Minute of Meeting of the Board Governors held on Tuesday 17 September 2019 at 
5.30pm in the Buchan Suite. 
 
Present:  Alex Linkston (Chair) 
   Sue Cook (Vice Chair) 
   Jackie Galbraith (Principal & Chief Executive) 
   Moira Niven  

Iain McIntosh 
   Frank Gribben 
   Colin Miller 
   Simon Ashpool  

Claire Probert 
   Elaine Cook 
   Lynne Hollis 
   Neil Sinclair 
    
In attendance: Jennifer McLaren (Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum 

Services) 
 Emma Marriott (Shadow Board Member) 

Karine McNair (Board Secretary) 
 
 
19.37 Welcome and Apologies 
 

The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting especially Lynne Hollis, Neil 
Sinclair and Emma Marriott to their first Board meeting.  
 
Apologies had been received from Richard Lockhart, Tom Bates, Julia 
Simpson, Michelle Low, Gemma Reynolds and Simon Earp. 
 
The Chair also noted the Board’s thanks to Norman Ross who had resigned in 
August. 
 
 

19.38 Declarations of Interest 
 

There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 
19.39 Minute of Meeting of 18 June 2019 
 

The Minute of the meeting of the Board of Governors of 18 June 2019 was 
approved as a correct record. 
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19.40 Matters Arising from Minute of Meeting of 18 June 2019 
 

Regarding Action 10, it was commented that while the Board were keen to 
visit a West Lothian Partnership Centre, the Partnership Centre may not offer 
the required accommodation and catering for a Board Strategy Day so 
another opportunity to visit a Partnership Centre would be considered. 
 
Action 1: Board Secretary 
 
All other actions were noted as duly completed from the minute of meeting of 
18 June 2019. 

 
 
19.41 Chief Executive’s Report 
 

The Principal & Chief Executive presented Paper 3 highlighting that student 
outcomes were slightly improved and staff were working very hard to ensure 
that improvement in performance continued in the current year. 
 
The Investors in People Silver Award reinforced the many good findings in the 
staff survey. The College has also been shortlisted for 5 awards. 
 
Regarding Interrupt 19, the Principal thanked some of the Board Members for 
attending and noted that it had been a resounding success welcoming more 
than 400 attendees to the event. All the workshops had been well received 
and the students and school pupils who attended were all engaged and 
enthusiastic. It was also an opportunity to involve students from Events and 
Media & Communications courses who contributed to the running of the event 
and the social media content. 
 
The Principal commented that the College was keen to run similar events in 
the future for other curriculum areas of the College. The event was viewed as 
a positive way to engage with students early on in their courses and hopefully 
motivate them to apply themselves for successful outcomes. 
 
The Board Members who had attended the event praised all involved for an 
exceptionally well run event and they had found the content very interesting. 
 
The Board formally noted the tremendous effort by staff to raise attainment 
which was reflected in the improved KPIs and were pleased that it was a step 
in the right direction. 

 
The Chair thanked the Principal for an upbeat report. 
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19.42 Regional Chair’s Feedback (verbal) 
 

The Chair of the Board commented that the work of the Employers’ 
Association had been quiet over the summer months but the Cabinet 
Secretary for Finance had tasked 2 College Principals with producing a report 
on College finances.  
 

 
19.43 Student Association Report  

 
In the absence of the Student Association President and Vice President, the 
Board noted the Student Association Report which had been presented to the 
Learning & Teaching Committee. 

 
 
19.44 Board Development 

 
i) Board Development Plan 
 

The Board approved the Board Development Plan subject to an 
amendment to point 1.6 (see Action 1 above). 
 
 

ii) Board Secretary Report including Register of Interest Information 
 

The Board Secretary distributed a recent flowchart from the Standards 
Commission demonstrating scenarios for declaring an interest. It was 
noted that discussions had been held to arrange a meeting between 
the Board and the Student Association and the Student Association 
would be in touch to arrange the meetings.  
 
It was noted that a recruitment process will shortly be launched to 
recruit for a Board Member with CIPD certification. All Board Members 
were asked to share the recruitment material with their personal 
networks. 

 
 

19.45 Finance & General Purposes Committee 
 
i) Update from the Chair of the Finance & General Purposes 

Committee from draft minute of 5 September 2019 
 
The Chair of the Finance & General Purposes Committee noted that 
the Committee had welcomed the visit to the Street Building and 
hearing the positive feedback from staff.  
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It had been decided that the next meetings of the Audit and Finance & 
General Purposes Committees would be separate given the demanding 
agendas for each Committee. However, since the Annual Accounts 
would be discussed at each meeting, members of both Committees 
were encouraged to visit the other Committee during this round to 
share engagement.  
 
The main item on the agenda had been the Financial Forecast Return 
which had been recommended to the Board with the condition of 
establishing a Short Life Working Group to discuss the financial 
strategy in further detail. 
 
The Committee had noted that short term sickness was generally 
reducing and discussed a repeat complaint by a student with a 
disability. The Committee had recommended more training for staff to 
address the repeat complaint. 

 
ii) Financial Forecast Return 
 

Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services presented paper 8 and 
highlighted that the Financial Forecast Return had been prepared in 
line with SFC directives and based on assumptions dictated by the 
SFC. It was noted that the Short Life Working Group will work with the 
Finance Team to develop a medium term financial strategy with 
adaptations depending on different scenarios. 
 
The Board approved the Financial Forecast Return. 

 
 

19.46 Audit Committee 
 

i) Update from the Chair of the Audit Committee from draft minute of 
12 September 2019 

 
The Chair of the Audit Committee commented that the Audit Committee 
had also enjoyed their visit to the reconfigured Street Building noting the 
new layout encouraged more collaborative working.  
 
The Committee had noted the robust health and safety processes in 
place and although the College had been on a Fire Brigade ‘watch list’, 
a follow up visit from the Fire Brigade had approved all College 
procedures. The Facilities Manager will have more meetings with the 
third party contractor responsible for overnight security to ensure that 
false alarms are communicated in a more timely fashion. 
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Good assurance had been given by Internal Audit on their 2 reports and 
the Audit Committee had requested an update on the completion of 
Personal Learning Plans at the next meeting. 
 
The Committee had discussed the Risk Register and proposed an 
adjustment to all risks apart from Risk 2 and accepted that this was 
subject to feedback at the Risk Workshop which had preceded the 
Board Meeting. It was commented that the Risk Register should be 
presented before the start of the new academic year and the Chair of 
the Audit Committee agreed that the Audit Committee would consider 
the timescale for reviewing the Risk Register. 
 
Action 2: Chair of the Audit Committee / Board Secretary 

 
ii) Quarterly Health & Safety Report 

 
 The Board noted the Quarterly Health & Safety Report. 
 
 
19.47 Learning & Teaching Committee 

 
i) Update from the Chair of the Learning & Teaching Committee from 

draft minute of 4 September 2019 
 

The Chair of the Learning & Teaching Committee noted that the visit to 
the Cyber classroom had been interesting and the recent installation of 
a “History of Computing” mural was welcomed. Further campus visits 
will be undertaken by the Committee and staff from the visited area will 
join the Learning & Teaching meeting to give further insight into the 
curriculum area. 
 
The Committee had been reassured that any quality issues were being 
addressed and the impact of actions in the EREP were being 
monitored. The Committee had also considered the development of 
more ‘live environments’ within the College and the Board suggested 
that the Chief Executive of West Lothian Council could be contacted to 
discuss a shared resource with the Council. 

 
The Board discussed the value of decoration within the College and 
noted a design competition which had been run at a University, the 
visual strategic plan at Forth Valley College and murals at West Calder 
High School as examples of how to use artwork with good effect. 
 
The Chair of the Learning & Teaching Committee noted that the 
Committee had discussed the poor Higher and National 5 results in 
great detail. The Principal reiterated that staff delivering Higher and 



Action: For Approval  Agenda Item 19.55 
 

                                                                                                            Paper 1 
West Lothian College         
  10 December 2019 
  

 
BOG/101219/iShare 
 6 
 

National 5 courses were being supported to improve performance with 
resources such as SCHOLAR and were also being encouraged to visit 
peers in other Colleges. 

 
 

19.48 Nominations Committee 
 

i) Update from Chair of the Nominations Committee 
 

The Chair of the Nominations Committee noted that the Committee had 
met on 18 June and shared the minutes for the Board to note. 

 
ii) Nominations Committee Remit 
 
  The Board approved the Nominations Committee Remit. 
 
iii) Committee Chair Appointment Protocol 
 
  The Board approved the Committee Chair Appointment Protocol. 
 

19.49 Update from Chair of the Remuneration Committee 
 
The Chair of the Remuneration Committee noted that the Remuneration 
Committee had briefly met before the Board Meeting to discuss the Principal’s 
proposed consultation with staff on a restructure. The consultation will be 
presented to the Board in December. 
 
 

19.50  Any Other Business  

The Board thanked the Principal for the School Leaver Destination Report 
which had been very informative and surprising in some instances.  
 
There were no other items of business.  
 
 

19.51 Review of Meeting, Supporting Papers and Development Needs  

The Board of Governors was content with the meeting and supporting papers 
presented.  
 
 
 

19.52 Date of Next Meeting 

The next meeting would take place on Tuesday 10 December at 4.30pm. 
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Note: There were no matters discussed during the meeting, during which Members 
declared any conflict of interest, or the Secretary to the Board was aware from the 
Register of Interests that discussion could give rise to such a conflict. 
 
 
Signed …………………………………………………. 
  Chair, Board of Governors 
 
Date  ………………………………………………… 
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Board of Governors 
 
Action update from the Board of Governors of 17 September 2019. 
 
Action 1: Board Secretary 
Matters Arising from Minute of Meeting of 17 September 2019 
Regarding Action 10, it was commented that while the Board were keen to 
visit a West Lothian Partnership Centre, the Partnership Centre may not offer 
the required accommodation and catering for a Board Strategy Day so 
another opportunity to visit a Partnership Centre would be considered. 
 
Duly completed  
 
 
Action 2: Chair of the Audit Committee / Board Secretary 
Audit Committee (i) Update from the Chair of the Audit Committee from 
draft minute of 12 September 2019 
It was commented that the Risk Register should be presented before the start 
of the new academic year and the Chair of the Audit Committee agreed that 
the Audit Committee would consider the procedure for the Risk Register. 
 
The Audit Committee proposed at the meeting on 28 November 2019 that 
there should be an annual Board Risk Appetite Workshop facilitated by the 
external auditors. It would take place after the Strategy Day and be 3-4 hours 
to allow for a full discussion. Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services 
will take the action forward and update the Audit Committee in the first 
instance. 
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE REPORT, SEPTEMBER - DECEMBER 2019 
 
Performance 
 
Student Satisfaction and Engagement Survey 
 
Scottish Funding Council (SFC) published results for the 2018-19 Student Satisfaction and 
Engagement Survey in November which showed that 95.6% of our FE full time students 
were satisfied with their experience of college compared with the national average of 
93.0%, and that 93.7% of our HE full time students were satisfied compared with the 
national average of 86.8%. These are very positive figures, particularly when our response 
rate improved significantly for full time students. While we are higher than the sector 
average for most questions, satisfaction rates from our FE full time students to most 
questions were down slightly on the previous year, although satisfaction rates from HE full 
time students to almost all questions were up considerably over the year. 
 
There was a huge improvement in satisfaction to the question The College Students’ 
Association influences change for the better, reflecting a year of outstanding engagement 
with students from our Student Association. It also reflects the positive response from 
managers, lecturers and other staff to student feedback through the SPARKLE self-
evaluation process. 
 
SFC also published College Leaver Destinations 2017-18 recently which showed that 
96.0% of our students had a positive destination on leaving college compared with the 
national average of 95.4%. 
 
Education Scotland 
 
As part of the How good is our college national quality framework, Education Scotland 
carried out a two-day visit to the college in October to review the progress we are making 
on our Enhancement Plan on the priority themes of student attainment, curriculum 
planning and portfolio review, data quality and usage, IT infrastructure and estates 
development. They also reviewed how we are progressing against the quality framework’s 
themes of Leadership and Quality Culture; Delivery of Teaching and Services to Support 
Learning; and Outcomes and Impact. The resultant report from Education Scotland was 
very positive and is included in the papers for this meeting. 
 
Progress on attainment in 2018-19 
 
All colleges were required to submit a report to SFC by 31 October on how they performed 
against the targets set out in their 2018-19 Outcome Agreements. The report is included in 
the papers for this meeting. In summary, the key messages about last year’s performance 
on recruitment, retention and attainment are: 
  



Action: For Information   Agenda Item 19.57 
 
      Paper 3 
West Lothian College 
  10 December 2019 
   
 

BOG/101219/iShare 
2 

 
 

 • Recruitment was strong – significantly increased for part time courses, and stable 
overall for full time courses. The increase in demand for part time courses was mainly for 
work-based qualifications supported by the Flexible Workforce Development Fund and 
work-based candidates undertaking SVQs. 

 • We had the highest ever number of student enrolments. An increasing proportion of 
full time students (90%) lived in West Lothian, while a larger number of part time 
students lived outside West Lothian. 

 • We were the top destination for school leavers in West Lothian. Three quarters of 
school leavers who moved onto college chose West Lothian College, and as many 
leavers came to us as the total of those who moved onto all universities in Scotland. 

 • School leavers represented a quarter of full time students in 2018-19. The majority of full 
time students were not school leavers — a third were over the age of 25. 

 • Student retention improved over the year. However, withdrawals of full time HE 
students increased slightly over the year. 

 • Despite a ten percent increase in enrolments over the year, more students (full and part 
time, as well as FE and HE) completed their course successfully. This represents our 
best ever student outcomes with the highest ever number of enrolments. 

 • We achieved our best success for full time FE students for ten years despite 
enrolments doubling over that period. 

 • Success for full time HE students increased very slightly over the year. 
 • Part time FE student success was the best ever despite a large increase of around 500 
enrolments on the previous year, and successful outcomes for part time HE students 
were the best for ten years. 

 
The table below summarises our audited student success key performance indicators. 
Student attainment improved in all categories, compared with a downward movement 
across the sector. We are likely to be above sector average for all four categories (in the 
previous year we were below sector average for all except FEPT). 
 

 2018-19 2017-18 2016-17 

FEFT (FE full time) 67.7% 65.5% 62.1% 

HEFT (HE full time) 70.5% 69.8% 72.5% 

FEPT (FE part time) 85.5% 77.1% 75.8% 

HEPT (HE part time) 81.6% 77.0% 73.5% 

ALL 80.3% 73.7% 71.8% 
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Ministerial engagements 
 
Ministerial launch of our forest classroom 
 
Marie Todd MSP, Minister for Children and Young People, visited our forest classroom in 
September to hear how we are integrating outdoor learning into our childhood practice 
curriculum and about our initiatives to encourage boys and men into early years. Forest 
Kindergarten and Outdoor Learning have been embedded in all levels of childhood 
practice courses. Over 200 students have benefitted from this and applied their skills 
with over 130 children from local nurseries and primary schools who have participated in 
learning activities in our forest classroom. Acting principal teacher of Dedridge Primary 
School said “We try to come down once a week with a group of primary 6/7s. We’re finding 
that the link up with the college has really developed their engagement generally and 
we’ve seen positive things come out of that.”  
 
Colleges Scotland Scottish Parliamentary Reception 
 
The main speakers at the Colleges Scotland parliamentary reception were Jamie Hepburn 
MSP (Minister for Skills) and our SVQ Social Services graduate Kevin Neary who was 
speaking not just as a former West Lothian College student but for the whole college 
sector. Kevin spoke about adverse childhood experiences, the transformational role of 
colleges and how he achieved his first ever qualification this year (SVQ Social Services 
and Healthcare Level 7). 
 
Stakeholder/Partner meetings and events 
 
Over the past three months I have attended a range of meetings including the Community 
Planning Partnership Board, Colleges Scotland (Principals’ Group and Employers’ 
Association residential), Skills Development Scotland/OECD strategic workshops on future 
skills, and with employers and industry projects such as Morrison Construction and the 
Winchburgh Developments. I also met with the Third Sector Strategy Group to seek their 
input to the development of our strategic plan. 
 
Along with relevant college managers, I took part in a round table meeting with our peers 
at Heriot-Watt University to explore opportunities for more of our HNC/D graduates to 
articulate onto degrees in business, accounts, electronic engineering, computing, and the 
built environment. We also discussed establishing more pathways into graduate 
apprenticeships. Heriot-Watt has the biggest volume of graduate apprenticeships in 
Scotland.  
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Student Health and Wellbeing 
 
I received notification from SFC in November of funding to recruit mental health 
counsellors to support our students. This is very welcome and we hope to recruit early in 
the new calendar year. 
 
Our staff and students continue to carry out excellent work to support mental health and 
wellbeing. For example, our Pre-apprenticeship Carpentry and Joinery students helped out 
at Armadale Academy to build a wooden structure in the school’s wellbeing garden in 
memory of pupils who lost their lives to suicide.  
 
Prep for Health and Social Care students encouraged staff, students and family members 
to come together for a chat over a tea/coffee to support mental health and wellbeing. They 
invited construction students and lecturers to join them, and some innovative joint work 
between these two curriculum areas on promoting good mental health is now underway. 
  
One of our social care lecturers is working with two mature male students (whose course 
fees are being paid by the charity, Aid and Abet) on the Introduction to Counselling 
evening class to support young men into work in environments where empathy and 
support may be lacking.  
 
To support young men open up about challenges with their mental health and suicidal 
thoughts, one of our electrical engineering lecturers is looking at establishing an informal 
chat group for male students. He is taking advice from partners such as Neil’s Hugs as 
well as fellow lecturers with expertise in mental health. 
 
The social care lecturer who leads on a range of mental health activity across the college 
is working with See Me to identify opportunities for collaboration and areas where they 
believe they could add value to the great work we are already doing. They have invited us 
to showcase our good practice at the See Me national event in March 2020. What our 
lecturers, their students and the Student Association are doing on mental health and 
wellbeing, in collaboration with colleagues across the college and external partners, is truly 
innovative. 
 
Staff Health and Wellbeing 
 
In October, the college was awarded the Silver Award for NHS Healthy Working Lives 
(after achieving bronze just a few months ago!) This achievement is a direct result of the 
excellent work on health and wellbeing by colleagues on the Staff Experience Group. 
 
Student Association 
 
In addition to my normal monthly meetings with the Student President and Vice President, 
I met all Centre Ambassadors and newly elected Student Association executive team 
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members over lunch recently. We had a very positive discussion on their experience of the 
college and what is coming out of the latest round of SPARKLE feedback. 
 
Student Success 
 
Graduation Ceremony 
  
Over 750 graduates and their guests attended our graduation ceremony on Saturday 26 
October and enjoyed a speech from Shelley Kerr, Manager of Scotland’s Women’s 
Football Team. Angela Constance MSP announced Student of the Year awards for 
Alexander McDonald (HNC Events), Connor Green (HNC Childhood Practice), Francesco 
Loria (HND Software Development) and Julie Anne Graham (HNC Social Services). The 
Overall Student of the Year Award went to Olivia Rae (HNC Childhood Practice) and 
Breagh Reilly (HNC Contemporary Art Practice) was awarded the SQA Student of the 
Year Award for outstanding academic achievement. 
 
I introduced a new award this year that recognises a person who has made a huge 
difference to students at the college over the year. The first recipient of the new West 
Lothian College Ambassador Award was Donna Paterson-Harvie, who is the founder of 
the charity, Neil’s Hugs Foundation, that helps families in West Lothian affected by suicide 
and mental health problems. It was a real pleasure to present this award to Donna. 
 
West Lothian Council STELLAR Awards 
 
I presented a couple of awards at West Lothian Council’s annual STELLAR Awards 
Ceremony on 20 September including Foundation Apprentice of the Year to former 
student, Aaron Charge, who completed his Civil Engineering Foundation Apprenticeship in 
June and secured a job with his placement company that is now sponsoring him through a 
4-year graduate apprenticeship degree at Heriot-Watt University.  
 
Scottish Chefs Salmon Competition 
 
Level 5 Professional Cookery students, Aaron Legget and Mark Sneddon, reached the 
finals of the Scottish Chefs Salmon Competition, which aims to engage with all colleges to 
increase the awareness and versatility of salmon on menus across the food service sector 
 
Interrupt19 
 
On 11 September over 370 students and senior pupils took part in our inaugural 
Interrupt19 digital conference to learn about new developments in the tech industry. This 
was the first large-scale digital conference of its kind in Scotland which was aimed 
specifically at college computing students and school pupils. The other unique aspect of 
Interrupt19 is that it was a festival for students run by students. Feedback from our 
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students, staff, schools and employers has been extremely positive and the date has been 
set for Interrupt20 - 16 September 2020. 
 
Awards 
 
Since the start of this academic year the college has been shortlisted for eight awards at 
six different ceremonies. We won one, received two Highly Commended awards and two 
Commended awards: 
 

 • We won the Innovation in STEM award at the PIONEER Awards for our STEM 
Olympics initiative 

 • We received a Highly Commended award in the Innovative and Sustainable 
Learning Space category at the Education Buildings Scotland for our forest 
classroom. We were the only college listed as a finalist in any of the award 
categories 

 • At the College Development Network Awards we achieved a Highly Commended 
award in the Inclusive College category for our students’ engagement with Erasmus 
visits, and a Commended award for Outstanding Colleague of the Year for former 
technician, Gordon Paterson  

 • Our CHS Learning Academy team achieved a Commendation award at the 
Scottish Digital Business Awards in recognition of our new digital learning 
programme for the volunteer panel member community 

 • We were a finalist in the Benefitting Society category at the Green Gown Awards for 
the creation of our forest classroom and introduction of outdoor learning into our 
early years curriculum 

 • We were shortlisted in two categories at the Scottish Diversity Awards. 
 
Promoting the college 
 
Contributing to national conferences 
 
Our Childhood Practice managers co-presented a workshop with SFC at the UK Men in 
Early Years conference and at a college sector event in Stirling. 
 
At the College Development Network national conference, Enhancing the Student 
Experience: Enabling Attainment, lecturer Paul Devonshire and two of his Level 5 
Professional Cookery students spoke about how international placements through 
ERASMUS help improve student attainment. Other speakers included Richard Lochhead 
MSP, the Minister for Further and Higher Education. 
 
At the request of Morrison Construction, I presented at the Education Buildings Scotland 
conference on how our partnership with them is a very good illustration of how quickly the 
college responds to industry needs which, in turn, enables more local people to benefit 
from continued employment growth in the construction sector in West Lothian. 
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Communicating success stories 
 
There has been increased coverage of our news stories in the local press in recent 
months, both in print and digital. Our social media reach on Twitter, Facebook, LinkedIn 
and Instagram continues to grow significantly, as does engagement with our website.  
 
Our local MSPs continue to promote the college, our students and staff in parliamentary 
motions (22 so far in this parliamentary session). Our profile has been raised in a number 
of external publications and blogs, including: 
 

 • There are several references to the college in the recently published Community 
Planning Partnership 2018-19 Annual Report, including a case study of our 
partnership on mental health with The Brock social enterprise which you can read 
at https://www.westlothian.gov.uk/media/37610/Local-Outcomes-Improvement-
Plan-Annual-Report-2018-19/pdf/CPP_Annual_Report_2018-19_(final).pdf 

 • An article on the Adobe blog on Interrupt19 which you can read 
at http://blogs.adobe.com/security/2019/10/adobe-sponsors-inaugural-interrupt19-
security-conference.html 

 
We are building up our stock of short films to promote the college, including presentations 
from speakers at events such as Interrupt19. You can view these 
at https://www.youtube.com/user/WestLoCollege/videos.  
 
Equality, Diversity and Inclusion 
 
Our Equalities Committee organised a range of activities on Purple Tuesday on 12 
November. Purple Tuesday raises awareness of disability, both visible and invisible, 
across the world and encourages organisations to take practical actions to meet the needs 
of disabled people. On the day the college made a pledge that all of our front-line staff will 
receive deaf awareness training. 
 
Our 2017-18 Project SEARCH cohort was the only one in the UK to achieve full 
employment outcomes for students. Lecturers Sheila Jamieson and Beth Cameron, and 
Amy Rae, Supported Employment Service Manager at West Lothian Council, picked up 
their award at national event in Preston in October. Just last week we found out that 100% 
of our 2018-19  Project SEARCH students have also achieved full employment outcomes. 
 
 
 
Jackie Galbraith 
Principal and Chief Executive 
03 December 2019 

https://www.westlothian.gov.uk/media/37610/Local-Outcomes-Improvement-Plan-Annual-Report-2018-19/pdf/CPP_Annual_Report_2018-19_(final).pdf
https://www.westlothian.gov.uk/media/37610/Local-Outcomes-Improvement-Plan-Annual-Report-2018-19/pdf/CPP_Annual_Report_2018-19_(final).pdf
http://blogs.adobe.com/security/2019/10/adobe-sponsors-inaugural-interrupt19-security-conference.html
http://blogs.adobe.com/security/2019/10/adobe-sponsors-inaugural-interrupt19-security-conference.html
https://www.youtube.com/user/WestLoCollege/videos
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Board of Governors 
 
Student Association Report 
 
Progress on Strategic Aims for 2019-20 
 
Aim 1:  Learning and teaching evaluation through Sparkle, Trial Centre 
Ambassadors, strengthen processes and target part time, schools and work based 
students 
 
Student Association Elections   
Our executive team members have been elected and we welcomed Jeanette 
Dobson from Health and Social Care; Craig Reoch from Computing; and Brooklyn 
Wright from Business and Creative to the team. 
 
The executive team will shadow elected officers to build confidence to participate in 
committee meetings and to give them an insight into the role and duties of the 
President and Vice President. We hope that members of the executive team will be 
potential successors for the outgoing President and Vice President at the end of July 
2020. 
 
Centre Ambassador Training  
The move away from class representatives to centre ambassadors has been well 
received by the student body who agree this change to the Student Association 
structure is a positive one.    
 
Fifteen volunteers have come forward to train as centre ambassadors, giving 
students an opportunity to be directly involved with the work of the Student 
Association and continuing our work to ensure the student voice is heard from all 
areas of the curriculum.    
 
The main role of Ambassadors will be to work with elected officers to carry out the 
first Sparkle survey of 2019-20 and to collate this feedback into individual centre 
Sparkle reports. This is challenging and important work and Ambassadors must 
carry out this task sensitively. We aim to be able to present coherent and useful 
information that can be acted upon to make improvements to the student experience.  
Ambassadors are expected to undergo extensive training to give them the skills to 
complete Sparkle surveys competently. Training commenced on Monday 7 October 
2019 for the fifteen Centre Ambassadors and the survey commences on 25 October 
2019. 
 
This year we hope to target and receive improved feedback from part time students 
and we will be including school students in the survey for the first time. 
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Aim 2:  Support student mental health and wellbeing which includes Recharge, 
SAMH, Peer mentoring project, smoking on campus and working in partnership with 
Minds Well and ACES to inform trauma informed practice 
 
Money Skills Workshops  
88 students took part in the money skills workshop put on to help students manage 
finances. 
 
The workshop aimed to give students advice on money management and techniques 
to save money. Feedback from students who attended the workshop was positive: 
 
“The workshop was informative and well-paced and gave people new ideas on 
money saving. Thanks.” 
 
“Great information on lots of discounts and ways to save in everyday life.” 
 
Fresher’s Fair  
We held our annual Fresher’s Fair on 18 September which created a real buzz 
around the campus. The weather was good and students enjoyed some fun activities 
such as the sticky wall, photo booth and bungee run. In addition, we had an 
exhibition promoting various facilities, events and resources available to support 
students to manage finances and mental health and wellbeing. Exhibiting 
organisations included, NHS, Neil’s Hugs, SAMH, Citizens Advice, Careers, Action 
for Children and many more.    
 
Six students volunteered to help us to run Fresher’s Fair – they were a great team 
and we couldn’t have done this without them. We gathered feedback from 150 
students who attended. Over 90 students rated the event as 5 stars; 40 rated the 
event 4 stars and 20 rated the event 3 stars.    
 
83 students found the Student Association staff most beneficial and rated Neil’s 
Hugs, a local mental health and suicide prevention charity, as second most 
beneficial stall for students. 
 
Re-Charge  
We currently have 26 students who have self-referred to our re-charge referral 
system. 52 Re-charge toiletry packs have been issued to students so far this year.    
There is still a real need for this service and we will continue to promote the service 
to students. We have asked all students benefiting from the service to complete an 
evaluation for us so that we can monitor and review the service to ensure it is still 
beneficial and meeting the needs of our students. 
 
Armadale Academy  
The Student Association team attended a mental health and wellbeing festival at 
Armadale Academy on 10 October 2019. This gave us an opportunity to promote the 
college and the Student Association to pupils who may be interested in attending 
college in the future. 
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Winter Clothing Bank 
 
A new initiative for 2019-20 is the introduction of a Winter Clothing Bank to collect 
donations of good quality winter clothing that can be distributed to students who do 
not have the funds to buy warm clothing.    
 
Aim 3:  Create a Strategic Plan for the Student Association, ensure stability of 
student association processes, reporting, evaluation and action planning 
 
The Student Association engaged in a robust evaluation of processes and evaluation 
of the service in 2018-19 which resulted in the structural change away from class 
representatives for this academic year. We have now changed the structure of the 
Association for the last three years and we recognise that, while there have been 
good reasons for change that have come from our SPARQS evaluations, these 
constant changes have stopped us having the time to work on other improvement 
actions. 
 
We have agreed to allow the structure to stabilise for the next two years and to 
review the impact of structure change in June 2021.    
 
Consultation has taken place with the Principal and the Student Association and it 
has been agreed that we will develop and include the Student Association strategic 
plan within the college strategic plan, reflecting the progress made to involve 
learners as partners in college development. 
 
Aim 4:  Discuss college and Student Association strategic and operational 
plans/priorities and how we can work in partnership to achieve these 
 
The Student Association is working with management to contribute to the review of 
the college’s Enhancement Plan for 2019-21.    
 
We participated in the recent Education Scotland Progress Review to give evidence 
on progress the college has made against the enhancement plan actions for 2018-
19. In addition to Student Association officers, a number of ambassadors and new 
and returning students participated in meetings with Education Scotland reviewers to 
talk about how enhancement actions have progressed and what the impact was for 
our students. 
 
The President and Vice President are now working with the college to look at 
enhancement actions planned for this academic year and how these will link to our 
own strategic plan and operational priorities. 
 
 
 
 
Michelle Low 
Student Association President 
10 December 2019 
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Board of Governors  
 
Board Secretary Report - Board Development 
 
This paper provides a brief update on Board development issues.  
 
 
Training 
 
CDN have released their 2019-20 course dates for new Board Members, staff 
Board Members and student Board Members. All appropriate members have 
been contacted and if anyone has any questions, please contact me. 
 
The Audit Committee requested that I again contact CDN to request training for 
all Board Members to enable more confident scrutiny of the Financial 
Statements. I will update the Audit Committee in the first instance with any 
outcome from my discussions with CDN. 
 
 
1-2-1 Review Meetings 
 
The annual reviews all took place in June and the summary of the action points 
will be recirculated to individual Board Members in January. If anyone has any 
questions or needs any support to fulfil their action points please let me know. 
 
I will also be looking for feedback on the 1-2-1 process and what changes, if any, 
Board Members would like to see. 
 
 
Register of Interests 
 
Board Members are reminded that it is your personal responsibility to ensure that 
interests are registered whenever your circumstances change in such a way as 
to require change or an addition to your entry and your duty to ensure any 
changes in circumstances are reported within one month of them changing. 
 
An updated Register of Interests is published on the College website at least 
every 6 months (more frequently when required e.g. new Board Members) when 
links to the previous register along with the guidance notes are provided for all 
Board Members to review. This will be undertaken in January. 
 
If anyone has any questions regarding registering or declaring any interest, 
please contact me to discuss. 
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Student Association 
 
As a result of the Board’s request to have an opportunity to meet with the 
Student Association, I have been in discussion with the Student Association and 
they are checking dates with the potential to have a meeting sometime in 
January. I will inform the Board as soon as I have further details. 
 
 
Board Recruitment 
 
The advert for a Board vacancy was published in October with a closing date of 
22 October by which time there had been 8 applicants. 3 strong candidates were 
interviewed and Sue Stahly was the successful applicant with Claire Marr being 
offered a shadow Board Member position. When approving the appointment, 
Linda Pooley (Deputy Director at the Scottish Government) remarked about “the 
continued good work of the College with regards to gender balance on the 
board”. 
 
 
Useful Dates 
 
An update of useful dates in the forthcoming months; 
 
(i) Board of Governors 
 
2020   Main Agenda 

Item(s) 
Visit / 
Presentation 

End January Finance 
Workshop 
Group 
 

Tbc Finance 
Strategy  
 

 

27 February Finance & 
General 
Purposes 
Committee 
 

9.30am  Motor Vehicle 

4 March Learning & 
Teaching 
Committee 
 

9.30am   

5 March Audit 
Committee 
 

9am (visit) 
9.30am 
(meeting) 
 

 Health & Beauty 

17 March Board 
Meeting  
 

4.30pm 
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Please note all dates and proposed visits or presentations can be subject to 
change. Committee members will always be informed in advance of any changes 
to the proposed dates, however if you would like to attend a Committee as an 
observer, please let me know in advance so that I can keep you informed of any 
changes. 
 
The 2020 Board Calendar is attached at Appendix 1 for information. Please note 
the changed date for the Strategy Day to 7 May 2020 and a Wednesday 
meeting for Finance & General Purposes on November 2020. 
 
 
(ii) CDN 
Ongoing – Online CDN Audit Committee training (for all board members but 
especially Audit Committee members) 
 
 
(iii) West Lothian College 
23 December – 3 January – College closed 
 
 
 
Action 
 
The Board is asked to note the update on Board development work. 
 
 
 
 
 
Karine McNair  
Secretary to the Board of Governors 
10 December 2019 
 



Action: For Information   Agenda Item 19.60 (i) 
 

Paper 5 
West Lothian College 
   10 December 2019 
   

BOG/101219/iShare 4 
 

Appendix 1 
 

West Lothian College - Board of Governors 
 
Calendar of Meetings 2020 
 
 
 Learning & 

Teaching 
Committee 

 
 

Wednesdays 
9.30am 

Finance & 
General 

Purposes 
Committee 

 
Thursdays 

9.30am 

Audit 
Committee 

 
Visit 9am 

 
Thursdays 

9.30am 

Remuneration 
& 

Nominations 
Committees 

 
Tuesdays 
4.00pm 

Board of 
Governors 

 
 

 
Tuesdays 
4.30pm 

Financial 
Workshop 

 
 

 
Various 
9.30am 

January 
 

      

February 
 

 27 February     

March 
 

4 Mar  5 Mar 17 Mar 17 Mar  

April 
 

      

May  
 

    Thurs 7* 
May 

 

June 
 

3 June 11 June 4 June 16 June 16 June  

July 
 

      

August 
 

      

September 
 

9 Sept 10 Sept 17 Sept 22 Sept 22 Sept  

October 
 

      

November 
 

18 Nov 25 Nov 
(Wednesday) 

26 Nov 
 

   

December 
 

   8 Dec 8 Dec  

 
 
 
 
* Board Strategic Day 
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Board of Governors 
 
Committee Remit Summary for KPIs 
 
Background 
 
At the recent Finance & General Purposes Committee there was some discussion 
about the relevance of the Key Performance Indicator (KPI) information provided to 
the Committee. The Audit Committee had a similar discussion and it was requested 
that the Board Secretary prepare a summary of the main Committee Remits in order 
that the responsibilities of each Committee can be matched to relevant KPIs. 
 
 
Action 
 
The Board is asked:  
 
• To discuss relevant KPIs that they would like to see presented to each 

Committee.  
 

 
 
 
 
Karine McNair 
Secretary to the Board 
10 December 2019 
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Appendix 1 
Committee Remit Summary 
 
1. Finance & General Purposes Committee 
 
Duties 
 

KPIs currently presented 

- Monitoring the college’s financial position 

- Considering the proposed college budget 
for the following financial year and making 
its recommendation to the Board 

- Considering the proposed three-year 
financial forecast and making 
recommendations to the Board 

- Making appropriate provision for salary 
awards as part of its consideration of the 
college budget, and implementing the 
agreed outcomes of national pay bargaining 

- Overseeing cash management and the 
college’s banking arrangements 

- Agreeing and monitoring the college’s 
insurance arrangements 

- Agreeing and monitoring the college’s key 
financial performance indicators 

- Approving, reviewing and monitoring major 
capital works 

- Reviewing the college’s Estates, Financial, 
Procurement and Organisational 
Development Strategies and making 
recommendations to the Board 

- Having overall responsibility for ensuring 
that staff recruitment and development 
policies are in line with equal opportunities  

- Reviewing and monitoring matters relating 
to Human Resources Management 

- College surplus 
 
- Operating surplus 
 
- Trading surplus on commercial activities 
as % of income from commercial activities  
 
- Non SFC income as % of total income* 
 
- Staff costs as % of total income* 
 
- Ratio of current assets to current 
liabilities* 
 
- Days cash to total expenditure* 
 
 - Early withdrawals 
 
* benchmarked for 2 previous years against 
Borders, Dumfries & Galloway and Forth 
Valley 
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2. Learning & Teaching Committee 
 
Duties 
 

KPIs currently presented 

- Reviewing and approving the College’s 
strategy for learning and teaching 
 
- Approving new courses for the annual 
curriculum portfolio 
  
- Approving the annual institution led review 
of quality including self-evaluation 
 
- Recommending the Regional Outcome 
Agreement for approval to the Board 
 
- Approving the College Annual Equalities 
Mainstreaming Report and Action Plan 
 
- Monitoring the effectiveness of learning 
and teaching quality policies and 
procedures 
 
- Receiving reports and regular updates 
from the Student Association on the learner 
experience 
 
- Receiving reports on benchmarking, best 
practice and curriculum design 
 
- Reviewing relevant recommendations 
from external monitoring and awarding 
bodies 
 
- Reviewing the minutes from the meetings 
of the Learner Attainment Sub Group 
 

Depending on when in the academic year, 
different KPIs are presented for; 
 
- Applications 
- Enrolments 
- Completed success 
- Partial success 
- Early withdrawal 
- Further withdrawal 
 
And by; 
 
- FE full time 
- HE full time 
- FE part time 
- HE part time 
- Centre 
- Subject area 
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3. Audit Committee 
 
Responsibilities 
 

KPIs currently presented 

- the strategic processes for risk, control 
and governance and the governance 
statement 

- the accounting policies, the accounts, and 
the annual report of the college, including 
the process for review of the accounts prior 
to submission for audit, levels of error 
identified, and the letter of representation to 
the external auditors 

- the planned activity and results of both 
internal and external audit 

- the adequacy of management response to 
issues identified by audit activity, including 
external audit's management letter/report 
 
- the effectiveness of the internal control 
environment and of external audit 

- assurances relating to the corporate 
governance requirements for the 
organisation 
 
- proposals for tendering for internal audit 
services or for purchase of non-audit 
services from contractors who provide audit 
services 

- anti-fraud policies (including appropriate 
engagement with National Fraud Initiative 
projects), whistle-blowing processes, and 
arrangements for special investigations. 

- ensure that the college has systems and 
procedures to achieve value for money and 
is economical, efficient and effective in its 
use of public funding – this may require 
identifying specific value for money studies. 

- provide assurances to the Board that the 
College has in place appropriate policies 
and procedures to promote and safeguard 
the health and safety of staff, students and 
all stakeholders and satisfies current 
legislation. 

- College surplus 
 
- Operating surplus 
 
- Trading surplus on commercial activities 
as % of income from commercial activities  
 
- Non SFC income as % of total income* 
 
- Staff costs as % of total income* 
 
- Ratio of current assets to current 
liabilities* 
 
- Days cash to total expenditure* 
 
 - Early withdrawals 
 
* benchmarked for 2 previous years against 
Borders, Dumfries & Galloway and Forth 
Valley 
 
 - a copy of the KPI paper presented to the 
Learning & Teaching Committee 
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Board of Governors 
 
Minute of Meeting of the Finance & General Purposes Committee held on 
Thursday 21 November at 9.30am in the Principal’s Room in the College. 
 
Present: Moira Niven (Chair) 
 Jackie Galbraith (Principal & Chief Executive) 
 Frank Gribben  
 Alex Linkston 
 Richard Lockhart 
 Julia Simpson 
 Lynne Hollis 
 
In attendance: Jennifer McLaren (Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum 

Services)   
 Simon Earp (Vice Principal, Curriculum & Enterprise) 

Derek O’Sullivan – (Senior HR Business Partner) items 
19.47 to 19.49 only 
Karine McNair – Secretary to the Board  

  
 

19.43 Welcome/Apologies 
 
The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting especially Sue Cook who 
was joining as an observer from the Audit Committee. 

 
 

 

19.44 Declarations of interest 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

  
19.45 Minutes of Meeting of 5 September 2019 

 
The Minutes of the meeting of 5 September 2019 were approved as a 
correct record of the meeting. 

 
 
19.46 

 
Matters Arising from Minutes of Meeting of 5 September 2019 
 
Action 2 was noted as ongoing and the Principal updated the Committee 
that all frontline staff will have deaf awareness training and key staff will 
have British Sign Language training. 
 
The Committee noted all other actions as duly completed. 
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19.47 Financial Progress  

 
(i) Annual Report & Financial Statements 2018-19 

 
Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services, presented paper 3 
noting that the Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with 
Accounting Standards and guidance from the SFC. The Committee 
noted that the deficit was due to the impact of the actuarial 
revaluation of the pension provisions. The committee was asked to 
note the adjusted operating surplus position after adjusting for non-
cash one-off or distorting items required by the SORP. The summary 
sheet showed the financial position of the College at the year-end as 
per the management accounts. The college achieved a reduced 
surplus compared to budget due to investment in the infrastructure 
and IT and was able to achieve this due to cost control and a strong 
commercial performance. 
 
The Committee discussed the complexity of the Financial Statements 
and expressed concern that they do not clearly show the true 
financial position of the College.  The Committee were concerned 
that, should outside organisations be looking to work with the 
College, the Financial Statements would present a misleading 
picture.  
 
The Committee requested that the Principal provide an overlay 
‘executive summary’ type of document highlighting the College’s 
successes and challenges. 
 
Action 1: Principal 
 
The Principal requested that the Board Members send her 2 or 3 
bullet points they would like to see highlighted in the ‘executive 
summary’ which she would send to MSPs, staff and the wider 
stakeholder community. 
 
Action 2: Board Members 
 
The Committee suggested that the ‘executive summary’ could be 
used to demonstrate that the College is able to manage resources 
and is an institution worth investing in given the growing population in 
the region and growing demand for its services in the community. 
 
The Committee recommended the Financial Statements to the Audit 
Committee for their review. 
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(ii) Reconciliation of Final Outturn for 2018-19 with Forecast at 

June 2019 
 
Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services, presented paper 4 
noting that funding for job evaluation would only be allocated by 
SFC once the exercise was complete.  
 
The Committee queried why some European funding had not been 
fully utilised. It was explained that due to unforeseen staff illness a 
trip had not been able to take place. The team involved in European 
trips had since worked on creating better contingencies to avoid a 
repeat of a trip cancellation in future. 
 
The Committee noted the paper. 

 
(iii)  College Certificate 2018-19 
 

Vice Principal, Curriculum & Enterprise, presented paper 5 noting 
that the final credit claim was 1% above target and therefore there 
would be no clawback of funding. 

 
The Committee noted the paper. 

 
(iv)  Management Accounts 
 

Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services, presented paper 6 
explaining that the deficit forecast was a worst case scenario and 
due to staff sick absence. 
 
The Committee discussed the In Year Redistribution Request made 
by the College for £553k additional student funding largely due to 
supporting care experienced students. Due to Scottish Government 
policy, the College are obliged to make the extra payments 
regardless of whether the additional funding request to SFC is 
successful. Many Colleges have seen a sharp increase in the 
number of students identifying as care experienced. If the College 
does not receive additional SFC funding, the only contingency 
available to the College is to reduce spending in other areas which 
could impact the student experience. 
 
The Senior HR Business Partner addressed the long term sickness 
cases currently being noted in the management accounts. The main 
reasons for absence are mental health, muscular skeletal and 
viruses. A number of these cases are curriculum staff where 
lecturing cover is required to ensure that classes can still be run. 
Where current staff cannot be redeployed, bank staff need to be 
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brought in which increases the cost. The new Your Attendance 
Matters Policy for staff is in place and the new occupational health 
provider conducts face-to-face meetings with staff. All long term 
absences are discussed in detail at Senior Team meetings and 
health and wellbeing in general is being highlighted in the College. 
 
The Committee suggested that staff could be reminded more 
frequently of the health and wellbeing benefits offered by the 
College e.g. free physiotherapy. The Committee also recommended 
that the College look into the cost and benefit of offering flu 
vaccinations to all staff through occupational health. 
 
Action 3: Senior HR Business Partner 
 
It was noted that there is a forthcoming managers meeting where 
the Senior HR Business Partner will highlight the need for managers 
to work with staff to manage absence. 
 
The Committee noted the paper. 

 
(v)  Income Generation Report 
 

Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services, presented paper 7 
and highlighted that the Part Time and Short Course income was 
lower due to the inconsistency of information around Individual 
Training Accounts and large employers accessing Flexible 
Workforce Development Fund (“FWDF”) courses rather than short 
courses. In response, a College group has been set up to 
investigate the possibility of offering professional institute courses 
and targeting smaller employers not included in the FWDF. 
 
The Committee requested that the College group conclusions be 
reported to the Learning & Teaching Committee. 
 
Action 4: Vice Principal, Curriculum & Enterprise 
 
The Foundation Apprenticeship target has been met and there has 
been some very positive outcomes from discussions with schools 
and employers. From January, the College will be the preferred 
provider for the childminding qualifications now required to register 
as a childminder with the local authority. 
 
The Committee noted the paper. 
 

(vi) Financial Workshop Report 
 
Paper 8, Financial Workshop Report was approved. 
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Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) 2018-19 
 
Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services, presented paper 9, which 
the Committee discussed and felt that the paper could be redesigned to 
show the KPIs for each Committee’s particular responsibilities. A full 
paper combing all Committee KPI papers would then be brought to the 
Board. The redesigned paper could also look to benchmark against 
more similar Colleges e.g. South Lanarkshire.  This would be taken 
forward in 2020. 
 
Action 5: Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services 
 
 
Organisational Well-being 
 
(i) Human Resources Report  
 

The Senior HR Business Partner presented the report covering the 
quarter to 30 September 2019. 

 
A new HR system will go live in March 2020.  
 
Leave of Absence is to be discussed with the management team to 
ensure consistency. Although the policy is a reserved policy for 
national bargaining, the Committee advised that the College needs 
to develop some operational guidance to provide consistency and 
fairness for the College workforce. 
 
Action 6: Senior HR Business Partner 

 
The Committee noted the report. 
 

(ii) Employers Association Update 
 

The Chair of the Board confirmed that the Employers Association 
residential last week had been productive with the Fairwork 
Framework being discussed. The Employers Association are 
working with the SFC and College sector to introduce good 
employer guidelines.  
 
The Job Evaluation process is being held up by GDPR claims by  
some Colleges. 
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19.50 Complaints Report 
 

Vice Principal, Curriculum & Enterprise presented paper 10. The 
Committee noted that there was some improved resolution of 
complaints with fewer escalation to higher levels. 

 
The Committee noted the paper. 

 
 

19.51 

 
 
Any Other Business 
 
No other matters of business were raised. 

  
 

19.52 Review of Meeting, Supporting Papers & Development Plan 
 
The Committee were content with the meeting, the information received 
and the Development Plan. 
 
The Committee considered that some relevant campus visits could be to 
the hybrid car in Motor Vehicle (February) and the outdoor classroom 
(June). 

 
 

19.53 
 
Date of Next Meeting 
 
The next meeting was scheduled for 27 February 2020 at 9.30am.  

 
Note: There were no matters discussed during the meeting, during 
which Members declared any conflict of interest, or the Secretary to the 
Board was aware from the Register of Interests that discussion could 
give rise to such a conflict. 

 
 
 
 
 
Signed …………………………………………………. 
  Chair, Finance & General Purposes Committee 
 
 
Date  ………………………………………………… 
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Board of Governors 
 
Minute of Meeting of the Audit Committee held on Thursday 28 November at 
9.30am in the Principal’s office. 
 
Present:  Sue Cook (Chair) 
   Simon Ashpool 
     
In attendance: Moira Niven (Chair of Finance & General Purposes Committee) 

Jennifer McLaren (Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum 
Services) 
Simon Earp (Vice Principal, Curriculum & Enterprise) 
David Eardley (Scott-Moncrieff, Internal Auditors) 
Lucy Nutley (Mazars, External Auditors) 
Alyce Russell (Mazars, External Auditors) 

   Emily Purdie (Health & Safety Officer) item 19.54 only 
Karine McNair (Board Secretary) 
 
 

Campus Visit 
 
The meeting began with a visit to the Motor Vehicle area and in particular to view the 
hybrid car. All Committee Members were very impressed and interested in the tour. 
 
19.45 Welcome/Apologies 
 

The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting. Apologies were received from 
Colin Miller and Claire Probert and Jackie Galbraith. 

 
19.46 Declarations of Interest 
 

There were no declarations of interest. 
 
19.47 Minute of Meeting of 12 September 2019 
 

The Minute of the meeting of the Audit Committee of 12 September 2019 was 
approved as a correct record. 

 
19.48 Matters Arising from Minute of Meeting of 12 September2019 
 

Regarding Action 1 the Health & Safety Officer confirmed that the Facilities 
Manager had discussed the alarm alerts with the provider company and the 
issue of notifying the College will remain a live discussion at future meetings 
with the provider company. It was confirmed that the Audit Committee would 
be informed of any future non notification of alarm activation. 
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Regarding Action 2, the Health & Safety Officer had offered de-escalation 
training to the Student Association officers, however they declined on the 
basis they felt they did not need the training. The Committee were concerned 
for the safety of the Student Association in their isolated office and requested 
that the Health & Safety Officer deliver the training as mandatory. 
 
Action 1: Health & Safety Officer 
 
Regarding Action 3, the Health & Safety Officer confirmed that training will be 
delivered to 13 staff and 1 student. After the training the College will be 
applying for an Epilepsy Friendly award. 
 
Regarding Action 4, Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services noted that 
due to the introduction of Professional Standards the paperwork for PLPs had 
significantly changed so the Quality Manager had allowed certain staff an 
extended deadline. An update to the completion rate will be brought to the 
next Audit Committee meeting. 
 
Action 2: Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services 
 
All other actions were duly completed and noted. 

 
  
19.49 External Audit Reports 
 
 (i)  Annual Report & Financial Statements 2018-2019 

 
Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services, presented paper 3 noting 
that the Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with 
Accounting Standards and guidance from the SFC. The Committee 
noted that the deficit was due to the impact of the actuarial revaluation of 
the pension provisions. The committee was asked to note the adjusted 
operating surplus position after adjusting for non-cash one-off or 
distorting items required by the SORP. The summary sheet showed the 
financial position of the College at the year-end as per the management 
accounts. The college achieved a reduced surplus compared to budget 
due to investment in the infrastructure and IT and was able to achieve 
this due to cost control and a strong commercial performance. 
 
The Chair of the Finance & General Purposes Committee provided a 
brief summary of the discussion of the financial statements that had 
taken place at the recent Finance & General Purposes Committee. The 
Audit Committee agreed that more training was required for all Board 
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Members of all Colleges to be able to properly scrutinise the financial 
statements for Colleges. The Board Secretary was asked to again 
contact Colleges Development Network to request face to face training 
on actual College financial statements with a 2-3 page brief sheet 
highlighting the areas for scrutiny and appropriate questions to ask. 
 
Action 3: Board Secretary 
 
The Audit Committee recommended the Annual Report & Financial 
Statements 2018-2019 to the Board for approval. 
 
Action 4: Board Secretary  
 

(ii) Annual Audit Report to the Board of Governors and the Auditor 
General for Scotland 2018-19 

 
The Internal Auditors tabled an amended Letter of Representation and 
the Committee noted the Audit Report. The Internal Auditors thanked 
the College Finance Team for their timely provision of information and 
co-operation throughout the audit.  
 
The Committee queried the wording “significant difficulties” on pages 6 
and 12 and the Internal Auditors confirmed that they would be able to 
remove “significant” from the text since that reflected the true nature of 
the audit process. The word “significant” would remain in the title since 
this was an accounting requirement. 
 

 (iii) Letter of Representation to Mazars 
 

The Committee recommended the amended, as tabled, Letter of 
Representation to Mazars be signed by the Chair of the Board of 
Governors on behalf of the Board. 
 
Action 5: Board Secretary  

 
19.50 Internal Audit Reports 
 

(i)  Student Support Funds & Educational Maintenance Allowances 
(EMA) 2018-19 

 
The Internal Auditors presented paper 6 noting that good assurance 
had been gained on the Student Support Funds and EMAs. Recent 
SFC guidance was increasingly complex and the College had 
implemented the new guidance well. 
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(ii) Review of 2018-19 Credits Return 

 
The Internal Auditors presented paper 7 noting that the Credit Return 
had been agreed by SFC. An issue had been identified regarding the 
recording of attendance on some part time courses, however the 
Internal Auditors were satisfied that the problem had been rectified. 
The College had undertaken an additional testing of the attendance 
data after rectifying the problem and had not identified any further 
issues.   
 

 (iii) Annual Internal Audit Report 2018-19 
 

The Internal Auditors presented paper 8 noting that “reasonable 
assurance” reflected the good position of the combined Internal Audit 
reports throughout the year and in the internal auditor’s opinion, the 
college has a framework of internal controls in place that provides 
reasonable assurance regarding the organisation’s governance, risk 
management, achievement of objectives and value for money. 
 
 

19.51 College Audit Rolling Action Plan 
 

The Committee were satisfied that good progress was being made against the 
College Audit Rolling Action Plan with all actions either complete or due to be 
completed within the agreed timescale 
 

 
19.52 Audit Committee’s Annual Report to the Board of Governors 

 
Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services, presented Paper 10 which the 
Committee discussed and agreed with the contents. 
 
The Committee approved the Audit Committee’s Annual Report to the Board 
of Governors for presentation at the next Board Meeting. 
 
Action 6: Board Secretary  

 
 

19.53 Strategic Risk Register 
 
Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services, presented paper 11 and noted 
that a cautious approach had been adopted since it was too early in the year 
to reduce the risk ratings.  
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The Committee approved the Risk Tolerance threshold levels set for 2019-20 
and requested that this information is provided at each audit committee 
meeting. 
 
Action 7: Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services 
 
The Committee requested an annual half day Risk Workshop to set the risk 
profile of the Board in advance of the start of the next academic year. This 
should be after the Strategy Day so that any change in strategy could be 
reflected in the Board’s risk appetite. Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum 
Services, agreed to discuss the timetable with the Internal Auditors to ensure 
a half day Risk Workshop could be worked into the existing number of internal 
audit days and then inform the Board Secretary of possible dates in late 
May/early June for the workshop. 
 
Action 8: Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services 
 

 
19.54 Health & Safety Quarterly Report 
 

The Health & Safety Officer presented paper 12 noting that some departments 
had still failed to upload their risk assessment information onto iShare. The 
Vice Principals requested that the Health & Safety Officer provide them with 
the details of the departments still to upload their information onto iShare and 
they would follow up directly with the relevant managers. 
 
Action 9: Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services and Vice 
Principal, Curriculum & Enterprise 
 
A new working group has been set up to consider the viability of a Smoke 
Free Campus for 2020-21. The group comprises staff, students with a mix 
ofsmokers and non-smokers to ensure a breadth of experience is included. 
The results of a consultation will be considered in January 2020 and the 
Health & Safety Officer has been learning from the experience of other 
Colleges to gather best practise. The Committee recommended that the 
working group contact West Lothian Drug & Alcohol Service for advice 
regarding supporting smokers wishing to give up smoking. 
 
The Health & Safety Officer showed the Committee a template of a live App 
being used by lone workers, mainly Work Based Assessors, to help check in 
and track their movements. The App provides support and peace of mind for 
those who do not have regular contact with colleagues and may feel 
vulnerable. The feedback from the App users has been very positive. 
 
The Committee expressed concern that 2 staff members had required medical 
treatment following an incident at the College. The Health & Safety Officer 
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confirmed that both staff members were returning to College although one 
was on a phased return due to other unrelated ongoing health conditions. 
 
Regarding incident 7, the Health & Safety Officer confirmed that procedures 
had not been followed correctly despite recent training and all staff members 
involved had been informed of their errors and retrained in the correct 
procedures. 
 
Regarding incident 8, the Health & Safety Officer confirmed that all 
procedures had been followed and the College had fulfilled all its health and 
safety responsibilities. However, as a precaution it had been decided to 
accelerate the timescale for the planned ordering of new beds and the new 
beds will be delivered in the new year. 

 
 

19.55 Key Performance Indicators 2018-19 

The Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services, presented paper 13. It 
was noted that the Finance & General Purposes Committee had requested 
that the KPI papers be revamped to show the KPIs relevant to each separate 
Committee’s remit. It was commented that none of the KPIs would align with 
the Audit Committee remit yet the Audit Committee felt that it was important 
they had sight of KPIs to help them consider the Risk Register. 

The Audit Committee requested that the Board Secretary bring a summary of 
all Committee remits to the Board Meeting to enable a discussion of which 
KPIs would be relevant for helping each Committee fulfil their responsibility. 

 Action 10: Board Secretary 

It was suggested that after the high level discussion at the Board meeting a 
more in-depth discussion could take place at the Strategy Day where the 
revised set of KPIs could be discussed 

 Action 11: Board Secretary 

19.56 Meeting of the Committee without Management 
 

Management left the meeting and the Audit Committee requested feedback 
from the Internal and External Auditors. 

 
The External Auditors felt that the audit had been a much smoother process 
this year with requests for information being met in a timely manner and 
helpful presentation of information. 
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The Internal Auditors felt that they had a good working relationship with 
College staff who had good processes in place. 
 
Neither the External nor Internal Auditors expressed any concerns about their 
experience with the College. 

 
 
19.57  Any Other Business  

There were no items of other business.  

19.58 Review of Meeting, Supporting Papers and Development Plan  

The Committee requested a visit to the Health & Beauty centre at the start of 
the next meeting to see how they mitigate risk in practice. 
 
Action 12: Vice Principal, Curriculum & Enterprise 
 
The Committee agreed that the Committee Development Plan should be a 
separate item before ‘Any other Business’. 
 
The Committee agreed that the final item of all meetings should be ‘Review of 
Meeting and Supporting Papers without Management’ 
 
The Audit Committee was content with the meeting and supporting papers  
 
 

19.59 Date of Next Meeting 

The next meeting would take place on Thursday 5 March 2020 at 9.30am. 

 
Note: There were no matters discussed during the meeting, during which Members 
declared any conflict of interest, or the Secretary to the Board was aware from the 
Register of Interests that discussion could give rise to such a conflict. 
 
 
Signed …………………………………………………. 
  Chair, Audit Committee 
 
Date  ………………………………………………… 
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Board of Governors 
 
Annual Report and Financial Statements 2018-19 
 
Introduction 
 
The annual financial statements for financial year 2018-19 are attached to this 
paper.  These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP) and with Financial 
Reporting Standards FRS102.  They also comply with the 2018-19 
Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) issued by the Scottish 
Government.   
 
Financial Results for the year ended 31 July 2019 
 
The college generated a deficit before other gains and losses in the year of 
£1,351,000 (2018 - deficit of £939,000), with total comprehensive income 
deficit of £4,387,000 (2018 – surplus of £1,712,000).  The total 
comprehensive income in 2019 recorded an actuarial loss in respect of 
pension funds of £3,036,000 (2018 – gain of £2,651,000).  After transfer of 
£298,000 from the revaluation reserve, the cumulative deficit on the Income 
and Expenditure account increased by £4,089,000 from £9,262,000 deficit to 
£13,351,000 deficit. 
  
The cumulative deficit at the year-end comprised £174,000 for holiday pay 
accrual, £2,369,000 for voluntary agreed PFI termination loan, £3,756,000 for 
early retirement provisions, £6,904,000 for defined benefit pension obligations 
and £148,000 for trading activities (see Note 16). 
 
The college is reporting net total liabilities of £7,508,000 in its balance sheet 
which is due to the reclassification of deferred Government Grant as deferred 
income within creditors and allocated between creditors due within one year 
and due after more than one year as appropriate. 
 
Key Changes 2018-19 
 
On 5 July 2019, the Scottish Funding Council issued its accounts direction for 
Scotland’s colleges for the 2018-19 year, along with supporting guidance. 
There have been no significant changes in the accounting requirements for 
2018-19, however there are a number of additional disclosure changes.  
 
Changes include: 
 
•  inclusion of a description of the estates management strategies as part of 

the statement of the purpose and activities of the college in the 
Performance Report; 
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•  additional guidance for the disclosure of the adjusted operating position to 

ensure consistency across the sector; 
 
•  instruction to submit the adjusted operating position calculation to SFC 

along with the draft accounts so this can be reviewed (the adjusted 
operating position has been shared with the Scottish Funding Council and 
the college has received confirmation that the figures presented comply 
with the guidance set out in the accounts direction); 

 
•  Trade Union facility time disclosures are to be made in reference to the 

year ended 31 March 2019, rather than to 31 July 2019; 
 
•  the Accountability Report is no longer required to be signed by the Chair of 

the Board; 
 
•  the tables in the staff costs note relating to the remuneration of the 

Principal and information on the higher paid staff should be cross-referred 
to the remuneration and staff report. Alternatively, the tables could be 
included in the remuneration and staff report and cross-referenced to the 
staff costs note;  

 
and 
 
•  the costs of harmonisation of National Bargaining support staff and middle 

management should be accounted for based on Colleges Scotland’s 
February 2019 costings. 

 
Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP) 2019-20 
 
A new SORP, which takes into accounts the FRS 102 updates following the 
Triennial Review, comes into effect for accounting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2019, so will impact the colleges’ 2019-20 accounts. 
 
Action 
 
The Board of Governors is asked to approve the annual financial statements 
for the year ended 31 July 2019. 
 
 
Jennifer McLaren 
Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Support 
10 December 2019 
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The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue on 10 December 2019 
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PERFORMANCE REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 July 2019 
 
Purpose 
 
The Performance analysis provides a detailed performance summary and analysis of how West 
Lothian College measures its performance. 

 
Principal and Chief Executive’s Statement 
 
I joined West Lothian College as Principal in August 2018. The former Principal had been in post 
for over ten years and my arrival was a big change for the college. I am very grateful for how 
positively staff, students and stakeholders have embraced this change.  
 
My early impression was that staff love working at the college and believe they make a 
difference. It was also clear that they were open to change that led to improvement in the college 
experience for students and staff. My first priority therefore was to engage widely with staff, 
students, employers and other stakeholders to understand what was working well in the college 
and what could be better.  
 
The main areas of challenge identified were the mental health and wellbeing of students, the 
need to modernise curriculum content and resources, the necessity of reconfiguring the college 
estate to make it fit for purpose, and an urgent requirement to upgrade IT and WiFi. These areas 
were reflected in the college’s enhancement plan for 2018-21 and very good progress was made 
in 2018-19, despite a challenging financial climate. 
 
Responding to Employers and Stakeholders 
 
To ensure that our curriculum is relevant to all the stakeholders we serve, there was 
considerable effort in 2018-19 to engage further with employers, industry bodies, West Lothian 
Council, schools, and third sector organisations. This was very productive. 

 
The college has a well-established partnership with West Lothian Council’s Education Services 
team, and our schools and ambitious Foundation Apprenticeship programmes are agreed in 
partnership with the council. In recent months, senior college and council managers have been 
working towards an even more proactive approach to shared curriculum planning for the senior 
phase.  

 
An extensive programme of engagement with employers in the past year, and a renewed 
commitment and vigour from all curriculum areas to this, enhanced the learning experience of 
our students, and improved the content, delivery and relevance of our provision. Industry forums 
were established in the curriculum areas of early years and business, and employers have 
enthusiastically and generously engaged in these forums to influence the content and delivery of 
our courses. This model will be replicated in all curriculum areas. 

 
Over the year the college developed very productive partnerships with employers across the 
region and in all sectors. Through early engagement with the Winchburgh Developments project 
there were a range of concrete outcomes in 2018-19 working with companies like I & H Brown 
who are providing high quality work placements for our students.   

 
The college adopted a range of innovative approaches to teaching and learning, responding to 
industry demand, regional need and government priorities. We were one of two colleges in 
Scotland to receive funding from the Scottish Funding Council’s Men in Early Years Challenge 
Fund, through which we created a forest classroom on campus to embed outdoor learning in our 
childhood practice curriculum and support our drive to encourage boys and men into careers in 
early years.  
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In partnership with Morrison Construction we introduced a new pre-apprenticeship Carpentry 
and Joinery course which is being sponsored by the company who are providing resources and 
a wide range of industry opportunities for students within their supply chain. We introduced cyber 
security into our computing curriculum, initially as a part time course in 2018-19. Acting on 
growing demand in this critical area, we invested in a leading edge cyber security lab to pave the 
way for the introduction of full time courses in August 2019.  
 
Student Voice 
 
It was a joy to work closely with our Student President and Vice President throughout the year, 
and they had a major influence on management decisions related to the student experience. We 
have an excellent Student Association with a very clear set of priorities: 
 
 • Support students’ wellbeing and remove barriers to learning  
 • Engage proactively and extensively across the college using their self-evaluation tool, 

SPARKLE, to improve our students’ learning experiences and outcomes, and 
 • Promote equality, diversity and inclusion.  

 
The significant progress they made on these priorities was recognised in March 2019 when NUS 
Scotland named them College Student Association of the Year. Their excellent partnership 
working with staff led to the college achieving the LGBT Charter Award (Silver status) in June 
2019. 
 
Becoming an ACEs-aware and Trauma Informed College 
 
Feedback from our staff and Student Association showed that an increasing number of students 
faced challenges that were acting as a barrier to learning. While these challenges varied, it was 
clear that many related to experiences of trauma in their lives and this was having a negative 
impact on their ability to stay on their college courses.   
 
I included a pledge in our 2019-22 Outcome Agreement that we would be an ACEs-aware 
(adverse childhood experiences) trauma informed college, and that we would put in place 
support for students and staff impacted by adverse experiences. We joined the West Lothian 
ACEs Hub, which is now hosted by the college, and offered staff development on awareness of 
ACEs. We had the advantage of drawing on the experience of our team who designed and 
deliver ACEs awareness training to all children’s panel members across Scotland.  
 
I am very proud that teaching and support staff, managers and Student Association officers have 
passionately embraced this pledge, and we saw some wonderful outcomes from this approach in 
2018-19.  
 
My first year as Principal of West Lothian College has been immensely rewarding. I am looking 
forward to our students, staff, partners and stakeholders reaping the benefits of our ongoing 
improvement agenda in the years ahead.  

 
Vision and Purpose 

 
West Lothian College is a free standing corporate body under the provisions of the Further and 
Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 as amended by the Further & Higher Education (Scotland) 
Act 2005 and subsequently the Post-16 Education (Scotland) Act 2013.  
 
The college is governed by a Board of Governors and receives the majority of its funding directly 
from the Scottish Funding Council (SFC). The college is listed on the Scottish Charity Register 
and is entitled, in accordance with section 13(1) of the Charities and Trustee Investment 
(Scotland) Act 2005, to refer to itself as a charity registered in Scotland (SC021216). 
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Vision 
 
West Lothian College’s vision is to develop a highly skilled and enterprising workforce. The 
values that underpin that vision and everything the college does were refreshed during 2018-19. 
The values are:  
 
• Welcoming to all 
• Students are at the centre of everything we do 
• Always striving for better.  
 
Our Investors in People assessment in May 2019 demonstrated that these values are well 
embedded across the college.   

 
Purpose 
 
The college has one campus in Livingston and serves the people, communities and economy of 
West Lothian (and beyond). In the ten years to 2018, the population of West Lothian increased 
by 18.9% (the second highest percentage increase of all council areas in Scotland) and its 
current population of approximately 182,000 is projected to increase to 191,979 by 2035 (at 
more than double the rate for Scotland).  
 
The college provides a wide range of further and higher education courses to meet government 
priorities on Developing the Young Workforce, the 15-24 Learner Journey, the STEM Education 
and Training Strategy, and widening access to higher education. 
 
West Lothian College plays a critical role in achieving community planning partnership priorities, 
for example to address the skills needs of employers and enable people to be better educated 
with access to quality learning and job opportunities.  
 
Key Issues and Risks  

 
The college’s risk management framework includes: 

 
• A risk management policy 
• A risk tolerance matrix based on an exercise carried out by the Board and overseen by the 

college’s internal auditors 
• A Strategic Risk Register with a member of the senior team assigned as risk owner to each 

of the strategic risks and 
• Operational risk registers for each area of the business and managed by the relevant 

member of the college management team. 
 

The Audit Committee undertook a review of the strategic risks during 2018-19 and agreed eight 
key risks for the college.  The risks which carried the highest risk rating were: 
 
• Unable to invest fully in the estate due to reduced SFC capital funding and investment 

funds; 
• External funding pressures adversely impacting on future college sustainability and the 

delivery of the curriculum; and 
• Failing to provide a safe and fit for purpose IT infrastructure. 

 
Actions taken to mitigate against these risks included a programme of investment in the campus 
from a successful commercial performance, setting a balanced budget for the year with an 
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investment fund which was monitored on a monthly basis and improving the security of the 
network through funding obtained from the Scottish Funding Council. 
 
Going Concern 

 
The Board of Governors has considered the college’s forecasts and financial projections and 
considers that the college has adequate resources to meet its ongoing liabilities and continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, it continues to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the financial statements.  
 
Although the college has net liabilities, this is due to the change of treatment of deferred 
Government Grant (capital) which is now recognised as deferred income within creditors and 
allocated between creditors due within one year and due after more than one year as 
appropriate.   
 
Performance Summary 
 
In 2018-19 the college delivered it highest ever number of credits - 45,440 against a target of 
44,982 - and continued to exceed its credit target which comprised 43,646 core credits, 786 ESF 
credits and an additional 550 non-consolidated credits reallocated by SFC during the year. 
Demonstrating an increasing demand for courses, the college achieved its highest ever number 
of student enrolments which, at 8,988, was up over 800 on the previous year. An increasing 
proportion of full time students (90%) lived in West Lothian, and half of the college’s part time 
students lived outside West Lothian. 
 
While there was steady demand for full time courses, there was a decline in enrolments for full 
time FE qualifications. Demand for full time HE courses remained stable and the college 
experienced significantly rising demand for part time courses, particularly for work-based 
qualifications. 
 
The college was the top destination for school leavers in West Lothian. Three quarters of school 
leavers who moved onto college chose West Lothian College. However, school leavers 
represented a quarter of full time students in 2018-19. The majority of full time students were not 
school leavers, indeed a third were over the age of 25. Taking part time students into account, 
60% of all students were aged 25 or over. 
 
The college increased its work-based provision over the year and delivered over 900 SVQs to 
employees in 170 companies. Continued growth in apprenticeship delivery resulted in nearly 300 
modern apprentices in training, including 145 new starts. The college fulfilled its Flexible 
Workforce Development Fund commitment with 1,205 employees in 26 companies taking part in 
127 courses. Continuing its commitment to the Developing the Young Workforce agenda, the 
college delivered training for 171 foundation apprentices from schools across West Lothian, 
including 95 new starts.  
 
In 2018-19 the college secured a further three-year commercial contract with Children’s 
Hearings Scotland to train 2,215 panel members throughout Scotland. 
 
The college continued to offer international learning opportunities to student and 123 students 
and 34 staff took part in eighteen Erasmus visits to ten countries over the year. 
 
The statement of comprehensive income shows a deficit for the year of £4,386,000. However, 
after adjusting for non-cash items such as depreciation and pension adjustments, the college 
achieved an adjusted operating surplus of £141,000. 
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Performance Analysis 
 
Key Performance Indicators  
 
The college’s management and control ensure financial stability is sound, and there are clear 
management structures and reporting arrangements in place with performance indicators and 
risk management processes to support delivery of outcomes.   

 
To monitor progress against its Outcome Agreement, the college focuses on a range of key 
performance indicators which are reviewed by managers and the Board of Governors on a 
regular basis. Financial sustainability, achieving the credit target, and retention and attainment 
were identified as key strategic risks in the college’s 2018-19 strategic risk register.   

 
Tables 1, 2 and 3 summarise performance in academic years 2016-17, 2017-18 and 2018-19. 

 
Table 1 Credit Activity 

 
 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 
Credits delivered 44,085 45,326 45,440 

 
In 2018-19 the college improved student outcomes for full and part time qualifications at both FE 
and HE level. 
 
Table 2 Student Success 
 

 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 
FE Full Time    

Withdrawals 26.4% 24.7% 24.4% 
Partial success 11.7% 9.8% 7.9% 
Completed success 61.9% 65.5% 67.8% 

HE Full Time    
Withdrawals 16.2% 17.3% 17.7% 
Partial success 11.3% 12.9% 11.7% 
Completed success 72.5% 69.8% 70.5% 

FE Part Time    
Withdrawals 8.9% 7.8% 6.5% 
Partial success 13.4% 13.5% 8.6% 
Completed success 77.7% 78.7% 85.0% 

HE Part Time    
Withdrawals 9.3% 10.6% 9.2% 
Partial success 16.1% 10.9% 6.0% 
Completed success 74.6% 78.5% 84.6% 

 
  



 West Lothian College  
_______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Accounts 2019 Page 10   

Table 3 details actual financial performance in Financial Periods 2016-17, 2017-18 and 2018-19. 
 
Table 3 Financial Performance  
 

 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 
Deficit for the year as a percentage of total income  (1.7%)* (5.3%) (7.1%) 
Deficit for the year as a percentage of total 
expenditure 

(1.6%)* (5.3%) (6.6%) 

Staff costs as a percentage of total income (excludes 
exceptional costs) 

65%* 67% 71% 

Ratio of Current Assets to Current Liabilities (0.7) (0.7) (0.7) 
Days Cash to Total Expenditure 35* 15 14 
Debtor Days 30 30 30 

 
*Excludes £1.9m deferred capital grant release as a result of an impairment loss following interim 
revaluation of assets 
 

Annual Performance Review  
 
Following significant engagement with staff in the early part of 2018-19, and in response to 
feedback from the first Student Association evaluation through SPARKLE, the following areas 
were identified as priorities for the year: 

 
 • Mental health and wellbeing of students 
 • Modernise courses, resources and workshop facilities  
 • Reconfigure campus buildings 
 • Invest more in IT and WiFi. 

 
Examples of some of the action taken during the year are listed below. 
 
Mental health and wellbeing 

 
 • Introduced free soup and a roll for all students to ensure learning was not impacted by 

hunger 
 • Delivered Mental Health First Aid training to staff and Student Association representatives 
 • Focused the February staff development week on adverse childhood experiences, care 

experience, and mental health and wellbeing 
 • Launched the Healthy Environment, Active Life action plan to create a supportive working 

and learning environment in which people thrive mentally, physically and emotionally. 
 
Modernise courses, resources and workshop facilities 
 
 • Invested £50,000 in a state of the art Cyber Lab to support the introduction of three cohorts 

of HNC Cyber Security  
 • Invested £60,000 in industry standard gym equipment 
 • Bought a hybrid vehicle and safety testing system to support the modernisation of our 

automotive engineering courses 
 • Purchased new and replacement equipment for the training kitchen 
 • Upgraded all computers in computing and engineering classrooms, and installed new 

Macs in the creative classrooms 
 • Created a forest classroom in the woodland on campus to support the integration of 

outdoor learning into our childhood practice curriculum. 
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Reviewing the college’s curriculum is a strategic goal set out in its 2019-22 Outcome Agreement 
and a priority theme for improvement in the 2018-21 Enhancement Plan. The aim is to have a 
modern curriculum that is responsive to the skills needs of the regional economy and helps to 
achieve the college’s vision of developing a highly skilled and enterprising workforce. This review 
started in 2018-19 and comprises a number of parallel themes: 
 
 • Engaging with stakeholders to ensure that our curriculum offer is relevant to their current 

and future needs 
 • Modernising our course portfolio to take account of developments in different sectors  
 • Enhancing our underpinning curriculum model 
 • Increasing progression opportunities to apprenticeships, university and employment 
 • Improving the quality of learning and teaching. 

 
The college had not been able to invest in a reconfiguration of the estate or IT infrastructure for 
several years due to funding constraints. However, in response to feedback from staff and students 
in 2018, a reconfiguration of some areas took place to address urgent accommodation needs. The 
college also updated specialist curriculum equipment and modernised some of the digital 
infrastructure. In addition and, supported in part with strategic funding from SFC, the college 
improved the security of the network and invested in its IT infrastructure. Support was also received 
from SFC to correct a defect in the sports hall. While considerable progress was made, significant 
investment is required to modernise campus facilities, curriculum resources and the IT 
infrastructure.  
 
• Reconfigure campus buildings 

 
 − Completely reconfigured the top floor of the main campus building to locate all student 

services in a one-stop area and provide more confidential space for individual support 
for students  

 − Relocated the Student Association to a more accessible location  
 − Created three new classrooms, implemented a technology-based collaboration 

classroom, and simulated hospital ward  
 − Located all support staff teams (except HR) in an open space area to encourage 

collaborative working.  
 

• Invest more in IT and WiFi 
 

 − Recruited an additional technician and acted on recommendations in an external report 
commissioned following the malware attack in 2017-18 

 − Secured strategic funding from the Scottish Funding Council to improve the robustness 
and security of the college network, including WiFi, and worked with IT specialists at 
Napier University to implement this 

 − Invested in new kit including hundreds of desktop computers, laptops, and new 
interactive smart boards 

 − Introduced email accounts and mobile access to attendance reports and progress on 
units for students 

 − Introduced online enrolment and improved the process for producing matriculation 
cards. 

  
Progress was made on implementing the aims of the People Strategy, which was approved by 
the Board of Governors in June 2018. In June 2019 the college was awarded Investors in People 
Silver status, an improvement on its previous Bronze accreditation, and is making good progress 
against all indicators to achieve its aim for the next assessment to achieve at least Gold status. 
A staff survey in March 2019 confirmed how much staff enjoyed working at the college and the 
reasons for this. It also demonstrated that there was still work to do to ensure a positive 
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experience of working at the college and all managers are progressing actions to address these. 
One outcome was the establishment of a Staff Experience Group to improve the staff experience 
of working at the college. Progress made in 2018-19 was reflected in the college achieving the 
Healthy Working Lives Award. 
 
Financial Review  
 
Nature, Objectives and Strategies  
 
The Board presents its report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 July 
2019.  The Board of Governors has approved these accounts on the basis the college is a going 
concern.  The audited financial statements have been prepared under the historic cost 
convention in line with the principles and guidance set out in the Statement of Recommended 
Practice, Accounting for Further and Higher Education and with the Government Financial 
Reporting Manual (FReM). 
 
Scope of the Financial Statements 
 
The Financial Statements cover all activities of the college. 
 
Financial Position  

 
Financial Results for the year ended 31 July 2019 
 
The college generated a deficit before other gains and losses in the year of £1,350,000 (2018 - 
deficit of £939,000), with total comprehensive income deficit of £4,386,000 (2018 – surplus of 
£1,712,000).  The total comprehensive income in 2019 recorded an actuarial loss in respect of 
pension funds of £3,036,000 (2018 – gain of £2,651,000).  After transfer of £298,000 from the 
revaluation reserve, the cumulative deficit on the Income and Expenditure account increased by 
£4,089,000 from £9,262,000 deficit to £13,351,000 deficit. 
  
The cumulative deficit at the year-end comprised £174,000 for holiday pay accrual, £2,369,000 
for voluntary agreed PFI termination loan, £3,756,000 for early retirement provisions, £6,904,000 
for defined benefit pension obligations and £148,000 for trading activities (see Note 16). 
 
The college is reporting net total liabilities of £7,508,000 in its balance sheet which is due to the 
reclassification of deferred Government Grant as deferred income within creditors and allocated 
between creditors due within one year and due after more than one year as appropriate. 
 
Cash Budget for Priorities  
 
Following their reclassification as central government bodies from 1 April 2014, colleges are now 
also required to comply with Central Government budgeting rules.  In addressing the impact of 
these budgeting rules, Scottish Government and SFC committed to providing the cash budget 
previously earmarked for depreciation for use on specified priorities. 
 
Colleges have now each been given a fixed cash budget for priorities which must be spent on 
agreed government priorities as outlined in the table below. Spend of the college’s cash budget 
for priorities, and impact on the operating position for the academic year, is detailed below. 
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Table of cash budget for priorities spend 
 

 Year ended 
31 July 2019  

£’000 

Year ended 
31 July 2018 

£’000 
Revenue   
- - - 
Total impact on operating position - - 
 
Capital 

  

Loan repayments 158 158 
Early retirement provision payments 
 

32 32 

Total Capital 190 190 
Total cash budget for priorities spend 190 190 

 
SFC has confirmed that a deficit resulting from the college following its guidance should be 
treated as a ‘technical’ deficit and should not be interpreted, on its own, as a challenge to the 
college’s ongoing financial sustainability. Audit Scotland accepts that a deficit arising from the 
use of cash funding originally provided for non-cash depreciation does not indicate an underlying 
financial sustainability concern. 
 
Adjusted Operating Position  
 
The Statement of Comprehensive Income (SOCI) presents the financial performance during the 
accounting period in accordance with the FE/HE SORP. The adjusted operating position is 
intended to reflect the financial performance of the college after allowing for non-cash 
adjustments and other material one-off or distorting items required by the SORP. The adjusted 
operating position is therefore designed to smooth any volatility in reported results arising from 
FRS 102 and also to recognise that some of the reported costs do not have an immediate cash 
impact on the college.  This should give a better indication of the college’s cash generative 
capacity. 
 

 Note 
 

2018-19 
£’000 

2017-18 
£’000 

Deficit before other gains and losses 
(FE/HE SORP basis) 

 (1,350) (939) 

Add: 
- Depreciation (net of deferred capital grant) 
- Pension adjustment – Net service cost (FRS 102) 
- Pension adjustment – Net interest cost 

 
  1 

  2 
  3 

 
330 

1,157 
194 

 
343 
719 
233 

Deduct: 
- CBP allocated to loan repayments 
- CBP allocated to Early Retirement Payments 
 

 
  4 
  5 
  

 
158 
32 

 

 
158 
32 
 

Adjusted operating surplus  141 166 
 
The adjusted operating surplus above does not take account of a further £166,000 of payments 
the college has made towards its Early Retirement Provision during the year (£167,000 in 2017-
18).  Taking this into account the adjusted operating result would be a deficit of £25,000 (£1,000 
in 2017-18).  
 
Note 1 Depreciation net of deferred capital grant is added back in recognition that this has a non-cash 

 budget from the Scottish Government. 
Note 2 The non-cash element of current and past service pension cost less cash contributions paid. 
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Note 3 The non-cash element of interest earned on pension assets less interest cost on pension 
 liabilities. 

Note 4 Cash Budget for Priorities is included in income but the loan repayment is not reflected in costs 
 therefore this amount is adjusted. 

Note 5 Cash payments in respect of the Early Retirement Provision included in CBP.  
 

Taxation Status 
 

The college is registered with the Office of the Scottish Charities Regulator as a Scottish Charity 
and is exempt from corporation tax and capital gains tax. The college receives no similar 
exemption in respect of Value Added Tax. 

 
Cash Flows  

 
Cash flow projections are prepared annually, broken down on a monthly basis to ensure that 
these are sufficient to meet the needs of the college.  These are reviewed monthly and reports 
are provided to the Senior Team and the Finance and General Purposes Committee.  Bank 
balances are checked on a daily basis and day-to day surplus funds are deposited overnight in a 
high interest bank account.   
 
Liquidity 

 
The college uses a number of ratios to assess the college’s liquidity. The two key ratios are 
current assets: current liabilities and days cash to total expenditure.  However as a result of ONS 
reclassification the college is only able to hold minimum cash reserves.  At the end of 2018-19 
current assets: current liabilities were (0.7) and days cash to total expenditure was 14 days 
reflecting the ONS requirement.   
 
Creditor Payment Policy  

 
The college complies with the CBI Prompt Payment Code and has a policy of paying its 
suppliers within 30 days of invoice unless the invoice is contested.  All disputes and complaints 
are handled as quickly as possible. The college did not pay any late interest payments during the 
year. 

 
The Scottish Public Finance Manual sets a Government target for the payment of invoices within 
ten working days of their receipt. While this is a difficult target for the college to achieve, it 
nevertheless strives to pay all invoices as promptly as possible. 

 
Post-Balance Sheet Events  
 
There are no post-balance sheet events. 
 
Human rights, anti-corruption and anti-bribery matters 
 
West Lothian College is committed to upholding human rights, anti-corruption and anti-bribery 
within the college and through the supply chain.  
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Environmental matters 
 

West Lothian College recognises that it has a role to play in the conservation and protection of 
the environment. The college works towards improving its own environmental and sustainable 
practices and promoting an awareness of environmental responsibilities amongst our staff and 
students. 
 
Through our Environmental and Sustainability Policy we: 
 
• comply with and exceed when possible all applicable legislation, regulations and codes of 

practice 
• ensure that all environmental risks are assessed, managed and controlled 
• integrate sustainability considerations into all our business decisions 
• minimise the impact on the environment and our sustainability of our core activities, and 
• review and continually strive to improve our sustainability and lessen our impact on the 

environment. 
 
The Carbon Management Plan 2016-20 set out a target of reducing the college’s carbon 
emissions baseline by 10% (144 tonnes co2) by 2020. The college achieved this target ahead of 
schedule. During 2018-19 the college established a sustainability group with a focus in 2019-20 
to produce a new five-year sustainability plan. 

 
Climate Change (Scotland) Act compliance 

 
The college complied with the Scottish Government sustainability reporting in line with the 
requirements of the Climate Change (Scotland) Act 2009.   
The Performance Report is approved by the Principal on 10 December 2019 
 
 
Jackie Galbraith 
Principal and Chief Executive 
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REMUNERATION AND STAFF REPORT  
 
Remuneration Policy  
 
The Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the Board of Governors on the 
service arrangements and remuneration of the Principal and determines the service 
arrangements and remuneration of the other senior post holders. 
 
Remuneration including salary and pension entitlements 
 
Salary Entitlements1 
 
The following table provides detail of the remuneration and pension interests of college senior 
management. 
 
 12 months ended 31 July 2019 12 months ended 31 July 2018 
 
Name 

Actual 
Salary 
£’000 

 

Pension 
Benefit 
£’000 

Total 
 

£’000 

Actual 
Salary 
£’000 

 

Pension 
Benefit 
£’000 

 

Total 
 

£’000 
 

Alex Linkston 20 - 25 0 20 - 25 20 - 25 0 20 - 25 

Jackie Galbraith* 100 - 105 5 - 10 105 - 110 N/A N/A N/A 

Mhairi Harrington** 0 - 5 0 0 - 5 110 - 115 0 110 - 115 

Simon Earp 65 - 70 5 - 10 70 - 75 65 - 70 5 -10 70 - 75 

George Hotchkiss***  65 - 70 5 - 10 70 - 75 65 - 70 5 -10 70 - 75 

Jennifer McLaren  65 - 70 5 - 10 70 - 75 65 - 70 5 -10 70 - 75 

 
*Jackie Galbraith joined the college on 6 August 2018 
**Mhairi Harrington left the pension scheme at the end of 2016-17 and left the college on 3 August 2018 
when her salary would have been in band 110k to 115k 
***George Hotchkiss left the college on 15 July 2019  
 
Median Remuneration 
 
Colleges are required by the FReM to disclose the relationships between the remuneration of the 
highest paid official and the median remuneration of their workforce. 
 
Based on the twelve month equivalent figures above, the banded remuneration of the highest 
paid official in the organisation in the financial year 2018-19 was £107,500 (£112,500 in 2017-
18). This was 3.5 times (3.7 times in 2017-18) the median remuneration of the workforce which 
was £30,708 (2017-18 £29,792). 
 
 
 

                                                 
1
 Note: 

 
a) The salaries in the above table represent the amount earned in the financial year 
b) The value of pension benefits is calculated as the real increase in pension multiplied by 20 plus the real increase in any 

lump sum less the contributions made by the individual.  The x20 multiplier aims to bring public bodies in line with other 
industries in disclosing an assessed cumulative pension benefit for a standard 20 year period which is the estimated life 
span following retirement. 

c) The details in this table are subject to audit 
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Accrued Pension Benefits  
 
Pension benefits for employees are provided through the Scottish Teacher’s Superannuation 
Scheme (STSS), a defined benefit scheme which is notionally funded, and the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). Both STSS and LGPS are career average salary pension 
schemes. 
 
The scheme’s normal retirement age is the scheme member’s state pension age. 
 
Contribution rates are set annually for all employees. There is no automatic entitlement to a lump 
sum. Members may opt to give up (commute) pension for lump sum up to the limit set by the 
Finance Act 2004. The accrual rate guarantees a pension based on final pensionable salary and 
years of pensionable service.  
 
Senior Officials’ Pension 
  
Pension benefits are provided to senior officials on the same basis as all other staff. The accrued 
pension benefits for senior officials are set out in the table below, together with the pension 
contributions made by the college. 
 
 
 
Name 

Accrued 
pension at 

pension age  
at 31/07/19 

£’000 

Accrued lump 
sum at pension 

age  
at 31/07/19 

£’000 

Real increase in 
pension 

01/08/18 to 
31/07/19 

£’000 

Real increase in 
lump sum 

01/08/18 to 
31/07/19 

£’000 
Jackie Galbraith - Principal* 10 0 10 0 

Mhairi Harrington - Principal* 42 128 0 0 

Simon Earp - Vice Principal 2 0 2 0 

George Hotchkiss - Vice Principal** 21 63 19 2 

Jennifer McLaren - Vice Principal 12 0 2 0 
 
*Mhairi Harrington left the college on 3 August 2018 and Jackie Galbraith joined the college on 6 August 
2018.  Mhairi Harrington left the pension scheme at the end of 2016-17. 
**George Hotchkiss left the college on 15 July 2019 
 
Cash equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) 
 
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capitalised value of the 
pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. 
 
 
Name 

CETV 
at 31/07/19 

£’000 

CETV 
at 31/07/18 

£’000 

Real increase in 
CETV 
£’000 

Jackie Galbraith - Principal* 140 N/A 140 

Mhairi Harrington - Principal* 1,000 1,000 0 

Simon Earp - Vice Principal 32 16 32 

George Hotchkiss - Vice Principal** 497 466 31 

Jennifer McLaren - Vice Principal 178 153 25 

 
*Mhairi Harrington left the college on 3 August 2018 and Jackie Galbraith joined the college on 6 August 
2018. Mhairi Harrington left the pension scheme at the end of 2016-17. 
**George Hotchkiss left the college on 15 July 2019 
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The value of the accrued pension benefits has been calculated on the basis of the age at which 
the person will first become entitled to receive a pension on retirement without reduction on 
account of its payment at that age; without exercising any option to commute pension 
entitlement into a lump sum; and without any adjustment for the effects of future inflation. The 
pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the person has accrued as a consequence of 
their total Local Government service and not just their current appointment.  
 
In considering the accrued pension benefits figures the following contextual information should 
be taken into account:  
 
(i) the figures for pension and lump sum are illustrative only in light of the assumptions set out 

above and do not necessarily reflect the actual benefits that any individual may receive 
upon retirement.  

(ii) the accrued benefits figures are reflective of the pension contributions that both the 
employer and the scheme member have made over a period of time. 

 
Real increase in CETV 
 
This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include the 
increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the 
value of any benefits transferred from another pension scheme or arrangement) and uses 
common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period. 
 
Compensation for loss of office 
 
Two employees left under voluntary exit terms during the year. They received a total 
compensation payment of £38,353.90. 
 
 2019 

£’000 
Number of 
Employees 

2018 
£’000 

Compensation payment 15-20 2 0 
 
Staff Report 
 
Salaries and Related costs 
 
 2019 

Directly 
employed staff 

£’000 

2019 
Seconded and 
agency staff 

£’000 

2019 
Total 

 
£’000 

2018 
Total 

 
£’000 

Wages and salaries 9,926 0 9,926 8,958 
Social security costs 921 0 921 848 
Other pension costs  2,739 0 2,739 2,109 
Restructuring Costs 40 0 40 7 
Total 13,626 0 13,626 11,922 
Average number of FTE 296 0 296 292 

 
The college employed 238 females (66%) and 120 (34%) males during 2018-19 (headcount). 
 
Sick Absence Data 
The total sick absence percentage as at 30 June 2019 was 4.9%. 
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Facility Time 
 
In accordance with the Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) regulations 2017, 
the college provided the following support through paid facility time for union officials working at 
the college during the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019. 
Relevant union officials 
 
Number of employees who were relevant union officials during the relevant period 7 
Full time equivalent employee number 6.4 
 
Percentage of time spend on facility time 
 
Percentage Number of employees 
0% 0 
1%-50% 7 
51%-99% 0 
100% 0 
 

Percentage of pay bill spend on facility time 
 
Total cost of facility time 10,970 
Total pay bill 13,626,000 
Percentage of the total pay bill spend on facility time 0.1% 
 
Paid trade union activities 
 
Time spend on trade union activities as a percentage of total paid facility time hours was 100%. 
 
Equal Opportunities  
 
West Lothian College published its Equality Mainstreaming Report Review in April 2019, 
providing an update on progress made to achieve our General and Public Sector equality duties. 
A range of policies ensures that staff, students and visitors are treated equitably regardless of 
colour, race, nationality, ethnic or national origin, religion or belief, disability, gender or gender 
reassignment, age and sexual orientation, pregnancy and maternity, marriage or civil 
partnership.  
 
In 2018-19, the college achieved the LGBT Charter of Rights (Silver status) certificate from 
LGBT Youth Scotland and was reaccredited as a Disability Confident employer.   
 
We value diversity and advance equality of opportunity, foster good relations and seek to 
eliminate discrimination, victimisation and harassment in all our activities.  
 
Policies and procedures, work practices and terms and conditions of employment are reviewed 
continuously and equality-impact assessed to comply with legislation and match best practice.   
 
Applications for a place are considered from all members of the community in respect only of the 
qualifications and skills necessary to meet course entry requirements.   
 
The college considers all applications for employment from all members of the community in 
respect only of the qualifications and skills necessary to fulfil the requirements of the position.  
 
Approved by the Board of Governors on 10 December 2019 and signed on its behalf by:  
 
 
 
Jackie Galbraith 
Principal and Chief Executive 
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BOARD OF GOVERNORS REPORT 
 
Board of Governors 

 
Membership of the Board of Governors 
 
The Post 16 Education (Scotland) Act 2013 requires that the board of a regional college should 
consist of no fewer than 15, nor more than 18 members.  The Board of Governor members who 
held office during the year were as follows: 
 
Alex Linkston Regional Chair  
Sue Cook  Vice Chair and non-executive member Re-appointed 01/03/19 
Jackie Galbraith Principal and Chief Executive Appointed 06/08/18 
Mhairi Harrington Principal and Chief Executive Retired 03/08/18 
Simon Ashpool Non-Executive member  
Thomas Bates Non-Executive member  
Elaine Cook Non-Executive member Appointed 02/05/19 
Frank Gribben Non-Exec /Senior Independent Member Re-appointed 01/03/19 
Lynne Hollis Non-Executive member Appointed 02/05/19 
Graham Hope Non-Executive member Term ended 31/03/19 
Richard Lockhart Non-Executive member  
Iain McIntosh Non-Executive member Re-appointed 01/03/19 
Morag McKelvie Non-Executive member Term ended 31/03/19 
Colin Miller Non-Executive member Re-appointed 01/03/19 
Moira Niven Non-Executive member  
Claire Probert Non-Executive member  
Norman Ross Non-Executive member  
Angela Bell Staff Resigned 02/03/18 
Alan Morton Staff Resigned 24/06/19 
Julia Simpson Staff Appointed 06/09/18 
Neil Sinclair Staff Appointed 25/06/19 
Michelle Low Student  
Gemma Reynolds Student  

 
Membership of the Senior Team 
 
The Senior Team is responsible for the day to day management of West Lothian College’s 
activities and operations and consists of: 
 
Jackie Galbraith Principal and Chief Executive Appointed 06/08/18 
Mhairi Harrington Principal and Chief Executive Retired 03/08/18 
George Hotchkiss Vice Principal Curriculum and Planning Resigned 15/07/19 
Simon Earp Vice Principal Curriculum and Enterprise  
Jennifer McLaren Vice Principal Finance and Curriculum  

 
Related Party Transactions 
 
Due to the nature of the college’s operations and the composition of its Board of Governors 
(being drawn from local public and private sector organisations), it is inevitable that transactions 
will take place with organisations in which a member of the college’s Board of Governors may 
have an interest, and will be recorded as such in the Minutes of the Meetings and/or the Register 
of Interest. All transactions involving organisations in which a member of the Board of Governors 
may have a material interest are conducted at arm’s length and in accordance with normal 
project and procurement procedures. The related party transactions due to/by the college for the 
year ended 31 July 2019 and the amounts outstanding at this date are disclosed in note 24. 
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Personal Data Related Incidents 
 
Section 417 of the Companies Act 2006 requires that organisations report on personal data 
related incidents.  In 2018-19, the college had no reported data incidents (2017-18: no 
incidents). 

 

 

 

Jackie Galbraith 
Principal and Chief Executive 
10 December 2019 
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Statement of the Responsibilities of the Board of Governors 
 
The Board of Governors are required to present audited financial statements for each financial 
year.            
   
In accordance with the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 as amended by the 
Further & Higher Education (Scotland) Act 2005 and subsequently by the Post-16 Education 
(Scotland) Act 2013, the Board of Governors is responsible for the administration and 
management of the college’s affairs, including ensuring an effective system of internal control, 
and is required to present audited financial statements for each financial year.   
           
The Board of Governors is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose, 
with reasonable accuracy at any time, the financial position of the college and enable it to ensure 
that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Further and Higher Education 
(Scotland) Act 1992 as amended by the Further & Higher Education (Scotland) Act 2005 and 
subsequently amended by the Post-16 Education (Scotland) Act 2013, the 2015 Statement of 
Recommended Practice - Accounting for Further and Higher Education, the Government 
Financial Reporting Manual 2017-18 (FReM) where applicable and other relevant accounting 
standards.  In addition, within the terms and conditions of a Financial Memorandum agreed 
between the Scottish Funding Council and the college’s Board of Governors, the Board of 
Governors, through its designated office holder, is required to prepare financial statements for 
each financial year which give a true and fair view of the college’s state of affairs and of the 
surplus or deficit and cash flows for that year.  
 
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Accounts Direction issued by the 
Scottish Funding Council which brings together the provisions of the Financial Memorandum 
with other formal disclosures that the Scottish Funding council require the Board of Governors to 
make in the financial statements and related notes. 
            
In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Governors is required to:   
             
• Select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;  
 
• Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;    

         
• State whether applicable Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any 

material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;  
 
• Prepare financial statements on the going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to 

presume that the college will continue in operation. The Board of Governors is satisfied 
that it has adequate resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future and for 
this reason the going concern basis continues to be adopted in the preparation of the 
financial statements.  
           

The Board of Governors has taken reasonable steps to:      
       
• Ensure that funds from the Scottish Funding Council are used only for the purposes for 

which they have been given and in accordance with the Financial Memorandum with the 
Funding Council and any other conditions which the Funding Council may from time to 
time prescribe;           
   

• Ensure that there are appropriate financial and management controls in place to safeguard 
public funds and funds from other sources;  

 
• Safeguard the assets of the college and prevent and detect fraud;   
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• Secure the economical, efficient and effective management of the college’s resources and 
expenditure.           
     

The key elements of the college’s system of internal financial control, which is designed to 
discharge the responsibilities set out above, include the following:     

         
• Clear definitions of the responsibilities of, and the authority delegated to, heads of 

academic and support departments;  
       
• A comprehensive medium and short-term planning process, supplemented by detailed 

annual income, expenditure, capital and cash flow budgets;  
    
• Regular reviews of key performance indicators and business risks and quarterly reviews of 

financial results involving variance reporting and updates of forecast outturns;  
  
• Clearly defined and formalised requirements for approval and control of expenditure, with 

investment decisions involving capital or revenue expenditure being subject to formal 
detailed appraisal and review according to approval  levels set by the Board of Governors; 

         
• Comprehensive Financial Regulations, detailing financial controls and procedures, 

approved by the Audit Committee and the Finance and General Purposes Committee;  
      
• Professional internal audit team whose annual programme is approved by the Audit 

Committee and endorsed by the Board of Governors and whose head provides the Board 
of Governors with a report on internal audit activity within the college and an opinion on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the college’s system of internal control, including internal 
financial control. 

        
Any system of internal financial control can, however, only provide reasonable, but not absolute, 
assurance against material misstatement or loss.   
 
Auditor 
 
The Auditor General for Scotland has appointed Mazars LLP to undertake the audit for the year 
ended 31 July 2019. 
           
Disclosure of Information to Auditors 
 
The Board of Governors certify that, so far as we are each aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the college’s auditors are unaware; and as members of the Board of 
Governors we have taken all the steps that we ought to have taken in order to make ourselves 
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the college’s auditors are aware of 
that information. 
 
Approved by order of the members of the Board on 10 December 2019 and signed on its behalf 
by: 
 
 
 
 
Alex Linkston 
Chair 
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GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
 
Introduction 
 
The college is committed to exhibiting best practice in all aspects of corporate governance. This 
summary is written to assist the reader of the financial statements and describes the manner in 
which the college has applied the principles of good governance set out in 2016 Code of Good 
Governance for Scotland’s Colleges and the Government’s Scottish Public Finance Manual.  
 
This governance statement is designed to supplement the information provided in the financial 
statements.  It sets out the governance structures, risk management and internal control 
processes that have been operating in West Lothian College in the year ended 31 July 2019 and 
reports the Board’s assessment of the effectiveness of these arrangements. 
 
On 6 August 2018 a new Principal was appointed, the previous Principal retired on 3 August 
2018.  In addition there were changes to the Board membership during 2018-19 (see page 20). 
 
Governance Structure 
 
The college has an effective Board and Committee structure in place.   All of the Committees are 
formally constituted with terms of reference.   
 

 
 
The Full Board meets four times a year.  In addition it holds an annual strategic meeting which is 
dedicated to discussing the college’s strategic development.  During 2018-19 the Board held a 
strategic planning workshop to inform the college’s draft 10-year strategic plan which will be 
finalised during 2019-20.  
 
Additionally the Learner Attainment Sub-Group continued to meet throughout 2018-19.  This 
Group was established during 2017-18 to examine how to improve attainment and retention 
rates to optimise student success.  This Group comprises of Board members and reports to the 
Learning and Teaching Committee. 
 
Board of Governor Committees 
 
The Audit Committee meets four times a year, with the college’s external and internal auditors in 
attendance where required.  The Committee considers detailed reports together with 
recommendations for the improvement of the college’s systems of internal control and 
management’s responses and implementation plans.  It also receives and considers reports from 
the Scottish Funding Council as they affect the college’s business and monitors adherence to 
the regulatory requirements.  Whilst the Principal attends meetings of the Audit Committee as 
necessary, she is not a member of the Committee.  
 
The Finance and General Purposes Committee (F&GP) inter alia recommends to the Board the 
college’s annual revenue and capital budgets and normally meets four times a year.  
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The Learning and Teaching Committee meets four times a year, and focuses on the quality of 
the student experience.    
 
The Remuneration Committee determines the remuneration of the most senior staff, including 
the Principal and meets as required, normally once a year.  
 
The Nominations Committee considers candidates to fill vacancies on the Board and meets as 
required, normally at least once per year.    The Nominations Committee is responsible for 
selecting candidates for appointment by the Board of Governors to vacancies in its membership.  
The Committee may use a number of selection methods, including external advertising, personal 
contact, the encouragement of nominations and the use of a search committee.  The Committee 
considers the balance of membership, including members’ experience and skills and identifies 
any gaps.  The Committee also tries to ensure that the membership of the Board reflects its 
community.  The Committee makes its recommendations to the Board for consideration and 
approval for appointment. 
 
Board of Governors Membership 
 
The college’s Board of Governors comprises lay members, students and employees appointed 
under the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992, as amended by the Further & 
Higher Education (Scotland) Act 2005 and subsequently by the Post-16 Education (Scotland) 
Act 2013.  The majority of Board members are non-executive.  The roles of Chairman and Vice-
Chairman of the Board of Governors are separated from the role of the college’s Principal.  
During 2018-19 the college improved its gender balance for the non-executive positions from 9 
males/4 females to 8 males/5 females.  
 
The matters specifically reserved to the Board for decision are set out in the college’s Standing 
Orders, by custom and under the Financial Memorandum with the Scottish Funding Council. The 
Board acknowledges the responsibility for the ongoing strategic direction of the college, approval 
of major developments and the receipt of regular reports from the Principal on the day to day 
operations of its business. 
 
Board Effectiveness 
 
The Board, and its sub-committees, participate in annual self-evaluation reviews of its 
performance.  This is facilitated by the Secretary to the Board using a self-evaluation 
questionnaire with all questions being discussed by the Board or Committee as a group and their 
consensus view recorded.  Any actions for improvement are noted and followed up at 
subsequent meetings of the Board or Committees.  The evaluation of the effectiveness of 
individual members is considered informally by the Chair of the Board or relevant Committee, 
and if concerns are noted they follow these up with the member directly.   
 
Progress on 2017-18 actions 
 
• The Learner Attainment Sub Group continued to ensure that learning and teaching issues 

were given appropriate scrutiny. 
• The Principal’s Fortnightly Update now contains a ‘Board News’ section to share Board 

information with the wider college. 
• Two ‘Deep Dive’ session (SQA Results and Applications) allowed a thorough scrutiny of 

strategic areas. 
• A recruitment Open Evening in January 2019 shared with ‘Changing the Chemistry’ took 

place to strengthen diversity for board recruitment. 
• Financial Statements training was delivered by Mazars in September 2018. 
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Actions for improvement from the 2018-19 self-evaluation reviews were: 
 
• The Finance & General Purposes Committee identified a lack of Human Resource 

expertise in their membership which will be addressed at the next recruitment round 
(December 2019) 

• All Committees encouraged members to attend another Committee meeting to develop 
their understanding of the college’s business. 

• A joint meeting of the Audit and Finance & General Purposes Committee to discuss the 
accounts will be considered  

• The Board are looking to examine ways in which they could develop appropriate 
Stakeholder engagement 

• The college strategic plan is being developed and the Board will need to ensure close 
alignment with the Outcome Agreement 

 
An independent review of Board effectiveness is due to be undertaken in 2019-20. 
 
Attendance 
 
The attendance of members at Board meetings during the year was as follows: 
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Number of 
Meetings 

   4 4 4 5 2 

Alex Linkston 
 

Regional 
Chair 

27/06/16  4  2  2 

Sue Cook  
 

Non-Exec 
/Vice Chair 

01/03/19  4 3  5 2 

Simon Ashpool Non-Exec 01/07/16  4 4    
Thomas Bates Non-Exec 01/08/17  3   4  
Elaine Cook Non-Exec 02/05/19  1   1  
Jackie Galbraith Principal 06/08/18  4  4 5  
Frank Gribben 
 

Non-Exec 
/Senior 

Independent 
Member 

01/03/19  4  3   

Mhairi Harrington Principal 01/03/15 03/08/18 0     
Lynne Hollis Non-Exec 02/05/19  0     
Graham Hope Non-Exec 01/04/15 31/03/19 2 3   2 
Richard Lockhart Non-Exec 01/07/16  3  4   
Iain McIntosh Non-Exec 01/03/19  4   3  
Morag McKelvie Non-Exec 01/04/15 31/03/19 3  1  0 
Colin Miller Non-Exec 01/03/19  3 4    
Moira Niven Non-Exec 01/12/16  4  4   
Claire Probert Non-Exec 01/08/17  2  4   
Norman Ross Non-Exec 01/12/15  3 4    
Angela Bell Staff 01/03/15 02/03/18 0     
Julia Simpson Staff 06/09/18  3  3   
Alan Morton Staff 01/07/15 24/06/19 4   5  
Neil Sinclair Staff 25/06/19  0     
Michelle Low Student 01/06/18  3   5  
Gemma Reynolds Student 01/06/18  4   4  
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Estates Strategy  
 
The college estates strategy is evidence-based and allows the college to continue with its 
programme of aligning its estate to the emerging needs of learners and curriculum delivery 
requirements. The strategy allows for replacement of windows and window frames and boilers 
as well as implementing the agreed programme of lifecycle maintenance so that the fabric of the 
college buildings remain of a high standard.  
 
Risk Management 
 
The college maintains a Strategic Risk Register.  Each strategic risk is assigned an owner from 
the Senior Team.  All support areas and curriculum centres maintain an operational risk register 
which is updated quarterly. The operational risk register updates feed into the quarterly Strategic 
Risk Register updates to the Audit Committee.  The Performance Report details key strategic 
risks identified during 2018-19 and the mitigating actions. 
 
The most significant risks during 2018-19 were 
 
• Unable to invest in the estate due to reduced funding; 
• External funding pressures adversely impacting on college sustainability; and 
• Failing to provide a safe and fit for purpose IT infrastructure.  
 
The Audit Committee advises the Board of Governors on the strategic risk process.  The 
Committee reviews the risk management framework, strategic risks and considers 
management’s review of operational risks.  This review has included considering whether risks 
are appropriately ranked based on likelihood and impact and considering whether mitigating 
controls highlighted as being in place are adequate 
 
Reports by management have been received and reviewed by the Board and Board Committees 
which have provided information as to how risks are being managed and what internal controls 
are in place.   
 
Internal Audit 
 
West Lothian College also has an internal audit service, the work of which concentrates on areas 
of key activities determined in accordance with the annual internal audit plan approved by the 
Board of Governors. The internal auditors report to the Audit Committee, and have direct access 
to the chairman of the Audit Committee if required.  The internal auditors issue an annual report 
that gives an opinion of the adequacy, reliability and effectiveness of the College’s internal 
control system. 
 
Internal audit reports have been received on a range of areas within the college during 2018-
19.  In the internal auditor’s opinion, the college has a framework of internal controls in place that 
provides reasonable assurance regarding the organisation’s governance, risk management, 
achievement of objectives and value for money for the year ended 31 July 2019. 
 
Internal Control 
 
The college’s Board of Governors is responsible for the college’s system of internal control and 
for reviewing its effectiveness.  The review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control 
is conducted through the work of the Board of Governors, the Finance and General Purposes 
Committee and the Audit Committee.  The system can provide only reasonable and not absolute 
assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions authorised and properly recorded, and that 
material errors or irregularities are either prevented or would be detected within a timely period.   
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The college has a range of internal financial controls which include:   
 
• a budgeting system with an annual budget which is approved by the Board of Governors; 
• the provision of management information on a planned, regular basis and as required; 
• regular reviews by the Finance and General Purposes Committee of monthly and annual 

financial reports and key performance indicators which indicate financial performance 
against the forecasts; and 

• financial regulations, which identify policy and set up a control system within which 
management can delegate authority whilst informing staff of correct financial procedures. 

 
Assessment of the effectiveness of internal controls 
 
The Board of Governor’s is of the opinion that throughout the year ended 31 July 2019, the 
college has been in compliance with all the principles set out in the 2016 Code of Good 
Governance for Scotland’s Colleges and the Government’s Scottish Public Finance Manual.  
 
The Board of Governors is of the view that there is a process for identifying, evaluating and 
managing the college’s significant risks, that it has been in place for the year ended 31 July 2019 
and up to the date of approval of the annual report and financial statements, that it is regularly 
reviewed by the Board of Governors and that it accords with the 2016 Code of Good 
Governance for Scotland’s Colleges and the Government’s Scottish Public Finance Manual. 
 
External auditors have reviewed the key financial controls to the extent required, to ensure the 
college’s financial statements are not materially misstated.  The external auditors have not 
identified any weaknesses in key controls and the wider scope work has identified appropriate 
Governance procedures and management has adequate arrangements in place covering 
standards of conduct.  
 
Going Concern 
 
The Board of Governors has considered the college’s forecasts and financial projections and 
considers that the college has adequate resources to meet its ongoing liabilities and continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, it continues to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the financial statements.  
 
Although the college has net liabilities, this is due to the change of treatment of deferred 
Government Grant (capital) which is now recognised as deferred income within creditors and 
allocated between creditors due within one year and due after more than one year as 
appropriate.   
 
Conclusion 
 
In conclusion, it is the opinion of the Board of Governors that the college complies with all the 
provisions of the 2016 Code of Good Governance for Scotland’s Colleges and the Scottish 
Public Finance Manual and it has complied throughout the year to 31 July 2019. 
 
 
Approved by order of the members of the Board on 10 December 2019 and signed on its behalf 
by: 
 
 
 
Alex Linkston 

 
Jackie Galbraith 

Chair Principal and Chief Executive 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF 
GOVERNORS OF WEST LOTHIAN COLLEGE, THE AUDITOR GENERAL FOR 
SCOTLAND AND THE SCOTTISH PARLIAMENT  
 
Report on the audit of the financial statements  
 
Opinion on financial statements 
  
We have audited the financial statements in the annual report and accounts of West Lothian 
College for the year ended 31 July 2019 under the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 
1992 and section 44(1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005. The 
financial statements comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes 
in Reserves, Balance Sheet, Statement of Cash Flows, Statement of Accounting Policies and 
notes to the financial statements. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in 
their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including 
Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).  
 
In our opinion the accompanying financial statements:  
 
• give a true and fair view in accordance with the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 

1992 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish Funding Council of the state of the 
college's affairs as at 31 July 2019 and of its deficit for the year then ended;  

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice; and  

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Further and Higher 
Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish Funding 
Council, the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, and regulation 14 of The 
Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended).  

 
Basis of opinion  
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on 
Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)), as required by the Code of Audit Practice  approved by the Auditor 
General for Scotland. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We were 
appointed by the Auditor General on 31 May 2016. The period of total uninterrupted appointment 
is five years. We are independent of the college in accordance with the ethical requirements that 
are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK including the Financial Reporting 
Council’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. Non-audit services prohibited by the Ethical Standard were not 
provided to the board. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Conclusions relating to going concern  
 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) 
require us to report to you where:  
 
• the use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial 

statements is not appropriate; or  
• the college has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties 

that may cast significant doubt about its ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis 
of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue.  

https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/report/code-of-audit-practice-2016
https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/report/code-of-audit-practice-2016


 West Lothian College  
_______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Accounts 2019 Page 30   

 
Risks of material misstatement  
 
We have reported in a separate Annual Audit Report, which is available from the Audit Scotland 
website, the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement that we identified and our 
conclusions thereon. 
 
Responsibilities of the Board of Governors for the financial statements 
 
As explained more fully in the Statement of the Responsibilities of the Board of Governors, the 
Board of Governors is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with the financial reporting framework, and for such internal control as 
the Board of Governors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Governors is responsible for assessing the 
college's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless deemed inappropriate.  
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements  
 
Our objectives are to achieve reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  
 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control. The capability of the audit to detect fraud and other irregularities 
depends on factors such as the skilfulness of the perpetrator, the frequency and extent of 
manipulation, the degree of collusion involved, the relative size of individual amounts 
manipulated, and the seniority of those individuals involved. We therefore design and perform 
audit procedures which respond to the assessed risks of material misstatement due to fraud. 
 
A further description of the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is 
located on the Financial Reporting Council's website www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. 
This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 
 
Other information in the annual report and accounts  
 
The Board of Governors is responsible for the other information in the annual report and 
accounts. The other information comprises the information other than the financial statements, 
the audited part of the Remuneration and Staff Report, and our independent auditor’s report. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon except on matters prescribed by the Auditor General 
for Scotland to the extent explicitly stated later in this report.  
  
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read all the other 
information in the annual report and accounts and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there 
is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other 

https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/our-work/annual-audits
https://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/our-work/annual-audits
http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard. 
 
Report on regularity of expenditure and income  
 
Opinion on regularity  
 
In our opinion in all material respects the expenditure and income in the financial statements 
were incurred or applied in accordance with any applicable enactments and guidance issued by 
the Scottish Ministers.  
 
 Responsibilities for regularity  
 
The Board of Governors is responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income. 
We are responsible for expressing an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in 
accordance with the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000. 
 
Report on other requirements  
 
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Auditor General for Scotland  
 
In our opinion, the audited part of the Remuneration and Staff Report has been properly 
prepared in accordance with the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and 
directions made thereunder by the Scottish Funding Council.  
 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit  
 
• the information given in the Performance Report for the financial year for which the financial 

statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and that report has been 
prepared in accordance with the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and 
directions made thereunder by the Scottish Funding Council; and 

• the information given in the Governance Statement for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and that report 
has been prepared in accordance with the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 
1992 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish Funding Council.  
 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception  
 
We are required by The Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 to report to you if, in 
our opinion:  

 
•  adequate accounting records have not been kept; or  
•  the financial statements and the audited part of the Remuneration and Staff Report are not 

in agreement with the accounting records; or  
•  we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.  
 
We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.  
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Conclusions on wider scope responsibilities  
 
In addition to our responsibilities for the annual report and accounts, our conclusions on the 
wider scope responsibilities specified in the Code of Audit Practice are set out in our Annual 
Audit Report.  
 
Use of our report  
 
This report is made solely to the parties to whom it is addressed in accordance with the Public 
Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and for no other purpose. In accordance with 
paragraph 120 of the Code of Audit Practice, we do not undertake to have responsibilities to 
members or officers, in their individual capacities, or to third parties. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Lucy Nutley 
For and on behalf of Mazars LLP 
Apex 2 
97 Haymarket Terrace 
Edinburgh 
EH12 5HA 
 
Date:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Lucy Nutley is eligible to act as an auditor in terms of section 21 of the Public Finance and 
Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME      
 
 Notes Year  

Ended 
31 July 2019 

£’000 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2018 
£’000 

Income 
SFC grants 
Tuition fees and education contracts 
Other income 
Investment income 
 

 
2 
3 
4 
5 
 

 
13,723 
3,392 
1,891 

1 

  
12,647 
3,140 
2,049 

1 

Total Income  19,007  17,837 
     
Expenditure 
Staff Costs 
Other operating expenses 
Depreciation 
Interest payable 
 

 
6 
7 
10 
8 
 

 
13,626 
5,750 

787 
194 

  
11,922 
5,821 

800 
233 

Total Expenditure  20,357  18,776 
     
Deficit before tax 
 

 (1,350)  (939) 

Taxation 
 

9 -  - 

Deficit for the year  (1,350)  (939) 
     
Actuarial (loss)/gain in respect of pension 
schemes 

 (3,036)  2,651 

 
Total comprehensive income for the year 

  
(4,386) 

  
1,712 

 
Represented by: 

    

Restricted comprehensive income 
Unrestricted comprehensive income 

 - 
(4,386) 

 - 
1,712 

   
(4,386) 

  
1,712 

 
The Statement of Comprehensive Income is prepared under the FE/HE SORP. The SORP does 
not permit colleges to reflect the non-cash budget for depreciation in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.  Note 28 provides details of the adjusted operating position on a 
Central Government basis. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN RESERVES 
 
 
 Income and 

Expenditure 
Account 

£’000 
 

Revaluation 
Reserve 

 
£’000 

 
Total 

Balance at 31 July 2017 
 

(11,273) 6,440 (4,833) 

Deficit from statement of comprehensive 
income 
 

(939) - (939) 

Other comprehensive income 
  

2,651 - 2,651 

Transfers between revaluation reserve and 
income and expenditure account 
 

299 (299) - 

Total comprehensive income for the year 2,011 
 
 

(299) 1,712 

Balance at 31 July 2018 
 

(9,262) 6,141 (3,121) 

Deficit from statement of comprehensive 
income 
 

(1,351) - (1,351) 

Other comprehensive income 
  

(3,036) - (3,036) 

Transfers between revaluation reserve and 
income and expenditure account 
 

298 (298) - 

Total comprehensive income for the year (4,089) 
 
 

(298) (4,387) 

 
Balance at 31 July 2019 

 
(13,351) 

 
5,843 

 
(7,508) 
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BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 JULY 
 
 
 

 
Notes 

  
 2019  
£’000 

  
 2018  
£’000 

Non-Current Assets 
Fixed Assets 
 

 
10 

 
18,073 

 
 

 
18,860 

Current Assets 
Trade and other receivables 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 

 
11 
17 

 
1,169 

760 

  
864 
729 

 
 

 1,929  1,593 

Less: Creditors; amounts falling due within one 
year 
 

12 (2,790)  (2,428) 

Net Current Liabilities  (861)  (835) 
     
Total Assets less Current Liabilities 
 

 17,212  18,025 

Creditors: amounts falling due after more  
than one year 

13 
 
 

(14,060) 
 

 (14,675) 
 

Provisions 
Defined benefit obligations 
Other provisions 

 
15 
15 

 
(6,904) 
(3,756) 

  
(2,783) 
(3,688) 

     
Total Net Liabilities  (7,508)  (3,121) 
 
 

    

Unrestricted Reserves 
Income and expenditure account 
Revaluation reserve 
 

 
16 
 

 
(13,351) 

5,843 

  
(9,262) 

6,141 

Total Reserves  (7,508)  (3,121) 
 
 
The financial statements on pages 33 to 59 were approved by the Board of Governors  
On 10 December 2019 and signed on its behalf on that date by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Alex Linkston 
Chair 

 Jackie Galbraith 
Principal 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2019  

£’000 
 

 Year 
 Ended 

31 July 2018  
£’000 

 
Cash flow from operating activities 
Deficit for the year 
 
Adjustment for non-cash items 
Depreciation  
Deferred capital grants released to income 
(Increase) in debtors 
Increase/(Decrease) in creditors due within one year 
(Decrease) in provisions 
Pension costs less contributions payable 
 
Adjustment for investing or financing activities 
Investment income 
Interest payable 
 

  
(1,351) 

 
 

787 
 (457) 
(305) 

362 
(198) 
1,157 

 
 

(1) 
194  

  
(939) 

 
 

800 
(457) 
(305) 
(495) 
(199) 

719 
 
 

(1) 
233  

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities  188  (644) 
     
Cash flows from investing activities 
Interest received 
 

  
1 
 

  
1 
 

  1  1 
     
Cash flows from financing activities 
Repayments of amounts borrowed 

  
 (158) 

  
 (158) 

  (158)  (158) 
     
Increase/(Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents in 
the year 

  
31 

  
(801) 

     
 
Cash and cash equivalents at start of the year 

  
729 

  
1,530 

 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 

  
760 

  
729 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2019 
 
1 STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are 
considered material in relation to the financial statements. 
 
a) Basis of Preparation 
 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Statement of 
Recommended Practice (SORP): Accounting for Further and Higher Education 2015, and in 
accordance with Financial Reporting Standards FRS 102 and the 2018-19 Government Financial 
Reporting Manual (FReM) issued by the Scottish Government.  They conform to the Accounts 
Direction and other guidance published by the Scottish Funding Council (FReM 2.2.6). 
 
The preparation of financial statements in compliance with FRS 102 requires the use of certain 
critical accounting estimates.  It also requires management to exercise judgement in applying the 
college’s accounting policies. 
 
b) Basis of Accounting 
 
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by 
the revaluation of surplus land and certain fixed assets. 
 
The accounting policies contained in the FReM apply International Reporting Standards as 
adapted or interpreted for the public sector context.  Where the FReM permits a choice of 
accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the college for 
the purposes of giving a true and fair view has been selected.  The particular policies adopted by 
the college in dealing with items that are considered material to the financial statements are set 
out. (FReM 2.2.6). 
 
c) Going Concern 
 
The activities of the college, together with the factors likely to affect its future development and 
performance are set out in the Performance Report. The financial position of the college, its cash 
flow and liquidity are presented in the Financial Statements and accompanying Notes.  The net 
liabilities are due to the reclassification of deferred Government grants as deferred income within 
creditors and allocated between creditors due within one year and due after more than one year 
as appropriate 
 
The college’s forecasts and financial projections indicate that the college has a reasonable 
expectation that it has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future, and for this reason will continue to adopt the going concern basis in the 
preparation of its Financial Statements. 
 
d) Recognition of Income 
 
Income from the sale of goods or services is credited to the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
when the goods or services are supplied to the external customers or the terms of the contract 
have been satisfied.  
     
Fee income is stated gross of any expenditure which is not a discount and credited to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income over the period in which students are studying.   
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Income received in advance is recognised as deferred income within creditors on the balance 
sheet and then released to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period it is earned. 
            
All income from short-term deposits and Investment income is credited to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income on a receivable basis.       
  
Funds the college receives and disburses as paying agent on behalf of a funding body are 
excluded from the Statement of Comprehensive Income.       
           
e) Grant Funding 
 
Government revenue grants including the recurrent grants from the Scottish Funding Council are 
recognised in income over the periods in which the college recognises the related costs for which 
the grant is intended to compensate.  Where part of a government grant is deferred it is 
recognised as deferred income within creditors and allocated between creditors due within one 
year and due after more than one year as appropriate. 
 
Grants from non-governmental sources are recognised in income when the college is entitled to 
the income and performance related conditions have been met.  Income received in advance of 
performance related conditions being met is recognised as deferred income within creditors on 
the balance sheet and released to income as the conditions are met. 
 
f) Capital Grants 
 
Government capital grants are recognised in income over the expected useful life of the asset.  
Other capital grants are recognised in income when the college is entitled to the funds subject to 
any performance related conditions being met.  
 
g) Short Term Employment Benefits 
 
Short term employment benefits such as salaries and compensated absences are recognised as 
an expense in the year in which the employees render service to the college.  Any unused 
benefits are accrued and measured as the additional amount the college expects to pay as a 
result of the unused entitlement. 
 
h) Pension Schemes 
 
Retirement benefits to employees of the college are provided by the Teachers' Superannuation 
Scheme (Scotland) (STSS) and the Lothian Pension Fund (LPF).  These are defined benefit 
schemes which are externally funded and contracted out of the State Earnings Related Pension 
Scheme until March 2016.   
 

i) STSS 
 

The college is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the STSS 
on a consistent and reasonable basis and therefore, as required by FRS 102, accounts for the 
scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme.  The amount charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income represents the contributions payable to the scheme in respect of the 
year.  The contributions are determined by qualified actuaries on the basis of periodic 
valuations using the projected unit method. 

 
ii) LPF 

 
The college’s share of LPF scheme assets and liabilities are valued by the LPF actuary, 
Hymans Robertson.  Contributions to the schemes are charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income so as to spread the cost of pensions over employees working lives 
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with the college.  The contributions are determined by an actuary on the basis of triennial 
valuations.  In accordance with FRS 102, the amount charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income represents the service cost expected to arise from employee service 
in the current year. 

 
The costs of enhanced early retirement benefits are borne directly by the college. 

 
i) Tangible Fixed Assets 
 
In line with the FReM all tangible assets must be carried at fair value. 
 

i) Land and Buildings  
 
 Land and Buildings are measured using the revaluation model.  Under the revaluation model 

assets are revalued to fair value.  Where appropriate Depreciated Replacement cost has 
been used as a measure of fair value for land and buildings otherwise Market Value will be 
used.  The college has a policy of ensuring a full revaluation takes place at least every 5 
years such that the fair value is not materially different to the current value.  Depreciation and 
impairment losses are subsequently charged on the revalued amount. 

 
 Freehold land is not depreciated as it is considered to have an indefinite useful life. 
 

College buildings are depreciated over 30 years and transferred car parking areas are 
depreciated over 25 years, both commencing in the first full financial year after the date of 
transfer of the estate to public ownership (2 April 2007).  Other additions to the estate are 
depreciated over 10 years from the date they are brought into use.  

 
 Costs incurred in relation to land and buildings after initial purchase or construction, and prior 

to valuation, are capitalised to the extent they increase the expected future benefits to the 
college. 

 
 If a building is brought into use mid-way through a year the depreciation charge in the first 

year will be pro-rated to reflect the number of months the asset was in use.   
 

A review for impairment of a fixed asset is carried out if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. 
 
Buildings under construction are accounted for at cost, based on the value of architects’ 
certificates and other direct costs incurred to 31 July.  They are not depreciated until they 
are brought into use. 

 
ii) Fixed Plant and Equipment 

 
Equipment is capitalised at cost and carried at depreciated historical cost, which is used as 
a proxy for fair value when it is expected to be in use within the business on a continuing 
basis for at least 3 years.  Depreciated historical cost is deemed to be more appropriate 
than revaluing for equipment as it is common for such assets to reduce in value rather than 
to increase as they are utilised by the college (FReM 6.2).  Capitalised equipment is 
depreciated over its useful economic life from the date it is brought into use as follows: - 

  
 Fixed Plant 5-29 years 
 Equipment  4 years 
  

Where equipment is brought into use mid-way through a year the depreciation charge in the 
first year will be pro-rated to reflect the number of months that the asset was in use. 
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Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the date of 
preparation of each Balance Sheet. 
 
iii) Operating Leases 

  
 Costs in respect of operating leases are charged on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  

Any lease premiums or incentives are spread over the lease term. 
 

iv) Finance Leases  
 
 Leases in which the college assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 

the leased asset are classified as finance leases. Leased assets acquired by way of finance 
lease and the corresponding lease liabilities are initially recognised at an amount equal to the 
lower of their fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments at inception of 
the lease. 

 
 Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of 

the outstanding liability.  The finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term 
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 

 
Arrangements that do not have the legal status of a lease but convey a right to use an asset 
in return for payment are accounted for under this policy where fulfilment of the arrangement 
is dependent on the use of specific assets. 

  
j) Maintenance of Premises 
 
The cost of maintenance is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in 
which it is incurred. 
 
k) Stocks 
 
The Board of Governors agree that stocks be written off in the year of acquisition on the basis of 
non-materiality. 
 
l) Cash  
 
Cash includes cash in hand, deposits repayable on demand and overdrafts.  Deposits are 
repayable on demand if they are in practice available within 24 hours without penalty. 
 
m) Taxation 
 
The college is an exempt charity within the meaning of the Trustee Investment and Charities 
(Scotland) Act 2005 and, as such is a charity within the meaning of section 506 (1) of the Income 
and Corporation Taxes Act (ICTA) 1988.  The college is recognised as a charity by HM Revenue 
& Customs and is recorded on the index of charities maintained by the Office of Scottish Charity 
Regulator and therefore not liable for corporation tax. 
 
Non-recoverable Value Added Tax arising from expenditure on non-trading activities is charged 
to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
The college benefits by being exempt from corporation tax on income it receives from tuition fees, 
interest and rents. 
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n) Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the college has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
 
o) Agency Arrangements 
 
The college acts as an agent in the collection and payment of certain Student Support Funds.  
These funds are excluded from the college Statement of Comprehensive Income; movements 
have been disclosed in the notes.  Where the college has more discretion in the manner in which 
specific funds are disbursed, and these funds do not meet the definition of agency funds, the 
income and expenditure relating to those funds is shown in the college Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 
 
p) Financial Instruments 

 
The college only enters into basic financial instruments transactions that result in the recognition 
of financial assets and liabilities like trade and other debtors and creditors and other loans to 
related parties. 
  
Debt instruments that are payable or receivable within one year, typically trade debtors and 
creditors, are measured, initially and subsequently, at the undiscounted amount of the cash or 
other consideration expected to be paid or received. 
  
q) Judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
In preparing these financial statements, management have made the following judgements: 
 
• Determine whether leases entered into by the college either as a lessor or a lessee are 

operating or finance leases. These decisions depend on an assessment of whether the 
risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred from the lessor to the lessee on a 
lease by lease basis. 

• Determine whether there are indicators of impairment of the college’s tangible assets. 
Factors taken into consideration in reaching such a decision include the economic viability 
and expected future financial performance of the asset. 

 
Other key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
• Tangible fixed assets 
 
 Tangible fixed assets are depreciated over their useful lives taking into account residual 

values, where appropriate. The actual lives of the assets and residual values are assessed 
annually and may vary depending on a number of factors. In re‐assessing asset lives, 
factors such as technological innovation and maintenance programmes are taken into 
account. 

 
 

• Local Government Pension Scheme 
 
 The present value of the Local Government Pension Scheme defined benefit liability 

depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a variety of 
assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) for pensions 
include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions, which are disclosed in note 
18, will impact the carrying amount of the pension liability.  
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2 SFC GRANTS  
 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2019 

£’000 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2018 
£’000 

SFC Teaching & fee waiver grant 
Childcare funds 
Release of deferred capital grants (SFC) 
Other SFC Grants 

 11,442 
822 
457 

1,002 

 10,092 
685 
457 

1,413 
   

13,723 
  

12,647 
 
3 TUITION FEES AND EDUCATION CONTRACTS  
 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2019 

£’000 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2018 
£’000 

FE Fees - UK 
HE Fees - UK 
SDS contracts 

 1,051 
1,565 

776 

 885 
1,553 

702 
 
 

  
3,392 

  
3,140 

 
4  OTHER INCOME  
 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2019 

£’000 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2018 
£’000 

Residence and catering 
European funds 
Other income generating activities 
Other income 

 342 
196 

1,145 
208 

 311 
249 

1,216 
273 

 
 

  
1,891 

  
2,049 

 
5  INVESTMENT INCOME 
 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2019 

£’000 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2018 
£’000 

 
Other Interest Receivable 
 

  
1 
 

  
1 
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6 STAFF COSTS 
 
The average weekly number of persons (including senior post-holders) employed by the college 
during the period was: 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2019 

FTE 

 Year 
 Ended 

31 July 2018 
FTE 

 
Teaching departments 
Teaching support services 
Administration 
Premises 
Catering and residences 
Other Income-generating activities 
Other staff 

  
170 
32 
40 
24 
9 

18 
3 

  
169 
32 
38 
23 
9 

18 
3 

 
 

  
296 

  
292 

 
Analysed as: 
Staff on permanent contracts 
Staff on temporary contracts 

  
 

274 
22 

  
 

258 
34 

 
 

  
296 

  
292 

 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2019 

£’000 

 Year 
 Ended 

31 July 2018 
£’000 

Staff Costs for the above persons 
 
Wages and salaries 
Social security costs 
Other pension costs 
Restructuring costs 

  
 

9,926 
921 

2,739 
40 

  
 

8,958 
848 

2,109 
7 

 
 

  
13,626 

  
11,922 

 
 

    

Analysed as: 
Staff on permanent contracts 
Staff on temporary contracts 
Pension charge less contributions paid 
Restructuring costs 

  
11,375 
1,054 
1,157 

40 

  
9,777 
1,419 

719 
7 

   
13,626 

  
11,922 
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 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2019 
£’000 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2018 
£’000 

Analysed as: 
Teaching departments 
Teaching support services 
Administration 
Premises 
Catering and residences 
Other income-generating activities 
Other staff 
Pension charge less contributions paid 
Restructuring costs 

  
7,656 
1,051 
1,676 

660 
201 
762 
423 

1,157 
40 

  
6,932 

979 
1,544 

616 
209 
731 
185 
719 

7 
 
 

  
13,626 

  
11,922 

 
Key management personnel 
 
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the college and are represented by the 
Senior Team which comprises the Principal and three Vice Principals. 
 
Emoluments of Key management personnel, Accounting Officer and other higher 
paid staff  
 
  

2019 
  

2018 
 

 No.  No. 
 
The number of key management personnel including 
the Accounting Officer was: 

 
 
4 

  
 
4 
 

 
The number of key management personnel and other staff who received annual 
emoluments, excluding pension contributions but including benefits in kind, in the following 
ranges was: 
 
 Key management personnel Other staff 

  
2019 

 
2018 

 
2019 

 
2018 

  
No. 

 
No. 

 
No. 

 
No. 

 
£60,001 to £70,000 
£110,001 to £120,000 

 
3 
1 

 
3 
1 

 
- 
- 

 
- 
- 

 
 

 
4 

 
4 

 
- 

 
- 
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Key management personnel emoluments are made up as follows: 
 
 2019 

 
2018 

 
 £’000 £’000 

Salaries 
Benefits in kind 

322 
- 

316 
- 

 322 316 
 
Pension contributions 

 
57 

 
37 

 
Total emoluments 

 
379 

 
353 

 
There were no amounts due to key management personnel that were waived in the year, nor 
any salary sacrifice arrangements in place.  The above emoluments include amounts payable to 
the Accounting officer (who is also the highest paid officer) of: 
 
 2019 

 
2018 

 
 £’000 £’000 

Salaries 
Benefits in kind 

105 
- 

112 
- 

 105 112 
 
Pension contributions 

 
20 

 
- 

 
Total emoluments 

 
125 

 
112 

 
Compensation for loss of office paid to former key management personnel 
 
 2019 

 
2018 

 
 £’000 £’000 

Compensation paid to former post-holders 
Estimated value of other benefits, including provision for 
pension benefits 

23 
- 
 

- 
- 
 

 
Overseas Activities 
 
The following costs were incurred during 2018-19 in respect of overseas activities which 
were carried out in accordance with the strategy approved by the board of governors: 
 
 Total 

Cost 
£ 

Contribution 
Received 

£ 

Net Costs To 
College 

£ 
Members - - - 
Senior post-holders - - - 
Other staff 48,796 - 48,796 
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7  OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2019 

£’000 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2018 
£’000 

 
Teaching departments 
Teaching support services 
Administration 
Premises 
Catering 
Other income generating activities 
Overspend on student support funds 
Childcare fund costs 
Other 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
732 
360 

1,568 
1,118 

176 
415 

4 
822 
555 

  
673 
234 

1,435 
1,701 

179 
473 
15 

685 
426 

   
5,750 

  
5,821 

 
Other Operating Expenses (Administration) 
include: 
 

    

Auditors Remuneration (including irrecoverable 
VAT) 

- Internal audit 
- External audit 

Other services provided by: 
- Internal audit 
- External audit 
-  

  
 

22 
15 

 
10 

- 

  
 

21 
14 

 
- 
- 

  47  35 
 
 
8  INTEREST PAYABLE 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2019 

£’000 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2018 
£’000 

 
On bank loans, overdrafts and other loans 
Pension finance costs 

  
- 

194 
 

  
- 

233 
 

  194  233 
 
 
9 TAXATION 
 
The Board does not believe the college was liable for any corporation tax arising out of its 
activities during this period. 
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10  FIXED ASSETS 
 
 Land & 

Buildings 
Freehold 

£'000 

Fixed Plant 
 
 

£'000 

Equipment 
 

 
£’000 

Total 
 
 

£'000 
Cost or valuation 
 
At 31 July 2018 
Additions  
Disposals 
 

 
 

18,329 
- 

(120) 
 

 
 

1,798 
- 

(13) 
 

 
 

66 
- 
- 
 

 
 

20,193 
- 

(133) 
 

At 31  July 2019 18,209 1,785 66 20,060 
 
Depreciation 
 
At 31 July 2017 
Charge for Period 
Disposals 
 

 
 
 

1,108 
583 

(120) 
 

 
 
 

198 
185 
(13) 

 

 
 
 

27 
19 
- 

 
 
 

1,333 
787 

(133) 
 

At 31 July 2019 1,571 370 46 1,987 
 
Net Book Value 

    

At 31 July 2019 16,638 1,415 20 18,073 
 
Net Book Value 

    

At 31 July 2018 17,221 1,600 39 18,860 
     
Financed by: 
Capital Grant 

16,638 1,415 20 18,073 

 
 
The college’s land and buildings were independently valued by GVA James Barr as at 31 July 
2017. This valuation has been incorporated into these financial statements. Under FRS102 the 
Board gives annual consideration to assessing the value of buildings and equipment to be 
included in the annual accounts. The basis of valuation adopted was depreciated replacement 
cost. Had they not been re-valued, inherited and owned land, buildings and fixed plant would 
have had an historic net book value of £16,592,000 (2018: £16,151,000). 
 
 
11 TRADE AND OTHER RECOVERABLES 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2019 

£’000 
 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2018 
£’000 

Trade Debtors  
European Funding 
Prepayments and accrued income 
Amounts Owed by SFC 

 586 
25 

509 
49 

 620 
7 

177 
60 

 
 

  
1,169 

  
864 
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12   CREDITORS:  Amounts falling due within one year 
 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2019 

£’000 
 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2018 
£’000 

Trade Creditors  
Taxation and Social Security 
Accruals and Deferred income 
Deferred Income – Deferred capital grant < 1 Year 
Deferred Income – SFC capital grants 
Deferred Income – SFC revenue grants 
Amounts Owed to SFC 
Unspent Student Funds 
 

 654 
518 
876 
457 
12 
68 

158 
47 

 526 
399 
857 
457 
12 
6 

158 
13 

   
2,790 

  
2,428 

 
 
 
13  CREDITORS:  Amounts falling due after one year 
 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2019 

£’000 
 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2018 
£’000 

 
Amounts Owed to SFC 
Deferred Income – SFC Capital grants 
 

  
2,211 

11,849 

  
2,369 

12,306 

 
 

  
14,060 

  
14,675 

 
 
14 MATURITY OF DEBT  
 
SFC Loan is repayable as follows: 
  Year  

Ended 
31 July 2019 

£’000 
 

 Year  
Ended 

31 July 2018 
£’000 

In one year or less 
Between one and two years 
Between two and five years 
In five years or more 

 158 
158 
 632 

1,421 

 158 
158 
 632 

1,579 
 
 

  
2,369 

  
2,527 

 
The college voluntarily terminated its PFI contract in April 2007, at which point the title of the 
college buildings transferred to the college.  The college received total funding from SFC in April 
2007 of £27.7million to enable it to terminate the contract.  This comprised a grant of 
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£22.16million and a repayable advance of £5.54million representing the college’s own 
contribution towards the cost of the assets previously held under the PFI contract.   
 
The £5.54million advance is interest free and was repayable in equal instalments over 16 years.  
The first repayment was made in August 2010 and at 31 July 2019 the amount outstanding was 
£2,369,055.  In March 2014 the college made an upfront payment of £650,000 towards the loan 
and negotiated a reduced annual payment of £157,937 per annum with the Scottish Funding 
Council from April 2015. 
 
 
15 PROVISIONS  
 
 Defined 

Benefit 
Obligations  

 
£’000 

Early 
Retirement 

Provision  
 

£’000 

Total 
 
 
 

£'000 
 
At 1 August 2018 
 
Expenditure in the period 
Other movements in period 
 

 
2,783 

 
(817) 
4,938   

 
3,688 

 
(198) 

266 

 
6,471 

 
(1,015) 

5,204 

 
At 31 July 2019 

 
6,904 

 
3,756 

 
10,660 

 
Defined benefit obligations relate to liabilities under the college’s membership of the Local 
Government pension scheme.  Further details are given at Note 18. 
 
The early retirement provision is in accordance with a valuation carried out by Hymans 
Robertson, an independent firm of actuaries at 31 July 2019. 
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16 RESERVES 
 
Analysis of income and expenditure account 
 
 I&E 

Account  
Trading 

Activities 
 

£'000 
 

I&E 
Account  
Holiday 

Pay 
 

£,000 

I&E  
Account 

 PFI Loan 
 
 

£'000 
 

I&E  
Account 

 Early  
Retiremnt  

 
£'000 

 

I&E  
Account 
Defined 
Benefit 
Pension  

£’000 

Total 
 
 
 
 

£'000 

At 31 July 2018 
 

(111) (153) (2,527) (3,688) (2,783) (9,262) 

Total 
comprehensive 
income for the year 
(excluding 
revaluation) 
 

21 (21) 
 
 
 

- (266) (4,121) (4,387) 

Transfer from 
Revaluation 
Reserve 
  

298 - - - - 298 

Repayments of PFI 
loan 
  

(158) - 158 - - - 

Payments for early 
retirement 
 

(198) -  198 - - 

 
At 31 July 2019 
 

 
(148) 

 
(174) 

 
(2,369) 

 
(3,756) 

 
(6,904) 

 
(13,351) 

 
 
17 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
  
 At 1 August 

2018 
 £'000 

 
Cash Flows 

 £'000 
 

 
Other 
£'000 

At 31 July 
2019 

 £'000 

Cash 
Debt due within 1 year 
Debt due after 1 year 

729 
(158) 

(2,369) 

31 
158 

- 

- 
(158) 

158 

760 
(158) 

(2,211) 
 
 

 
(1,798) 

 
189 

 
- 

 
(1,609) 
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18 PENSION COMMITMENTS 
 
The college’s employees belong to two principal pension schemes: the Scottish Teachers’ 
Superannuation Scheme (STSS), and the Lothian Pension Fund (LPF).   
 
 
Total pension cost for the period Year  

Ended 
31 July 2019 

£’000 
 

Year  
Ended 

31 July 2018 
£’000 

 
STSS contributions paid 
 

 765  717 

LPF Pension scheme: 
        Contributions paid 
        FRS 102 (28) charge 
 

 
817 

1,157 

  
673 
719 

 

Charge to the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
 

 1,974  1,392 

 
Total Pension Cost  for the period within staff 
costs 

  
2,739 

  
2,109 

 
Contributions amounting to £151,000 (2018: £120,000) were payable to the schemes at 31 July 
and are included within creditors. 
 
Scottish Teachers Superannuation Scheme 
 
The Scottish Teachers' Superannuation Scheme is a notional fund valued every year by the 
Government actuary.  Contributions are paid by the college at the rate specified.  The Scheme is 
unfunded and contributions are made to the Exchequer.  The payments from the scheme are 
made from funds voted by the Scottish Parliament.  The contribution rate payable by the 
employer since 1 April 2015 is 17.2% of pensionable salaries. From 1 September 2019 this rate 
will rise to 23%. 
 
Under the definitions set out in Financial Reporting Standard 102 (28.11) (FRS 102), the STSS 
is a multi-employer pension plan.  The college is unable to identify its share of the underlying 
assets and liabilities of the scheme.  Accordingly, the college has taken advantage of its 
exemption in FRS 102 and has accounted for its contributions as if it were a defined contribution 
plan. The college has set out above the information available on the plan and the implications for 
the college in terms of the anticipated contribution rates. 
 
Lothian Pension Fund Scheme 
 
The Lothian Pension Fund is valued every three years by professionally qualified independent 
actuaries using the projected unit credit method, the rates of contribution payable being 
determined by the trustees on the advice of the actuaries.  In the intervening years, the LPF 
actuary reviews the progress of the LPF scheme. 
 
The Lothian Pension Fund is a funded defined-benefit plan, with assets held in separate funds 
administered by City of Edinburgh Council.  The total contributions made for the year ended 31 
July 2019 were £1,076,000 and employees’ contributions totalled £259,000.  The agreed 
contribution rates for future years for the employer are 18.8% from 1 April 2018, 19.3% from  
1  April 2019 and 19.8% from 1 April 2020.  For employees, contribution rates range from 5.5% 
to 12.0% depending on salary. 
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Principal Actuarial assumptions 
 
The following information is based upon a full actuarial valuation of the fund at 31 March 2017 
updated to 31 July 2019 by a qualified independent actuary. 
 
 At 31 July  

2019 
 

At 31 July  
2018 

 
Rate of increase in salaries 4.1% 4.1% 
Future pensions increases 2.4% 2.4% 
Discount rate for scheme liabilities 2.1% 2.8% 
Inflation assumption (CPI) 2.5% 2.4% 
Commutation of pensions – pre April 2009 50% 50% 
Commutation of pensions – post April 2009 75% 75% 

 
 
The current mortality assumptions include sufficient allowance for future improvements in 
mortality rate. The assumed life expectations on retirement at age 65 are: 
 
 
 

Males Females 

Current pensioners 21.7 years 24.3 years 
Future pensioners  24.7 years 27.5 years 

 
 
The college’s share of assets in the scheme and the expected rate of return are: 

 
 Long term 

rate of 
return  

 

Fair Value 
at  

31 July 
2019 
£'000 

Long term 
rate of 
return  

 

Fair Value 
 at  

31 July 
2018 
£'000 

     
Equities 2.1% 17,817 2.8% 16,106 
Bonds 2.1% 2,613 2.8% 2,092 
Property 2.1% 1,663 2.8% 1,464 
Cash 2.1% 1,663 2.8% 1,255 
     
Total fair value of employer assets  23,756  20,917 
     
 
Actual return on employer assets 

  
2,160 

  
461 
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The amount included in the balance sheet in respect of the defined benefit pension plan 
is as follows: 
 
 Year Ended 

31 July 2019 
£'000 

Year Ended 
31 July 2018 

£'000 
   
Fair value of employer assets 23,756 20,917 
Present value of funded liabilities (30,660) (23,700) 
   
Net Pension Liability (6,904) (2,783) 

 
 
Amounts recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in respect of the plan 
are as follows: 
 
 Year Ended 

31 July 2019 
£'000 

Year Ended 
31 July 2018 

£'000 
Amounts included in staff costs   
   
Current service cost 1,581 1,392 
Past service cost 
 

393 - 

Total 1,974 1,392 
 
 
Amounts included in Pension Costs   
   
Net pension costs 
 

94 129 

Total 94 129 
 
 
Amounts recognised in Other Comprehensive 
Income 

  

   
Return on pension assets 1,565 (84) 
Change in demographic assumptions - (26) 
Change in financial assumptions (4,435) 1,385 
Other experience 
 

- 1,206 

Total (2,870) 2,481 
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Movement in net defined benefit (liability) during year Year  
Ended 

31 July 2019 
£’000 

Year  
Ended 

31 July 2018 
£’000 

   
Net defined benefit (liability) at start of period (2,783) (4,416) 
Movement in period:   

Current service costs (1,581) (1,392) 
Past service costs (393) - 
Employer contributions 817 673 
Net interest on the defined liability (94) (129) 
Actuarial (loss)/gain (2,870) 2,481 

 
Net defined benefit (liability) at end of period 

 
(6,904) 

 
(2,783) 

 
 
Asset and Liability Reconciliation 
 
 
Changes in fair value of plan assets Year  

Ended 
31 July 2019 

£’000 

Year  
Ended 

31 July 2018 
£’000 

   
Fair value of plan assets at start of period 20,917 19,964 
Interest on plan assets 595 545 
Return on plan assets 1,565 (84) 
Employer contributions 817 673 
Contributions by plan participants 259 214 
Benefits paid (397) (395) 
 
Fair value of plan assets at end of period 

 
23,756 

 
20,917 

 
 
Changes in the present value of defined benefit 
obligations 

Year  
Ended 

31 July 2019 
£’000 

Year  
Ended 

31 July 2018 
£’000 

   
Defined benefit obligation at start of period 23,700 24,380 
Current service cost 1,581 1,392 
Past service cost 393 - 
Interest cost 689 674 
Contributions by plan participants 259 214 
Changes in demographic assumptions - 26 
Changes in financial assumptions 4,435 (1,385) 
Other experience - (1,206) 
Benefits paid (397) (395) 

Defined benefit obligation at end of period 30,660 23,700 
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19 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 
Financial Assets 
 
Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost totalled £635,000 (2018: 
£645,000) at the balance sheet date.  This comprises trade debtors and amounts owed by SFC. 
 
Financial Liabilities 
 
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost totalled £3,946,000 (2018: £3,923,000) at the 
balance sheet date.  This comprises trade creditors, accruals, unspent student funds and 
amounts owed to SFC. 
 
 
20 LOSSES AND SPECIAL PAYMENTS 
 
 
Above SFC annual reporting 
requirements 

SFC 
Requirement 
Per Instance 

 
2019 

Number 

 
2019 
Total 

 
Debt write-off 

 
£3,000 

 
- 

 
- 

Cash losses £3,000 - - 
Ex-gratia payments £1,000 2 £35,567 
Compensation payments £5,000 - - 

 
The ex-gratia payments were approved by the Scottish Funding Council.  
 
 
21   CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 
 
At 31 July the college had commitments of a capital nature as follows: 
 
 2019 

£000 
2018 
£000 

 
Committed but not contracted 

 
- 

 
- 

Committed and contracted - - 
   

 
22 LEASE OBLIGATIONS 
 
At 31 July the college had minimum lease payments under non‐cancellable operating leases as 
follows: 
 
 2019  

£’000 
2018 
£000 

Other   
 
Expiring within one year 
Expiring between one and five years 
 

 
36 
68                         

 

 
23 

- 
 

 104 23 
 
During 2018-19 the college paid £35,000 in operating lease rentals. 
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23 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 
There were no contingent liabilities at Balance Sheet date. 
 
 
24 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Owing to the nature of the college’s operations and the composition of the board of governors 
being drawn from local public and private organisations, it is inevitable that transactions will take 
place with organisations in which a member of the board of governors may have an interest.  All 
transactions involving such organisations are conducted at arm’s length and in accordance with 
the college’s financial regulations and normal procurement procedures. 
 
The college had transactions during the year or worked in partnership with the following publicly 
funded or representative bodies in which members of the Board of Governors hold or held official 
positions. 
 
Name 
 

Organisation Position 

 
Mr Thomas Bates 
 
Mr Graham Hope 
 
Elaine Cook 
 
 
 

 
Lareine Engineering Ltd 
 
West Lothian Council 
 
West Lothian Council 
 
 

 
Director 
 
Chief Executive 
 
Depute Chief Executive & lead 
Education Officer Regional 
Improvement Collaborative 

  
2017-18 
 
Name 
 

Organisation Position 

 
Mr Thomas Bates 
 
Mr Graham Hope 
 
Mr Ian McIntosh 
 

 
Lareine Engineering Ltd 
 
West Lothian Council 
 
Edinburgh Napier University 
 

 
Director 
 
Chief Executive 
 
Leadership Consultant 
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The value of the transactions due to/by the college for the twelve months ended 31 July 2019, 
and the amount outstanding at this date was as follows: 
 
Organisation Year ended 31 July 2019 

 
Year ended 31 July 2018 

 
 Total Value of 

Transactions 
£’000 

Balance 
Outstanding 

£’000 

Total Value of 
Transactions 

£’000 

Balance 
Outstanding 

£’000 
 
Due to WLC 
 
Lareine Engineering Ltd 
West Lothian Council 
Edinburgh Napier 
University 
 

 
 
 

1 
42 
- 
 

 
 
 
- 

32 
- 
 

 
 
 

1 
72 

329 
 

 
 
 
- 

28 
73 
 

 
Due by WLC 
 
University of Edinburgh 
West Lothian Council 
 

 
 
 
- 

126 
 

 
 
 
- 
- 
 

 
 
 

2 
103 

 

 
 
 
- 

11 
 

 
The total expenses paid to or on behalf of the Governors during the year was £473 ; 4 governors 
(2018: £967 ; 2 governors).  This represents travel and subsistence expenses and other out of 
pocket expenses in attending Governor meetings and other events in their official capacity. 
 
The Chair of the Board received a salary in accordance with the directions issued by the Scottish 
Government.  The total paid to the Chair over the period was £22,498 (2018: £22,532) 
 
 
 25 FE BURSARIES AND OTHER STUDENT SUPPORT FUNDS 

 
 FE 

Bursary 
£’000 

 

FE  
Discr’y 
£’000 

 
EMAs 
£’000 

 
Other 
£’000 

2018-19 
Total 
£’000 

2017-18 
Total 
£’000 

Balance b/fwd 
 

13 - (28) - (15) (14) 

Allocations 
received in year 
 

2,384 518 302 160 3,364 3,223 

Expenditure 
 

(2,190) (544) (296) (164) (3,194) (3,048) 

Repaid to SFC  
 

(40) - - 
 

- (40) (95) 

College 
Contribution  
 

- - - 4 4 15 

Virements 
 

(120) 26 - - (94) (137) 

 
Balance c/fwd 

 
47 

 
- 

 
(22) 

 
- 

 
(27) 

 
(14) 
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Residual cash balances and the corresponding creditor / (debtor) are included in the balance 
sheet.  FE Bursaries and Student Support Funds are available solely for students; the college 
acts only as paying agent.  The grants and related disbursements are therefore excluded from 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.   
 
 
26 CHILDCARE FUNDS 
 
 2018-19 

£’000 
 

2017-18 
£’000 

 
Balance b/fwd - - 

Allocations received in year 728 548 

Expenditure (822) (685) 

College contribution - - 

Virements 94 137 

 
 Balance c/fwd 

 
- 

 
- 

 
Residual cash balances and the corresponding creditor are included in the balance sheet.  
Childcare Funds are reported gross in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.   
 
 
27 POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS 
 
There have been no significant post balance sheet events. 
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28 IMPACT OF DEPRECIATION BUDGET ON STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME 

 
Following reclassification, colleges received a non-cash budget to cover depreciation but this 
additional budget is not recognised under the FE/HE SORP accounting rules.  Colleges may 
show a deficit equivalent to net depreciation as a result of having to meet Government 
accounting rules and the requirement to spend the entire cash allocation. 
 
Under the FE/HE SORP, the college recorded an operating deficit of £1,350,000 for the year 
ended 31 July 2019.  After adjusting for the non-cash allocation provided under government 
rules, the college shows an ‘adjusted’ deficit of £1,160,000 on a Central Government basis. 
 
 2018-19 

 
£’000 

 

2017-18 
 

£’000 

Deficit before other gains and losses (FE/HE 
SORP basis) for academic year 
 

(1,350) (939) 

Add: Depreciation budget for government funded 
assets (net of deferred capital grant) for academic 
year 
 

190 190 

Operating deficit on Central Government 
accounting basis for academic year 
 
 

(1,160) (749) 

 
The deficit is attributable to other factors reflected in the adjusted operating table (see page 13) 
and the college is therefore operating sustainably within its funding allocation. 
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APPENDIX 1 
 

Accounts Direction 
 
The following note is taken from the 2018-19 SFC Accounts Directions and has been 
included as required by SFC.  It does not form part of the Financial Statements. 
 
2018-19 Accounts direction for Scotland’s Colleges and Glasgow Colleges’ Regional  
Board 
 

1 It is the Scottish Funding Council’s direction that institutions comply with the 2015 
Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting for Further and Higher Education 
(SORP) in preparing their annual report and accounts. 
 

2 A new SORP (“the 2019 SORP”) was issued in October 2018 and this must be adopted 
for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 and thereafter.  Early 
adoption is permitted as described in section 27 (‘Transition to the 2019 SORP’) of the 
2019 SORP. 

 
3 Institutions must comply with the accounts direction in the preparation of their annual 

report and accounts in accordance with the Financial Memorandum with the Scottish 
Funding Council (SFC) or the Regional Strategic Body (for assigned colleges). 

 
4 Incorporated colleges and Glasgow College’s Regional Board are also required to comply 

with the Government Financial Reporting Manual 2018-19 (FReM) where applicable. 
 

5 Incorporated colleges and Glasgow College’s Regional Board are reminded that they 
must send two copies of their annual report and accounts to the Auditor General for 
Scotland by 31 December 2019. 

 
6 The annual report and accounts should be signed by the chief executive officer / 

Executive Director and by the chair, or one other member of the governing body. 
 

7 Incorporated colleges and Glasgow College’s regional Board should reproduce this 
Direction as an appendix to the annual report and accounts. 

 
 
Scottish Funding Council  
5 July 2019 
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Board of Governors 
 
Annual Report to the Board of Governors and the Auditor General for 
Scotland 2018-19 

The attached report summarises the findings from the year-end audit for the 
year ended 31 July 2019.   
 
The conclusion of the auditors is: 
 
• an unqualified opinion, without modification, will be issued on the financial 

statements; 
 
• an unqualified regularity opinion will be issued, meaning that in the 

auditor’s opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income 
recognised in the financial statements have been applied for the 
purposes intended; 

 
•  the college has effective arrangements, including budgetary control, that 

help the Board members scrutinise finances; and 
 
•  the college has governance arrangements in place that provide appropriate 

scrutiny of decisions made by the Board and are reflected in the 
governance statement 

 
 
Action 
 
For discussion. 
 
 
 
 
Jennifer McLaren 
Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services  
10 December 2019 
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This report has been prepared in accordance with our responsibilities as appointed auditors as set out in Audit Scotland’s Code of Audit Practice.
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Mazars LLP

Apex 2

97 Haymarket Terrace

Edinburgh

EH12 5HD

The Audit Committee

West Lothian College

Almondvale Crescent

Livingston

West Lothian

EH54 7EP

28 November 2019

Dear Members

Annual Audit Report – Year ended 31 July 2019

We are pleased to present our Annual Audit Report for the year ended 31 July 2019. The purpose of this document is to

summarise our audit conclusions.

The scope of our work, including identified significant audit risks and other areas of management judgement, was outlined in

our Audit Strategy Memorandum which we presented on 7 June 2019. We have reviewed our Audit Strategy Memorandum

and concluded that the original significant audit risks and other areas of management judgement remain appropriate. We

would like to express our thanks for the assistance of your team during our audit.

If you would like to discuss any matters in more detail then please do not hesitate to contact me on 07387 242 052.

Yours faithfully

Lucy Nutley

Mazars LLP

Mazars LLP is the UK firm of Mazars, an integrated international advisory and accountancy organisation. Mazars LLP is a limited liability partnership 
registered in England and Wales with registered number OC308299 and with its registered office at Tower Bridge House, St Katharine’s Way, London 
E1W 1DD.

We are registered to carry on audit work in the UK and Ireland by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Details about our audit 
registration can be viewed at www.auditregister.org.uk under reference number C001139861.
VAT number: 839 8356 73

Mazars LLP – Apex 2, 97 Haymarket Terrace, Edinburgh, EH12 5HD
Tel: 0131 313 7900 – www.mazars.co.uk



Purpose of this report and principal conclusions

This Annual Audit Report sets out the findings from our audit of West Lothian College (‘the College’) for the year ended 31 July 2019,

and forms the basis for discussion at the Audit Committee meeting on 28 November 2019.

Our responsibilities are defined by the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and the Code of Audit Practice (‘the Code’)

issued by Audit Scotland. Subject to the satisfactory completion of the outstanding work, at the time of issuing this report we have the

following conclusions:

Our proposed audit opinion is included in the draft auditor’s report in Appendix B.

Misstatements and internal control recommendations

Section 3 outlines the misstatement noted as part of our audit.

As part of our audit we have considered the internal controls in place that are relevant to the preparation of the financial statements. We

do this to design audit procedures that allow us to express an opinion on the financial statements; this does not extend to expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of internal control or to identify any significant deficiencies in their design or operation.

We have identified no recommendations for the improvement of internal controls at the College during our audit. In addition, there were 
no recommendations from the prior year which required to be followed up.

We anticipate concluding as follows against the wider scope dimensions for smaller bodies:

• The College has effective arrangements, including budgetary control, that help the Board members 

scrutinise finances; and

• The College has governance arrangements in place that provide appropriate scrutiny of decisions made 

by the Board and are reflected in their governance statement.

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
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We anticipate issuing an unqualified opinion, without modification, on the financial statements. 

We anticipate issuing an unqualified regularity opinion, meaning that in our opinion, in all material 

respects the expenditure and income recognised in the financial statements have been applied for the 

purposes intended.
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We anticipate issuing an unqualified opinion on the matters prescribed by the Auditor General for 

Scotland. Namely that the remuneration and staff report, performance report and governance statement 

have been properly prepared in accordance with the relevant legislation.

Opinion on 

other 

requirements



Status of our audit work

We have substantially completed our work on the financial statements and wider scope work for the year ended 31 July 2019. At the

time of preparing this report the following matters remain outstanding:

We will provide the Audit Committee with an update in relation to this outstanding matter, prior to signing the auditor’s report.

Our audit approach

We provided details of our intended audit approach in our Audit Strategy Memorandum in June 2019. We have not made any changes

to our audit approach since we presented our Audit Strategy Memorandum to the Audit Committee.

Adding value through the audit

We recognise that all of our clients want us to provide a positive contribution to meeting their ever-changing business needs. Our aim is 
to add value to West Lothian College through our external audit work by being constructive and forward looking, by identifying areas of 
improvement and by recommending and encouraging good practice. In this way we aim to help the College promote improved standards
of governance, better management and decision making and more effective use of limited financial resources.

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY (CONTINUED)
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Audit area Description of outstanding matters

Closure procedures
A final review of the Annual Report and Financial Statements has been completed on the 

final draft document. We will consider post balance sheet events until the date of sign-off.



Materiality

Materiality is an expression of the relative significance or importance of a particular matter in the context of financial statements as a

whole. Misstatements in financial statements are considered to be material if they, individually or in aggregate, could reasonably be

expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

We set materiality at the planning stage of the audit at £376k using a benchmark of 2% of gross expenditure. Our final assessment of

materiality, based on the final financial statements and qualitative factors is £407k, using the same benchmark.

The assessment of what is material is a matter of professional judgement and is affected by our perception of the financial information
needs of the users of the financial statements. In making our assessment we assume that users:

• have a reasonable knowledge of business, economic activities and accounts;

• have a willingness to study the information in the financial statements with reasonable diligence;

• understand that financial statements are prepared, presented and audited to levels of materiality;

• recognise the uncertainties inherent in the measurement of amounts based on the use of estimates, judgement and the 
consideration of future events; and

• will make reasonable economic decisions on the basis of the information in the financial statements.

We consider materiality whilst planning and performing our audit based on quantitative and qualitative factors

Performance Materiality

Our audit testing is based on a level of performance materiality, which is a percentage of overall materiality, but also dependent on the 

level of inherent risk assessed on the area being tested. It is lower than overall materiality as it helps to reduce the risk that the total of 

the uncorrected or undetected misstatements does not exceed materiality for the financial statements as a whole.  It is based on

between 50 – 80% of overall materiality depending on the risk level.  Our initial assessment of performance materiality is based on low 

inherent risk, meaning that we have applied 80% of overall materiality as performance materiality.

Misstatements

We aggregate misstatements identified during the audit that are other than clearly trivial. We set a level of triviality for individual errors

identified (a reporting threshold) for reporting to the Audit Committee that is consistent with the level of triviality that we consider would

not need to be accumulated because we expect that the accumulation of such amounts would not have a material effect on the financial

statements. This level was set at 3% of materiality.

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY (CONTINUED)
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Threshold
Initial threshold

£’000

Final threshold

£’000

Overall materiality 376 407

Performance materiality 300 326

Trivial threshold for errors to be reported to the Audit Committee 11 12



2. AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Set out below are the significant findings from our audit. These findings include:

• our audit conclusions regarding significant risks and key areas of management judgement outlined in the Audit Strategy
Memorandum;

• our comments in respect of the accounting policies and disclosures that you have adopted in the financial statements. On
page 12 we have concluded whether the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the financial reporting
framework and commented on any significant accounting policy changes that have been made during the year; and

• any significant difficulties we experienced during the audit.

Significant risks and key areas of management judgement
As part of our planning procedures we considered the risks of material misstatement in the College’s financial statements that required
special audit consideration. Although we report identified significant risks at the planning stage of the audit in our Audit Strategy
Memorandum, our risk assessment is a continuous process and we regularly consider whether new significant risks have arisen and
how we intend to respond to these risks. No new risks have been identified since we issued our Audit Strategy Memorandum.

6

Management override 

of controls

Description of the risk

In all entities, management at various levels within an organisation are in a unique position to

perpetrate fraud because of their ability to manipulate accounting records and prepare fraudulent

financial statements by overriding controls that otherwise appear to be operating effectively. Due to

the unpredictable way in which such override could occur, we consider there to be a risk of material

misstatement due to fraud and thus a significant risk on all audits.

How we addressed this risk

We addressed this risk through performing audit work over:

• Accounting estimates impacting on amounts included in the financial statements;

• Consideration of identified significant transactions outside the normal course of business; and

• Journals recorded in the general ledger and other adjustments made in preparation of the

financial statements.

Audit conclusion

Satisfactory assurance has been gained over the presumed risk of management override. We have

no matters to report.
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Revenue 

recognition

Description of the risk

There is a presumption under International Standards on Auditing that there is a significant risk of fraud and 

error in the timing of revenue recognition leading to the material misstatement of revenue overall.  This is 

because revenue is an area of particular focus by all users of financial statements and can be subject to 

judgements as to when income for services should be recognised.

This risk only applies to the non-grant income generated by the College.  The risk has been rebutted in 

relation to grant income received by the College, given the highly regulated nature of this income.

How we addressed this risk

We addressed this risk through performing work over:

• The design and implementation of controls management has in place to ensure income is recognised in

the correct period;

• Cash receipts around the year end and to ensure they have been recognised in the right year; and

• The judgements made by management in determining when income for the services is recognised.

Audit conclusion

Satisfactory assurance has been gained over the presumed risk of revenue recognition. We have no

matters to report.
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2. AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Valuation of 

pension liabilities

Description of the management judgement

The College makes contributions to two pension schemes – the Scottish Teachers Superannuation Scheme 

(STSS) and the Lothian Pension Fund (LPF).  While both are defined benefit schemes, it is not possible to 

identify the College’s share of the underlying assets and liabilities in the STSS and it is therefore accounted 

for as a defined contribution scheme.

The College’s share of the LPF’s underlying assets and liabilities is identifiable and a net liability is 

recognised in the accounts.

Given the scale of the liability recognised in the accounts, a misstatement in the reported position could be 

material to the financial statements.

How our audit addressed this area of management judgement

We considered the College’s arrangements, including the existence of any relevant controls, for making

estimates in relation to pension entries within the financial statements.

We also considered the reasonableness of the actuary’s assumptions used in providing the College with

information in the financial statements through the use of our internal experts.

Audit conclusion

Nationally, in all Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) valuations for accounting purposes, during

2018/19 two matters have been identified:

• The impact of Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) equalisation may not be fully included; and

• The impact of a legal case held during the year (known as the McCloud case), concerning potential age

discrimination in relation to transition provisions introduced as part of pension reform measures may not

be fully included.

Mazars actuaries have reviewed the accounting assumptions used by LPF’s actuaries in 2018/19. They

identified that the impact of GMP equalisation was not fully included as an assumption in the fund

valuation.

In our view, both GMP and McCloud give rise to at least a constructive obligation, which is required to be

recognised under FRS102. Management has obtained an estimate of the potential impact of the cost of

GMP equalisation based on assumptions by Hymans Robertson, which has been assessed as being a

£34,000 increase in liabilities.

The College and audit team had agreed the initial set of assumptions to be used in arriving at the final

LGPS valuation as part of pre-audit planning. The assumption in relation to GMP was, in agreement with

the College, amended as part of the audit review process to ensure that the College position was in line with

all other organisations in that GMP was to be included in the valuation. On receipt of the updated valuation

management, in agreement with the audit team, do not consider that this amount is material to the financial

statements, and we have therefore recorded an uncorrected misstatement on page 13.
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Key areas of management judgement

Key areas of management judgement include accounting estimates which are material but are not considered to give rise to a 

significant risk of material misstatement. These areas of management judgement represent other areas of audit emphasis.
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2. AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Valuation of land 

and buildings

Description of the management judgement

The College holds a significant level of land and buildings – reporting a net book value of £16.6m as at 31 

July 2019.

In line with the requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual, the College has adopted a 

formal revaluation policy of an external valuation every five years, with a desktop, interim valuation 

performed during the five year period.  The interim valuation was performed as at 31 July 2017, so there 

was no revaluation in the current year.

The College policy meets the requirement of the FE SORP that assets are valued sufficiently regularly so 

that the carrying value of the asset is not materially different from its fair value.

The College is also required to assess on an annual basis whether there are indicators of impairment to 

assets at the reporting date.

Given the significance of the value of fixed assets held, a misstatement in the valuation could be material to 

the financial statements.

How our audit addressed this area of management judgement

We undertook a range of substantive procedures including:

• Review of management’s assessment as to whether the value still reflects the prior year valuation;

• Review of the reconciliation between the College’s asset register and general ledger; and

• Considered the College’s impairment review process for land and buildings.

Audit conclusion

Our audit work has provided satisfactory assurance over the valuation of the land and buildings. We have 

no matters to report. 
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Financial Performance
The College is required to report financial performance under the HE/FE SORP, resulting in the reported deficit of £4,387k in the

Statement of Comprehensive Income. However, as a central government body, the College is also required under the Accounts

Direction from the Scottish Funding Council to report financial performance as an ‘adjusted operating position’. We set out these

required positions below.

Operating income has increased by £1.2m in the year. Much of the increase is a result of the funding provided for national bargaining, for

which the College received £695k from the SFC. There is a further £281k accrued for increased support staff costs as a result of national

bargaining which will be paid by the SFC in 2019/20.

In addition, the College has delivered higher numbers of credits in the current year than initially planned, and funding increased by

around £85k accordingly. Childcare funding also increased by £137k which is matched by costs incurred.

As expected, staff cost increases have been primarily driven by the outcome of national bargaining. The percentage increase is

reflective of the sector as a whole.

Operating expenditure has decreased slightly from the previous year. This is due mainly to window repairs of £578k in the previous year.

This decrease was offset by increases in the childcare costs of £137k which is in line with the income increase, development of a new

cyber security course which cost around £70k and IT support for replacement of old computers which was around £100k.

All other expenditure is reasonably consistent with the prior year.

While showing an accounting deficit, we highlight that:

• The College met its student credit target confirming the level of funding in the financial statements;

• The College achieved its financial targets in line with its plan; and

• There were no significant changes to the reported position during the year.
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2018/19

£’000

2017/18

£’000

Operating income 19,007 17,837

Staff costs 13,626 11,922

Operating expenditure 6,731 6,854

Operating Deficit for the year (FE/HE SORP basis) (1,350) (939)



Adjusted operating position

The table above sets out the financial position in accordance with the SORP requirements. The table below reflects the ‘adjusted

operating position’ as required by the Accounts Direction set by the SFC. The adjusted operating position removes more volatile

accounting entries, such as the valuation of pensions and those that do not have an immediate cash impact on the College. Full details

of the adjustments included are shown on page 17 in the accounts.

*Restated in agreement with the SFC

The Accounts Direction issued by the SFC for 2018/19 required Colleges to submit the adjusted operating position calculations with draft

accounts to the SFC for review before the accounts are signed off. This has been done by the College.

It is highlighted in the accounts that the adjusted operating surplus above does not take account of a further £166,000 of payments the

College has made towards its Early Retirement Provision during the year (£167,000) in 2017-18). Taking this into account the adjusted

operating result would be a deficit of £26,000 (£1,000 in 2017-18) which the College regards as its true position with regards to

operational outturn for the year.

Based on the reported adjusted operating surplus as per the table above, the College has performed well on a consistent basis in both

2018/19 and 2017/18. The above indicates that the College is operating sustainably within its funding allocation.
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2018/19

£’000

2017/18*

£’000

Deficit before other gains and losses (1,350) (939)

Add back:

- Depreciation (net of deferred capital grant release)

- Pension adjustment – Net service cost (FRS 102)

- Pension adjustment – Net interest cost

330

1,157

194

343

719

233

Deduct:

- CBP allocated to loan repayments

- CBP allocated to Early Retirement payments

- Balance of payments to ERP

158

32

158

32

Adjusted operating surplus 140 166



Qualitative aspects of the entity’s accounting practices
We have reviewed the College’s accounting policies and disclosures and concluded they comply with the requirements of the 2015

Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting for Further and Higher Education and the Government Financial Reporting Manual

2018/19, appropriately tailored to the College’s circumstances.

Our audit fieldwork commenced on 3 October 2019, with the first draft of the annual report and accounts being received from the

Finance Manager on 26 September 2019. The draft annual report and accounts were of an acceptable quality, with updated versions

becoming available as a result of updates to disclosure being made.

Producing quality supporting working papers is a crucial part of compiling financial statements that are complete and materially accurate.

They also support the delivery of an efficient audit. Working papers provided for audit were good and staff were very responsive to our

requests during the audit.

Significant difficulties during the audit
During the course of the audit we did not encounter any difficulties and we have had the full co-operation of management.
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The total effect of the adjustments above would decrease the deficit for the year by £36k.

Disclosure amendments 2018/19

Various minor presentational amendments were made following review of the draft Annual Report and Accounts and discussion with

management.
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Statement of 

Comprehensive Income
Balance Sheet

Dr (£’000) Cr (£’000) Dr (£’000) Cr (£’000)

1 Dr: Re-measurement of defined benefit liability

Cr. Long term liabilities (Pension deficit)

34

34

Being the additional pension liabilities arising from incorporation of GMP costs in the pension valuation

2 Dr: Deferred income – SFC capital grants

Cr. Release of deferred capital grants (SFC) 70

70

Being correction of release of deferred grants to be in line with depreciation

Total 34 70 70 34

3. SUMMARY OF MISSTATEMENTS

Unadjusted misstatements 2018/19

We set out below the misstatements identified above the level of trivial threshold of £12k.

The College obtained an additional valuation of their share of the LPF pension liability to incorporate costs of

Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) equalisation as an assumption in the valuation. This has indicated an increase

in the liability of £34,000. Management do not consider this amount material and have not adjusted the financial

statements.
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Our approach to wider scope work

The Code requires us to conclude and make a judgement on the four dimensions of wider scope work. These are:

• financial sustainability;

• financial management;

• governance and transparency; and

• value for money.

In recognition that audit work should be risk based and proportionate to the nature and size of the audited body, the Code allows auditors
to determine whether application of the full wider scope work is appropriate in smaller bodies. At the planning stage, we considered that
the audit of West Lothian College should be carried out under the small body provisions of the Code. We have reached this conclusion
through our assessment of:

• the relative size of the College;

• the relative simplicity of the College’s functions;

• the College’s risk profile; and

• the results of our full review of wider scope dimensions in 2017/18 that did not indicate any areas of higher risk.

In line with the Code requirements, our work has therefore focused on financial sustainability and the governance statement.

National Fraud Initiative 

The College participated in the 2018/19 National Fraud Initiative (NFI) exercise. Data was submitted in line with timescales and the Audit
Committee have been informed of the exercise. There were no matches arising from the exercise, and no significant findings or issues
arose from NFI during the 2018/19 audit process.

14

4. WIDER SCOPE

Executive summary
Audit of the 

financial 
statements

Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of 
misstatements

Wider scope work Our fees Appendices



Dimension
Financial sustainability extends the going concern assumption from the financial statements, looking forward two to five years, reviewing 
and assessing arrangements for financial planning and affordable and sustainable service delivery in this timescale.

Our conclusion

West Lothian College has effective arrangements, including budgetary control, that help the Board members scrutinise 
finances.

Financial Planning

A review of the minutes of the Finance Committee and onwards to the Board demonstrated effective challenge of the financial position by

members throughout the year.

The SFC now requires colleges to prepare six-year financial forecasts, with the current forecasts running from 2018/19 to 2023/24. The

SFC has been working with sector representatives to develop a set of common assumptions that colleges should use for longer-term

financial forecasting. These assumptions are used to produce a financial forecast return (FFR) which is submitted to the SFC annually.

The College use the FFR as a basis for their financial strategy planning.

The College has a 6 year plan which is in line with the SFC requirements. There are inherent uncertainties around SFC funding for the

College and student support funds, which provide difficulties in forecasting accurately.

The College’s forecast as presented to, and approved by the Board is as follows:

The figures above are based on the following:

� Income assumptions provided by the SFC;

� A largely flat income level for other/alternative income levels with no increases expected – the decrease in income (and costs) between 
2020/21 to 2021/22 is due to the contract with Children’s Hearing Scotland coming to an end;

� Decrease in operational expenditure over the 6 years from £18.6m to £17m – mainly as a result of the CHS contract coming to an end, 
but also due to efficiency savings; and

� Salaries decreasing slightly from being 71% to being 70% of total expenditure.

We consider that financial planning is appropriately managed by the College, and that scrutiny and discussion over future financial plans 
are built into the various committee and Board meetings.
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Forecast

2019/20

£000

Forecast

2020/21

£000

Forecast

2021/22

£000

Forecast

2022/23

£000

Forecast

2023/24

£000

Total income 18,635 18,635 17,514 17,052 17,052

Staff costs 13,171 13,197 12,418 11,886 11,814

Total other expenditure 5,399 5,373 5,031 5,101 5,173

Deficit before other gains & losses 65 65 65 65 65

Add back:

- Depreciation (net of deferred capital grant release) 314 314 314 314 314

Deduct:

- CBP allocated to loan repayments and other capital items 190 190 190 190 190

Underlying operating result 15 15 15 15 15



Asset Management and Estates Strategy

An Estates Strategy 2015-2025 is in place. It was introduced to complement the College strategic and operational plans. The key aim of 
the Estate Strategy is to ensure maintenance of high quality fit for purpose facilities, minimum environmental impact and operational 
sustainability. The Board of Governors, through the Finance & General Purposes Committee, monitors the strategy, and it is reviewed 
every 3 years in conjunction with the Corporate Plan.

National estates survey

Gardiner & Theobald were appointed by the Scottish Funding Council in January 2017 to provide a summary of the conditions of the
estates within the Scottish Further Education sector, being the first independent review of the college estate in Scotland for 10 years.
Across Scotland the estimated net total backlog of maintenance and renewals cost is £163 million excluding contingencies, any related
operational and management costs of the colleges, professional fees, VAT, optimism bias and inflation allowance. When taking these
items into account, the resulting total gross estimated backlog is £363 million. 10% of these costs were defined as urgent, requiring
action within the next year, with the majority of the costs requiring action within 3-5 years.

The Scottish Funding Council is working with the Scottish Government and Scottish Futures Trust to produce a framework for college
sector estate development to manage competing demands for estate development.

The West Lothian College survey showed an estimate of £2 million of costs over the 5 year period from 2018-19 to 2022-23, with only 
£17k being identified as urgent. The report states that expenditure of this level is to be expected with buildings approaching 20 years old. 
The work marked as urgent has already been completed, and the remaining works are currently being planned. 

We consider that appropriate attention is given to the estate and assets, and that their maintenance is factored into long term plans and 
discussions.
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Dimension
Governance and transparency covers the effectiveness of scrutiny and governance arrangements, leadership and decision making and
transparent reporting of financial and performance information.

Our conclusion

West Lothian College has governance arrangements in place that provide appropriate scrutiny of decisions made by the 
Board, these are reflected in the governance statement

Governance arrangements

Our work in this area has considered the overall governance arrangements in place at the College, reviewed the financial and

performance reporting to the Board of Governors, and reviewed the minutes of committees to inform our assessment of the

appropriateness of the governance structure. We have also attended Audit Committees during the year.

During 2018/19, the Board consisted of 22 members, 11 female (including the Principal) and 11 male. The Board meets with the 
objective of the Gender Representation on Public Boards (Scotland) Bill which was introduced by the Scottish Parliament in June 2018 
with an implementation date of 2022. 

The key committees comprise, and are chaired by former Board members, with each also containing the Principal, with the exception of 
the Audit Committee. However, we note that the Principal attended the Audit Committee on a regular basis. In addition, the Chair of the 
Board is also not permitted to be a member of the Audit Committee. Appropriate College officers attend committees and present reports 
as required. 

The Board and each of the various the committees (including the Audit Committee) generally meet 4 or 5 times a year, with the 
Remuneration Committee meeting twice. Minutes of these meetings are published to the College’s website in a timeous fashion 
following the meetings, showing transparency. Committee papers are detailed and provide a good overview of the content of the
meetings.

Governance Statement

As part of our audit we have read the governance statement included in the annual report. The governance statement sets out the 
corporate governance framework in place throughout the reporting year, the internal controls in operation, the work of internal audit and 
the overall efficiency and effectiveness of the governance framework. 

The governance statement confirms the college’s compliance with the 2016 Code of Good Governance for Scotland’s Colleges.

We are required to read and provide an opinion on the governance statement. In our opinion, the information contained within is 
consistent with the financial statements. We also consider that the governance statement has been prepared in accordance with the 
Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and further directions made by the Scottish Funding Council.

Internal audit

An effective internal audit service is an important element of any organisation’s governance arrangements. Internal audit provide the 
College with independent assurance on internal control and corporate governance processes. The internal audit function at the College 
is provided by Scott Moncrieff. Internal audit have attended Audit Committees throughout the year and have produced a number of 
reports to support the overall Head of Internal Audit Opinion. The overall opinion was that the College ‘has a framework of internal 
controls in place that provides reasonable assurance regarding the organisation’s governance, risk management, achievement of
objectives and value for money’ for the year ended 31 July 2019.
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Fees for work as the College’s appointed auditor

We reported out proposed fees for the delivery of our work in our Audit Strategy Memorandum, presented to the Audit Committee in

June 2019. Having substantially completed our work for the 2018/19 financial year, we can confirm that our final fees are as follows:

We confirm that these fees are in line with the scale fee set by Audit Scotland. We also confirm that we have not undertaken any non-

audit services for the College in the year.

5. OUR FEES
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Area of work
Proposed fee

2018/19

Final fee

2018/19

Auditor remuneration £13,180 £13,180

Pooled costs £760 £760

Contribution to Audit Scotland costs £800 £800

Total Fee £14,740  £14,740  
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Dear Sirs

LETTER OF REPRESENTATION

We confirm to the best of our knowledge and belief the following representations given to you in connection with your audit of the college’s accounts for 

the year ended 31st July 2019.

We acknowledge as members of the Board of Governors our responsibility for ensuring:

a) the financial statements are free of material misstatements including omissions;

b) that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the College as at 31st July 2019;

c) all the accounting records have been made available to you for the purpose of your audit and all the transactions undertaken by the College have 

been properly reflected and recorded in the accounting records;

d) all other records and related information, including minutes of all management meetings, have been made available to you;

e) the accounting policies used are detailed in the financial statements and are consistent with those adopted in the previous financial statements and 

are in accordance with the Accounts Direction issued by the Scottish Funding Council (SFC) under the terms of the Further and Higher Education 

(Scotland) Act 1992; and

f) compliance with the terms and conditions of the Financial Memorandum issued to the Board of Governors by the SFC.

Scott-Moncrieff act as Internal Auditors to the College. All reports issued to the College and our responses to them have been made available to you.

We acknowledge our responsibility for the design and implementation of internal control systems to prevent and detect fraud. We have disclosed to you 

the results of our risk assessment that the financial statements may be misstated as a result of fraud. There have been no irregularities (or allegations of 

irregularities) involving management, employees who have a significant role in internal control or others that could have a material effect on the financial 

statements.

The College has no liabilities or contingent liabilities other than those disclosed in the accounts.

All claims in connection with litigation that have been, or are expected to be, received have been properly accrued for in the financial statements.

There have been no events since the balance sheet date that require disclosure or which would materially affect the amounts in the accounts, other than 

those already disclosed or included in the accounts. Should further material events occur, which may necessitate revision of the figures included in the 

financial statements or inclusion of a note thereto, we will advise you accordingly.

The College has had at no time during the year any arrangement, transaction or agreement to provide credit facilities (including loans, quasi-loans or 

credit transactions) for the Board of Governors nor to guarantee or provide security for such matters.

We confirm that we have disclosed to you all related party transactions relevant to the College and that we are not aware of any further related party 

matters that require disclosure in order to comply with the requirements of charities legislation, the Statement of Recommended Practice for Further and 

Higher Education accounts or accounting standards.

The College has not contracted for any capital expenditure other than as disclosed in the accounts.

The College has satisfactory title to all assets and there are no liens or encumbrances on the College’s assets, except for those that are disclosed in the 

financial statements.

We are not aware of any irregularities, including fraud, other than those already disclosed to you, involving existing management or employees of the 

College, nor are we aware of any breaches or possible breaches of statute, regulations, contracts, agreements or College's Constitution and Articles of 

Government which might result in the College suffering significant penalties or other loss. No allegations of such irregularities, including fraud, or such 

breaches have come to our attention.

We confirm that we are not aware of any possible or actual instance of non-compliance with those laws and regulations which provide a legal framework 

within which the College conducts its business.

We confirm that, in our opinion, the College is a going concern on the grounds that current and future sources of funding or support will be more than 

adequate for the College’s needs. We have considered a period of twelve months from the date of approval of the financial statements. We believe that 

no further disclosures relating to the College’s ability to continue as a going concern need to be made in the financial statements.
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We confirm that the effects of the unadjusted misstatements, as shown in the appendix to this letter, are immaterial, both individually and in aggregate, to 

the financial statements as a whole.

We confirm that the above representations are made on the basis of enquiries of management and staff with relevant knowledge and experience (and, 

where appropriate, of supporting documentation) sufficient to satisfy ourselves that we can properly make each of the above representations to you.

Yours faithfully

.………………………………………….. Chair of Board 

…………………………………………….. Principal

Appendix

Summary of Unadjusted Misstatements 
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Statement of 

Comprehensive Income
Balance Sheet

Dr (£’000) Cr (£’000) Dr (£’000) Cr (£’000)

1 Dr: Re-measurement of defined benefit liability

Cr. Long term liabilities (Pension deficit)

34

34

Being the additional pension liabilities arising from incorporation of GMP costs in the pension valuation

2 Dr: Deferred income – SFC capital grants

Cr. Release of deferred capital grants (SFC) 70

70

Being correction of release of deferred grants to be in line with depreciation

Total 34 70 70 34



Independent auditor’s report to the members of the Board of Governors of West Lothian College, the Auditor General for Scotland and the 

Scottish Parliament 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion on financial statements 

We have audited the financial statements in the annual report and accounts of West Lothian College for the year ended 31 July 2019 under the Further 

and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and section 44(1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005. The financial statements 

comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Reserves, Balance Sheet, Statement of Cash Flows, Statement of 

Accounting Policies and notes to the financial statements. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law 

and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 

Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

In our opinion the accompanying financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view in accordance with the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish 

Funding Council of the state of the college's affairs as at 31 July 2019 and of its deficit for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and directions made thereunder 

by the Scottish Funding Council, the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, and regulation 14 of The Charities Accounts (Scotland) 

Regulations 2006 (as amended). 

Basis of opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)), as required by the Code of Audit 

Practice approved by the Auditor General for Scotland. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities 

for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We were appointed by the Auditor General on 31 May 2016. The period of total 

uninterrupted appointment is five years. We are independent of the college in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 

the financial statements in the UK including the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with these requirements. Non-audit services prohibited by the Ethical Standard were not provided to the board. We believe that the audit 

evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you where:

• the use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or 

• the college has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about its ability to 

continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are 

authorised for issue. 

Risks of material misstatement 

We have reported in a separate Annual Audit Report, which is available from the Audit Scotland website, the most significant assessed risks of material 

misstatement that we identified and our conclusions thereon.

Responsibilities of the Board of Governors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of the Responsibilities of the Board of Governors, the Board of Governors is responsible for the preparation of 

financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the financial reporting framework, and for such internal control as the Board of 

Governors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Governors is responsible for assessing the college's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, 

as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless deemed inappropriate. 
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to achieve reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 

guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 

fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 

users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 

intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. The capability of the audit to detect fraud and other irregularities depends on 

factors such as the skilfulness of the perpetrator, the frequency and extent of manipulation, the degree of collusion involved, the relative size of individual 

amounts manipulated, and the seniority of those individuals involved. We therefore design and perform audit procedures which respond to the assessed 

risks of material misstatement due to fraud.

A further description of the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council's website 

www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Other information in the annual report and accounts 

The Board of Governors is responsible for the other information in the annual report and accounts. The other information comprises the information other 

than the financial statements, the audited part of the Remuneration and Staff Report, and our independent auditor’s report. Our opinion on the financial 

statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon except on matters prescribed by the 

Auditor General for Scotland to the extent explicitly stated later in this report. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read all the other information in the annual report and accounts and, in 

doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 

otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to 

determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work 

we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 

report in this regard.

Report on regularity of expenditure and income 

Opinion on regularity 

In our opinion in all material respects the expenditure and income in the financial statements were incurred or applied in accordance with any applicable 

enactments and guidance issued by the Scottish Ministers. 

Responsibilities for regularity 

The Board of Governors is responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income. We are responsible for expressing an opinion on the 

regularity of expenditure and income in accordance with the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000.

Report on other requirements 

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Auditor General for Scotland 

In our opinion, the audited part of the Remuneration and Staff Report has been properly prepared in accordance with the Further and Higher Education 

(Scotland) Act 1992 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish Funding Council. 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit 

• the information given in the Performance Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial 

statements and that report has been prepared in accordance with the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and directions made 

thereunder by the Scottish Funding Council; and

• the information given in the Governance Statement for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the 

financial statements and that report has been prepared in accordance with the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and directions 

made thereunder by the Scottish Funding Council. 
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

We are required by The Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 to report to you if, in our opinion: 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept; or 

• the financial statements and the audited part of the Remuneration and Staff Report are not in agreement with the accounting records; or 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters. 

Conclusions on wider scope responsibilities 

In addition to our responsibilities for the annual report and accounts, our conclusions on the wider scope responsibilities specified in the Code of Audit 

Practice are set out in our Annual Audit Report. 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the parties to whom it is addressed in accordance with the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and for no 

other purpose. In accordance with paragraph 120 of the Code of Audit Practice, we do not undertake to have responsibilities to members or officers, in 

their individual capacities, or to third parties.

Lucy Nutley, 

For and on behalf of Mazars LLP

Apex 2

97 Haymarket Terrace

Edinburgh

EH12 5HA

Date

Lucy Nutley is eligible to act as an auditor in terms of section 21 of the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000
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As part of our ongoing risk assessment we monitor our relationships with you to identify any new actual or perceived threats to our

independence within the regulatory or professional requirements governing us as your auditors.

We can confirm that no new threats to independence have been identified since issuing the Audit Strategy Memorandum and therefore

we remain independent.
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Introduction 
 
This report provides an over view of the health and safety standards at West Lothian 
College from July to September 2019. Detailed information has been collated from all 
areas of the college, which demonstrates the commitment we all have to make the 
college a safe and welcoming environment in which to work and study. 
 
Accidents, Incidents, Near Misses and Investigations 
 
The monitoring, recording and reporting of accidents, incidents and near misses are a 
legal requirement that the College actively promotes across the campus. As well as 
meeting our legal obligation, it allows us to identify where and how risks arise. Each 
report is fully investigated by the College Health and Safety Officer. Appendix 1 shows 
details of all investigations during this period. 
 
During this reporting period, there have been twenty-two HSF1 forms completed 
relating to accidents/incidents and near misses. In the same period in 2018 there were 
thirty HSF1 forms completed. Certain work-related injuries, cases of disease and near 
misses must be reported to the Health and Safety Executive (HSE). There was two 
reportable case recorded, one was due to a fall from height resulting in a fractured 
elbow and the other was a hand struck by machinery resulting in an over seven-day 
absence from work.  
 

 
 

Data Collection 2019 to date. 
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Health and Safety Management 
 

The following arrangements are in place to control health and safety risks in order to 
meet the legal requirements and show commitment to all stakeholders: 

 
 

Health & Safety Committee  
Last HS&E Committee meeting was held on 10 September 2019 
Minutes from meeting have been posted on   
iShare 

Yes 

Action points against H&S Officer currently 
outstanding 

0 

Next meeting scheduled for 4th December 2019 
Employer’s Liability Insurance  
Zurich Employers Liability Insurance   Expires on August 2021 
Interventions  
HSE Inspections in the last 12 months 0 
Improvement Notices issued in last 12 months 0 
Prohibition Notices issued in last 12 months 0 
Improvements issued by Fire Service in last 12 
months 

0  

Risk assessments  
Number of risk assessments due for review Not all departments have stored 

documents on i-share. H&S Officer 
to contact all areas. 

Number of new Risk assessments. 2 x Event RA 
2 x Workstation/DSE 
1 x Mobility 

Number of generic risk assessments due for 
review 

0 - All were reviewed summer 
2018 

  



Health and Safety Report July to September 2019 
4 
 

 

Fire Risk Assessment  
Fire Risk Assessment in place Yes 
Review Date October 2020 
Health and Safety Policy  
Policy Statement approved by Jackie Galbraith 
Next Review date May 2020 
Responsibilities currently unassigned 0 
Health and safety Procedures  
Accident / Incident reporting June 2021 
Lone Working May 2021 
Inspection and Auditing July 2021 
Emergency Evacuation  July 2021 
Work Placement August 2022 
Excursions  June 2021 
COSHH  April 2021 
First Aid  June 2021 
Lock out / Tag out June 2021 
Noise at Work June 2021 
Business Continuity Policy Framework July 2022 
Fire Safety Actions  
Outstanding actions related to fire inspection 0 
Overdue actions related to fire inspection 0 
Last emergency evacuation drill (daytime) September 2019 
Last emergency evacuation drill (evening) October 2019 
Next emergency evacuation drill (daytime) March 2020 
Next emergency evacuation drill (evening) March 2020 

 

Policies and Procedures   
 
The Business Continuity Policy Framework document was updated and is with the 
Equalities Committee to carry out an Equality Impact Assessment. 
 

        Scheduled events 
 

Planned emergency evacuations went ahead as planned at the start of term. No issues 
were identified other than the need for training for some newly appointed fire wardens. 
 
The health and safety committee met in September, it should be noted that the remit of 
the committee and some of the members have changed. 
 
The updated remit of the Health & Safety Committee is: 

  
• Promoting a positive and proactive Health and Safety culture in the college; 
• Promoting a continuous improvement of the College’s Safety Management 

System; 
• Monitoring the extent of compliance with the College’s Health and Safety 

policies and practices; 
• Addressing issues affecting the College, which arise from Health and Safety 

incident 
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• Developing and reviewing Health and Safety procedures for approval by the 
Senior Team; 

• Acting as a forum for joint consultation, discussion and involvement; and 
• Overseeing Healthy Working Lives initiatives. 

  
The members of the Health & Safety Committee are: 

  
Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services – Jennifer McLaren (Chair) 
Health & Safety Officer – Emily Purdie 
Curriculum Head Representative – Graham Clark 
HR Representative – Stuart Thomson 
Facilities Manager – Paula White 
First Aid Coordinator – Daniel Evans 
One representative from each of the two recognised Trade Unions – Colin Hamilton 
(UNISON)  
(The EIS has not appointed a health & safety representative) 

  
The Committee meets quarterly and minutes are available on IShare. 

 
Staff Experience Group. 
 
Work has been continuing to support staff and improve health & wellbeing via the Staff 
Experience Group.  Since the previous update initiatives that have taken place include: 

• Mindfulness sessions running weekly for staff and gym access re advertised to all 
staff. 

• ‘Tea & Talk’ day held to coincide with World Mental Health Day on 10th October, 
giving staff an opportunity to chat and get to know each other better. The event also 
raised funds for the Mental Health Foundation. 

• A ‘Healthier You’ campaign was undertaken, a 12 week programme to mutually 
support staff to become healthier for Christmas, with an online community group to 
share experiences and progress. 

• Health promotion campaign in regards to Breast Cancer Awareness was 
undertaken. 

• The college was awarded the Silver NHS Healthy Working Lives Award – 
recognising the support the college provides to staff to support health & wellbeing 
and lead healthy lifestyles. 

 

In addition, a short life working group has been established with a view to making the 
college a smoke free campus by August 2020. The group comprises of representatives 
from the student association, marketing, lecturers, college management and facilities 
staff including the Health and Safety Officer. Working in partnership with ASH Scotland 
the group is about to consult with both staff and students. 

 
Learning and Development Activities  
 
We continued to ensure our mandatory health and safety training was maintained 
during this period including REHIS Food Hygiene and First Aid Training. During the 
August Development week Care Assistant’s received epilepsy, diabetes and stoma 
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awareness training. Additionally a large group of staff were trained in mental health 
awareness by means of online and face-to-face learning. 

  
It should be noted that there has been an increase in requests for further mental health 
training, specifically around supporting mental health with men. We are currently 
exploring options to deliver this training during the November study week. We are also 
delivering training on epilepsy awareness during this study week. 

  
As always, work will also continue in 2019/20 to embed health and safety training 
across the organisation through a mix of online learning, toolbox talks and formal 
training. This is being planned by the Learning and Development Officer, in conjunction 
with the Health and Safety Officer.  
 
The Health and Safety Officer also continued to work closely with departments to meet 
there needs, this included working with student groups to ensure safe working 
practices. Other developments taken forward were fire marshal training, emergency 
evacuation and duty manager training. 

 
Changes to Legislation/Guidance/Building Changes 
 
There were no legislative changes that affected the college during this period. 
 
Consultations and Internal Audits or Walk round inspections. 
                                                                                                                                              
Walk round inspections were carried out of Terrace 1 and 3  Appendix 2 details the 
actions generated from these walk rounds. 
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Appendix 1 – Health and Safety Officers Investigation Findings 
 
 
No. Date Accident/Incident/ 

near miss 
HSF1 Detail Investigation 

1 01/08/2019  Accident  Member of staff was walking up 
the stairs and lost her footing, 
landing on her knee which was 
swollen and bruised  

No further action 
required  

2 01/08/2019  Accident -RIDDOR Member of staff was moving a 
lawnmower onto a trailer and the 
momentum of the machine 
meant it kept rolling.  The 
lawnmower trapped his finger 
between the machine and the 
back of the trailer. H&S officer 
attended with first aider and 
finger was bandaged.  Went to 
hospital and was informed 
fractured his finger.  Member of 
staff was off for more than 7 days 
so was a recordable to HSE under 
RIDDOR  

Report sent to HSE  

3 14/08/2019  Accident  Member of staff burnt four 
fingers on left hand while 
cooking.  They placed hand under 
cold water and self-administered 
a gel bandage.  

No further action  

4 26/08/2019  First aid  Student with a pre-existing 
condition had a seizure and first 
aider attended.  An ambulance 
was called as per care plan but 
999 said a clinical specialist would 
call, when they did they said no 
ambulance was coming.  Case 
then discussed with a nurse and 
explained the situation further.   
Eventually 25mins later 
ambulance arrived   

Discussed care plan 
with lecturer and 
student in case any 
further information can 
be passed to emergency 
services, also discussed 
with first aiders on what 
to do if this happens 
again.  

5 27/08/2019  Accident  Student cut finger whilst cutting, 
first aider attended, wound 
cleaned, and dressing applied.  

No further action 
required  

6 28/08/2019  First aid  Student had previously dislocated 
their knee, was standing for too 
long and knee became sore.  First 
aider attended and was asked to 
strap up knee for support.  

No further action 
required  
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7 12/08/2019  Accident  Contractor was working on 
college to install a frame to lift 
the washing machine up in 
laundry room.  The part came in 
the wrong size and then it was 
decided to carry out hot work in 
the laundry room to cut it to 
correct size.  The smoke 
detectors were isolated.  A hot 
work permit issued.  A fire watch 
took place and the contractor 
noticed a smouldering in the 
laundry basket and used a fire 
extinguisher to prevent flames.  
The H&B staff were not aware of 
the work being carried out until 
they discovered smoke and 
reported to the facilities team.    

Contractor discussed 
incident with facilities 
staff and discussed 
incident with H&B team 
that a few towels had 
been damaged. FM to 
ensure staff are 
informed of work taking 
place. 

8 05/09/2019  Accident -RIDDOR Student sat on the beauty bed, 
lifted her feet to lie down.  The 
bed tipped backwards and the 
student fell on the floor hitting 
her elbow.  Duty manager 
attended, no first aid 
administered.  After inspecting 
the bed, it had a broken foot but 
may have happened as it tipped.  

The student went to 
A+E and had an X-ray.  
She was told she had 
fractured her elbow.  
The beds are over 15 
years old and when 
checked a person 
especially of larger build 
can tip the bed if it is 
flat and try to get off 
without lifting the 
headfirst. Student was 
sure she set bed up 
correctly.  A RIDDOR 
report was created and 
sent to HSE.  

9 09/09/2019  Accident  Member of staff was competing 
in a tug of war challenge at a 
student event; she followed all 
instructions for competing but 
over exerted herself.  Went home 
and noticed a pain in elbow the 
next day went to hospital and 
given a sling to support her elbow 
as had tendon damage.  

No further actions   

10 10/09/2019  First aid  Student took an anxiety attack 
following the fire evacuation 
alarm test. First aider attended as 
they complained of pain in arm 
and chest.    

Learning support sat 
with student until they 
felt better to go home.  

11 10/09/2019  Accident  Student was cleaning a Knife and 
cut their left finger.  First aider 
attended and applied dressing.  

No Further action 
required   
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12 12/09/2019  Near miss  A clock fell off the wall during a 
meeting in the principal’s office.  
This missed the chair of the 
meeting.  

A nail had been installed 
that morning by 
facilities but the clock 
installed by exec office.  

13 17/09/2019  Accident   Student was participating in a 
football drill and whilst running 
towards the ball, momentum 
gathered, hyperextended his 
knee. He was given first aid at the 
scene, taken to hospital, and 
diagnosed with a sprain.  He was 
given crutches  

Student was wearing 
football boots and it 
was dry.    

14 17/09/2019  Accident  Student was cutting and the knife 
slipped and cut the top of her 
finger.  She self-administered first 
aid but as it didn’t stop bleeding 
went to A&E.  

No further action  

15 18/09/2019  accident  Student was attending fresher 
event on a bungee run.  She went 
to class but starting having a sore 
head and blurred vision.  First 
aider was called and H&S officer.  
Student suffers from Migraines, 
which causes stroke like 
symptoms.  First aider took to 
first aid room and sat with her 
until felt ok to be collected to go 
home.  

Company had sign 
saying not to participate 
if medical conditions   

16 18/09/2019  Accident  Student was attending fresher 
event on a bungee run with her 
friend.  She ran forward and the 
bungee pulled her back fast, she 
fell back and banged her head.  
She went to class but started 
feeling dizzy, the First aider was 
called and H&S officer.  Students 
mum was called who is a first 
aider and told to look for signs of 
concussion.  

Passed on incident to 
student association to 
ensure when advertise 
for next year event they 
inform students of risks   

17 19/09/2019  Incident  Student was in class as it was 
noticed she was under the 
influence of alcohol.  The duty 
Manager was called and she was 
asked to go home, on a bus.  

The department 
manager discussed her 
situation and reason 
why she was under the 
influence and it was 
agreed to postpone 
attendance until 
January until student is 
in a better place to 
study.  
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18 23/09/2019  First aid  Student has a pre-existing 
condition. Student pulled the 
cord in disabled toilet and alarm 
was activated, the technician’s 
phone was called and team 
investigated.  The corridor was 
sealed off so the first aider and 
ambulance could attend.  

Student was taken to 
hospital.  

19 23/09/2019  First aid  Student has been feeling sick and 
faint, a first aider was called and 
she was taken to the first aid 
room, and then went to get fresh 
air.  

No further action  

20 24/09/2019  First aid  Member of staff was in email cafe 
when he became unwell.  A first 
aider attended but advised to go 
to A+E.  He was taken with his 
partner to hospital.  

Member of staff off 
work and in contact 
with manager.  

21 25/09/2019  First aid  Student had a seizure in chair, 
first aider attended when she 
came round.  Student felt ok to 
go back to class.  

Student was going to 
discuss with lecturer 
care plan, as this 
condition was not 
noted.  

22 30/09/2019  First aid  Student was standing in 
workshop when he fell over (he 
did not trip over anything) he had 
a slight abrasion on his arm.  First 
aider attended and wound 
dressed.  

No further action  
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Appendix 2: Corrective Actions from Health and Safety Walk Around 

 

 

  

 

 

Issues identified 4

Completed 4

Not Completed 0

Outstanding 0
Responsibility

Issues identified 9

Completed 5

Not Completed 4

Outstanding 4
Responsibility C&MV 4

Terrace 1 Additional information

Terrace 3 Additional information
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Board of Governors  
 
Minute of the Meeting of the Learning and Teaching Committee of the Board of 
Governors held on Wednesday 27 November at 9.30am in Barbour Room, Pavilion 
B of the College. 
 
Present:  Iain McIntosh (Chair) 
   Jackie Galbraith (Principal & Chief Executive) 
   Neil Sinclair 
 Michelle Low 
 Gemma Reynolds 
     
In attendance: Alex Linkston (Chair of the Board of Governors) 

Simon Earp (Vice Principal, Curriculum & Enterprise) 
 Jennifer McLaren (Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum 

Services) 
Jenny Stalker (Head of Quality & Learner Services) 
Scott Anderson (Education Scotland) 
Craig Reoch (Student Association Executive) 
Hazel Brady (Head of Business & Creative) item 19.40(v) only 
Margaret Forisky (Head of Hospitality & Communities) item 
19.40(v) only 
Graham Clark (Head of Construction & Motor Vehicle) item 
19.40(v) only 
Gordon Weir (Head of Computing & Engineering) item 19.40(v) 
only 
Karine McNair (Board Secretary) 

  
  
19.35 Welcome & Apologies 
 

The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting, especially Scott Anderson 
and Craig Reoch. Apologies were received from Elaine Cook and Tom 
Bates. 

 
19.36 Declarations of Interest 
 
 There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 
19.37 Minutes of Meeting of 4 September 2019 
   

It was requested that the mention of STEM applying in many curriculum 
areas be noted in the minute. 
 
Action 1 – Board Secretary 
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The minutes of the meeting of 4 September 2019 were otherwise approved 
as a correct record. 

 
 
19.38 Matters Arising from Minute of Meeting of 4 September 2019 
  

Regarding Action 1, Vice Principal, Curriculum & Enterprise confirmed that 
it would be possible to track data on the success rate of late matriculating 
full time students and this would be provided at the next meeting. 
 
Action 2: Vice Principal, Curriculum & Enterprise 
 
All other actions were noted as duly complete. 

 
 
19.39 Student Association Report 
 
 The Student Association President presented Paper 3 noting that Sparkle 

had recently been completed and Craig Reoch had helped redesign some 
questions based on his experience as a Class Ambassador last year. The 
Sparkle process had been managed through a booking system and the 
Student Association had covered all 64 full time and 29 part time courses 
booked onto the system. 

 
 It was confirmed that the Student Association are supporting many students 

with recharge packs and winter clothing. They thanked staff for their 
generous donations to both appeals. 

 
The Committee thanked the Student Association for a full report and for the 
work that they do for the welfare of Students. The work of the Student 
Association Executives and Class Ambassadors was also recognised since 
they volunteer in addition to their college studies. The Committee 
commended the Student Association on the alignment of their work to the 
aims of the college. 

 
 
19.40 Performance and Planning  
  

i) KPI Analysis 2018-19 
 

Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services, presented Paper 4 
noting that the figures were now finalised having been submitted to 
SFC. 
 
The Committee acknowledged the good work undertaken by college 
staff to achieve improvements in all areas and encouraged the college 
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to continue to improve, especially where there is variation in success in 
some college areas. 
 
Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services, confirmed that the 
targets had been set by the Centre Heads after discussion with their 
team and the Senior Team will be monitoring progress against targets 
throughout the year. The targets were encouraged to be challenging 
but equally the teams had to be conscious of their starting position and 
be realistic. 
 
The Committee recognised that each academic year brings a different 
student population to the college so no single strategy will apply to 
everyone. It was also acknowledged that the KPIs are not the only 
measure on which to judge the college however it was discussed that 
each KPI represents an individual student and the college can use the 
KPIs to identify vulnerable students and employ initiatives to help them. 
 
It was noted that most staff adapt courses to suit individual needs of 
students where possible and a challenge will be to ensure that good 
practice is consistent across the college. 

 
ii) Outcome Agreement 2018-19 Report 

 
The Principal presented Paper 5 commenting that the paper contained 
a summary of the college’s year adding more information than the 
KPIs. The college was succeeding in most areas although figures for 
progression to university for 2018-19 students will not be available until 
spring 2020. Centre Heads are being encouraged to visit more 
universities to develop new articulation agreements and also to work on 
existing agreements to ensure that they are fulfilling their potential. 
 
The Committee were curious to know whether students entering 
university with advanced standing succeed better or worse than their 
peers entering in year 1 of the course, however the data does not seem 
to be available. 
 

 
iii) Student Satisfaction and Engagement Survey 2018-19 
 

The Principal presented Paper 6 and highlighted that the college had 
succeeded in improving the response rate and satisfaction rates across 
all priorities. The Student Association concurred that the survey results 
were a fair reflection of the college and the Committee commended the 
extremely high satisfaction rates for the Student Association. 
 
It was acknowledged that the questions assume regular attendance at 
college and although work based, school pupils and evening students 
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are included in the survey, they have a different relationship with the 
college. The Committee still felt that all students should be encouraged 
to respond and the work based assessors, school lecturers and 
evening class lecturers should encourage participation in the survey. 
 

iv)  College Leaver Destinations 2017-18 
 

Vice Principal, Curriculum & Enterprise presented paper 7 noting that 
the college was above sector averages highlighting however the figures 
were for 2017-18. 
 
The Committee considered that students progressing to a study related 
job is equally as successful as students progressing to university since 
the end goal would generally be employment. Equally, the Committee 
acknowledged that employment is not necessarily the end of education 
as some employees continue with different studies alongside their 
duties or return to education. 
 

v)  Curriculum Plan 2020-21 
 

Vice Principal, Curriculum & Enterprise presented paper 8 and the 
Committee was joined by the four Heads of Centre most impacted by 
the proposals. 
 
The curriculum planning had been a rigorous and robust exercise 
bringing all the Centre Heads together to plan strategically for a 3-5 
year period. The key priorities that informed the plan were highlighted 
and the Committee endorsed these. The Committee was also informed 
that an initial meeting had taken place the previous day with Education 
Services and West Lothian Secondary schools to look at joint 
curriculum planning. The meeting has been very productive and work 
would progress on developing a more integrated learner journey. 
 
NS suggested that the proposed cuts to photography courses could 
impact employment opportunities for those wishing to pursue a 
photography career. The Committee acknowledged that STEM, which 
was a key priority, was a component of many creative courses as well 
as those in motor vehicle and engineering. The Committee heard that 
staff affected by the changes in the 2020-21 Business and Creative 
curriculum plan felt inadequately consulted. NS raised concerns about 
not offering a diverse curriculum and focusing too much on certain 
subject areas.  
 
The Committee discussed the importance of the college being able to 
evidence to the SFC that the curriculum offered met the needs of the 
local economy, and that employment growth in West Lothian was in 
construction, care and early years, engineering and digital sectors. 
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Some courses were removed because the college was unable to offer 
the resources provided at other larger colleges which gave a superior 
student experience, and that recruitment had been a challenge in those 
subjects. 
 
The Committee appreciated that decisions taken had been difficult but 
as the credit allocation was assumed to remain static, in order to meet 
local economic demands for certain skills, other courses would be 
unable to run.  
 
The Committee voted in favour of approving the Curriculum Plan 2020-
21. NS noted his dissent to the approval. 

 
 

19.41 Regular Monitoring 
 

i) Early Withdrawals Update 
 
  Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services presented Paper 9 

noting that the figures are constantly changing and represent a 
snapshot in time. 

 
  It was commented that there is more discussion by lecturers in staff 

meetings about early withdrawals and strategies to help individuals. 
 
 

ii) Credits Update 
 

Vice Principal, Finance & Curriculum Services presented Paper 10 
noting that the figures were in a stronger position than this time last 
year. 
 
The Committee noted that there no concerns at this stage.  

 
 
19.42 Quality 
 
 i) Quality Assurance Report 
 

Head of Quality & Learner Services presented paper 11 noting that 
there had been a number of development visits to support areas which 
had experienced challenges.  
 
The Committee heard how Support for Learning changes were working 
well with staff embedded in classes and being more accessible to 
students. 
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The Committee noted a positive report which demonstrated a great 
deal of activity in the college. 
 

 
 ii) Education Scotland Progress Visit Report 
 

Head of Quality & Learner Services presented paper 12 detailing that 
that there had been more than 12 meetings with staff, students and the 
Student Association. The focus of the review had been on the progress 
of the college against the Outcome Agreement and the impact that was 
having. 

 
The report showed a very positive position and it was explained that 
the markers of ‘satisfactory’ and ‘unsatisfactory’ were the only 2 
outcome options. 
 
The Committee welcomed the proposal to invite Janet (?) from 
Education Scotland to the next Learning & teaching Committee to give 
more detail on the paper. 
 
Action 3: Board Secretary 

 
 iii) Learning and Teaching Innovation Fund 
 

The Committee noted the paper and would be very interested to follow 
the progress of the investments later in the year. 

 
 
19.43 Learner Attainment Sub Group Minutes 
 

The Chair summarised the purpose of the Learner Attainment Sub Group 
and noted that at the last meeting it had been decided that the work of the 
Learner Attainment Sub Group could now be carried on by the Learning & 
Teaching Committee so the Sub Group could now be wound up. 
 
Thanks was expressed to all Board Members and staff members who had 
worked on the Learner Attainment Sub Group. 

 
 
19.44 Any Other Business  
 

There were no other items of business. 
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19.45 Review of Meeting, Supporting Papers and Development Plan  
 
 The Chair and Principal would discuss options for a visit at the next 

Committee meeting. 
 
 Action 4: Chair / Principal 
 
 It was felt that the whole Board would benefit from hearing from Support for 

Learning so it was decided that the Support for Learning team should be 
invited to speak at a Board Meeting. 

 
 Action 5: Board Secretary / Principal  
 

The Committee were content with the information received. 
 
 
19.46 Date of Next Meeting 
 
 The next meeting would take place on Wednesday 4 March 2020 at 

9.30am. 
 
 

Note: There was a matter discussed during the meeting, during which 
Members declared a conflict of interest, or the Secretary to the Board was 
aware from the Register of Interests that discussion could give rise to such 
a conflict. Item 19.40(v) was a conflict of interest for Neil Sinclair and 
although not formally declared, it was felt that the interest was clear to all 
meeting attendees. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Signed …………………………………………………. 
  Chair, Learning and Teaching Committee 
 
 
Date  ………………………………………………… 
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Outcome Agreement Report 2018-19 
 
Background 
 
All colleges were required to submit a short report to the Scottish Funding Council 
(SFC) by 31 October on how they performed against the targets set out in their 
2018-19 Outcome Agreements.  
 
SFC expect reports to focus on the four high-level priorities of 
 
• Recruitment 
• Retention 
• Attainment 
• Progression.  
 
For each priority, colleges were asked to address the following questions: 
 
• How good is our (for example) recruitment? 
• How do we know?  
• What are our successes?  
• What are our challenges and priorities?  
 
The reports are also expected include an analysis the attainment gap between 
students from deprived areas and the wider student population, and recruitment in 
relation to gender imbalanced subject areas. 
 
We await formal feedback from SFC on our report but informal feedback is positive. 
 
 
 
 
 
Jackie Galbraith 
Principal and Chief Executive 
10 December 2019 
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INTRODUCTION 
 
There were almost 9,000 student enrolments at West Lothian College in 2018-19, the 
highest ever number and an increase of over 800 compared with the previous year. 
The college easily met its credit target, including additional credits allocated in-year. 
 
Demand for courses increased and this is expected to continue as population and 
employment growth continues at a faster pace than most parts of Scotland. In the ten 
years to 2018, the population of West Lothian increased by 18.9% and its current 
population of approximately 182,000 is projected to increase to 203,121 by 2041. A 
resulting projected increase in the school roll will provide a growing pipeline of students 
for the college over the coming years.  
 
To ensure that our curriculum is relevant to all the stakeholders we serve, there was 
considerable effort in 2018-19 to engage further with employers, industry bodies, West 
Lothian Council, schools, and third sector organisations. This has been very 
productive. An extensive programme of engagement with employers over the past 
year, and a renewed commitment and vigour from all curriculum areas to this, 
enhanced the learning experience of our students and improved the content, delivery 
and relevance of our provision. Industry forums were established in a number of 
curriculum areas, and employers engaged enthusiastically in these to influence the 
content and delivery of our courses.  

 
Over the year, the college adopted a range of innovative approaches to teaching and 
learning, responding to industry demand, regional need and government priorities. 
One of only two colleges in Scotland to receive funding from the Scottish Funding 
Council’s Men in Early Years Challenge Fund, we created a forest classroom on 
campus to embed outdoor learning in our childhood practice curriculum and support 
our drive to encourage males into careers in early years. In partnership with Morrison 
Construction, the college introduced a pre-apprenticeship carpentry and joinery 
course. We introduced cyber security into our computing curriculum, initially as a part 
time course, and invested in a bespoke cyber security lab to pave the way for the 
introduction of full time HNC Cyber Security courses in August 2019.  
 
Our Student Association team had a major influence in 2018-19 on management 
decisions related to students and was instrumental in ensuring that everyone in the 
college stayed true to our value of keeping students at the centre of everything we do. 
They worked in partnership with staff and external stakeholders to support student 
wellbeing and remove barriers to learning, ensured that staff engaged proactively with 
their self-evaluation tool to improve the learning experience, and promoted equality, 
diversity and inclusion. Progress made on these priorities was recognised in March 
2019 when NUS Scotland named them College Student Association of the Year. 
 
2018-19 was a year of considerable engagement with staff, students, employers and 
stakeholders. It was also a year of transition, change and the beginning of a drive to 
improve the college’s digital infrastructure and learning spaces. Despite this changing 
environment student success improved over the year, which is a testimony to the 
commitment, focus and hard work of staff and the Student Association. 
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PERFORMANCE SUMMARY 
 

In 2018-19 the college delivered it highest ever number of credits and continued to 
exceed its credit target – 45,440 against a target of 44,982, which included an 
additional 550 non-consolidated credits allocated by SFC during the year. 
 
In a year that saw an increase in enrolments of over ten percent, student outcomes 
improved for full and part time qualifications at both FE and HE level. Table 1 shows 
improvement over three years on a year-by-year basis. 
 
Table 1 Student performance over 3 years (improvement on previous year in green) 

 
 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 
All students    

Completed successfully 71.8% 73.7% 80.3% 
Partial success 12.7% 12.2% 8.4% 
Withdrawals 15.2% 14.0% 11.4% 

FE full time students (FEFT)    
Completed successfully 61.9% 65.5% 67.8% 
Partial success 11.7% 9.8% 7.9% 
Withdrawals 26.4% 24.7% 24.4% 

HE full time students (HEFT)    
Completed successfully 72.5% 69.8% 70.5% 
Partial success 11.3% 12.9% 11.7% 
Withdrawals 16.2% 17.3% 17.7% 

FE part time students (FEPT)    
Completed successfully 77.7% 78.7% 85.5% 
Partial success 13.4% 13.5% 7.7% 
Withdrawals 8.9% 7.8% 6.8% 

HE part time students (HEPT)    
Completed successfully 74.6% 78.5% 81.6% 
Partial success 16.1% 10.9% 9.6% 
Withdrawals 9.3% 10.6% 8.8% 

 
Response rates to the Student Satisfaction and Engagement survey increased, with 
95.6% of FE students and 93.7% of HE students satisfied with their college experience 
(national figures were 93.0% and 86.8% respectively). 
 
The college met or exceeded the targets in our Outcome Agreement for positive 
destinations for leavers, ie 97% vs 96% for FE and 98% vs 98% for HE. Overall 
positive destinations were 96.0% compared to the national figure of 95.4%.  
 
This Outcome Agreement Evaluation Report for 2018-19 provides a short summary of 
what has been achieved over the year. It is not possible to enrich such a short report 
with the many examples than can best illustrate progress. Readers are therefore 
encourage to check the many case studies, news stories, films and social media posts 
that provide a rich narrative of student success over the year.  
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HOW GOOD WAS OUR RECRUITMENT? 
 

Recruitment in 2018-19 was strong with a total of 8,997 enrolments, which was 
significantly increased for part time courses and stable overall for full time courses (a 
decline in enrolments for full time FE qualifications has reversed in 2019-20). This was 
true for both credit and non-credit funded enrolments (see Figures 1 and 2). There 
was a significant increase in demand for part time courses, particularly for work-based 
qualifications on short courses supported by the Flexible Workforce Development 
Fund and increased numbers of work-based candidates undertaking SVQs. 
 

 
 
Demonstrating an increasing demand for courses, the college achieved its highest 
ever number of student enrolments. An increasing proportion of full time students 
(90%) lived in West Lothian, although half of the college’s part time students lived 
outside West Lothian.  

Table 2 Enrolments over two years 
 
Enrolments 2017-18 

All 
2018-19 

All 
Change  

on the year 
All 

2017-18 
Credit 
funded 

2018-19 
Credit 
funded 

Change  
on the year 

Credit funded 
Full time 2,329 2,154 -7.5% 2,095 2,003 -4.4% 
Part time 5,293 6,216 +17.4% 4,090 4,934 +20.6% 
Schools 548 627 +14.4% 499 522 +4.6% 

Total 8,170 8,997 +10.1% 6,185 6,937 +12.2% 
 
An increase in schools enrolments was driven by the cumulative increase in 
Foundation Apprenticeship students, which increased from 92 to 145, and stronger 
recruitment onto other schools courses.  
 
The college was the top destination for school leavers in West Lothian. Three quarters 
of school leavers who moved onto college chose West Lothian College, and as many 
leavers went to West Lothian as the total of those who moved onto all universities in 
Scotland. School leavers represented a quarter of full time students in 2018-19. The 
majority of full time students were not school leavers, indeed a third were over the age 
of 25. Taking part time students into account, 60% of all students were aged 25 or 
over. 

There was considerable variability in relation to gender, age, SIMD10 and level  
depending on model of study. For example, gender representation was more balanced 
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on full time than part time courses. Two thirds of full time students were under the age 
of 25 and there was a higher proportion of full time students studying at HE level. 

Gender balance was most proportionate amongst Foundation Apprenticeship 
students. The proportion of students resident in SIMD10 areas was less for part time 
than full time courses, particularly schools programmes. 

Table 3 Enrolments by key characteristics, etc 
 
Full time enrolments  
Gender Age SIMD10 Level 

Female 59% 16-19 43% 9%  FE 59% 
Male 41% 20-24 22%   HE 41% 
 25+ 35%    

Part time enrolments  
Gender Age SIMD10 Level 

Female 64% <16 2% 7%  FE 68% 
Male 36% 16-19 16%   HE 32% 
 20-24 11%    
 25+ 72%    

Senior phase enrolments  
Gender Age SIMD10 Level 

Female 57% <16 16% 6%  FE 94% 
Male 43% 16-19 84%   HE 6% 

Foundation Apprenticeship enrolments  
Gender Age SIMD10 Level 

Female 48% <16 1.5% 4%  FE 100% 
Male 52% 16-19 98.5%   HE - 

 
How do we know? 
 
We exceeded our original credit allocation and an additional 550 credits allocated in-
year. Given the level of overall demand for our courses and the destinations of West 
Lothian school leavers, we have confidence that our course portfolio offer is meeting 
the needs of the region. 
 
Demand for courses in 2018-19 was strong and continues with 100% recruitment to 
full time courses in 2019-20, including increasing full time enrolments for FE courses. 
The pattern of enrolments in 2018-19 was broadly similar to the previous two years. 
For the second consecutive year there was a higher number and proportion (8.7%) of 
SIMD10 enrolments than planned (6.0%) which exceeded the proportion of the West 
Lothian population living in SIMD10 areas (5%).  
 
Destination analysis for 2017-18 West Lothian school leavers provides evidence of 
growing demand. West Lothian College was the number one destination for school 
leavers, attracting 551 young people onto our 2018-19 courses which represented 
72% of all leavers who moved onto any college. Of those who chose a different 
college, most selected Edinburgh or City of Glasgow and three quarters of those 
enrolled onto courses we don’t offer. Of the 3% of students who chose SRUC all 
studied courses we do not offer, and most of the 2% of students who chose Forth 
Valley College selected courses not available at West Lothian.  
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What are our successes 
 
Outcome Agreement credit targets for BME and care experienced students were 
exceeded, as were targets for students resident in SIMD10 areas and those declaring 
a disability. 
 
The college increased work-based provision over the year and delivered over 900 
SVQs to employees in 170 companies. Continued growth in apprenticeships resulted 
in 289 modern apprentices in training, including 145 new starts. We fulfilled our 
Flexible Workforce Development Fund commitment, with 1,205 employees in 26 
companies taking part in 127 courses. Continuing our commitment to Developing the 
Young Workforce, the college delivered training for 145 foundation apprentices from 
schools across West Lothian, including 92 new starts in 2018-19.  
 
Building on a well-established relationship with West Lothian Council’s Education 
Services team, the college agreed our schools and Foundation Apprenticeship 
programmes in partnership with them. In recent months, senior college and council 
managers  have been working towards an even more proactive approach to shared 
curriculum planning for the senior phase across West Lothian schools.  
 
The introduction and consolidation of the Power BI data analytics tool greatly 
enhanced our ability to monitor recruitment patterns and respond appropriately to 
emerging issues during the year. In 2018-19, we also launched a new web site, 
significantly increased our social media engagement, and introduced online 
enrolments which enhanced the experience for students looking to join 2019-20 full 
time and schools courses. 
 
In 2018 the college secured a further three-year commercial contract with Children’s 
Hearings Scotland and trained 2,215 panel members throughout Scotland in 2018-19.  
 
Key challenges and priorities 
 
Recruitment to STEM courses did not meet our Outcome Agreement target for 2018-
19. Joint working with West Lothian Council’s Education Services over the year has 
enabled mapping of STEM provision from senior phase through to college and this will 
form the basis of joint curriculum planning facilitated by the Regional STEM Hub.  
  
Given the clear demand for courses from individuals, communities and employers, 
and projections for population growth for West Lothian, our greatest challenge is how 
we will meet these needs without an increased credit allocation.  
 
Workshop facilities in the critical curriculum areas of Construction and Engineering are 
in need of urgent investment to enable the college to satisfy growing demand from 
industry to deliver additional apprenticeships, and to improve the learning experience 
for full time FE students in these subjects.  
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HOW GOOD WAS OUR RETENTION? 
 

Student retention in 2018-19 improved overall by 2.65 percentage points over the year. 
While this improvement was small for FEFT (0.3 percentage points) it was much 
improved for both FE and HE part time students (1.0 and 1.8 percentage points 
respectively). However, withdrawals for HEFT increased slightly over the year by 0.4 
percentage points.  
 
Table 4 Overall withdrawals 2018-19 (improvement on previous year in green) 

 

 FEFT FEPT HEFT HEPT 
2017-18 24.7% 7.8% 17.3% 10.6% 
2018-19 24.4% 6.8% 17.7% 8.8% 

 
Gender  
   
Table 5 Overall withdrawals by gender 2018-19 

 

          FEFT       FEPT     HEFT     HEPT  
 F M F M F M F M 
2017-18 25.6% 23.3% 10.1% 8.2% 16.8% 18.5% 13.8% 9.7% 
2018-19 25.1% 22.9% 7.0% 6.0% 18.0% 17.4% 8.6% 10.2% 

 
SIMD10 
 
Overall withdrawals for students resident in SIMD10 areas reduced very slightly by 0.1 
percentage points in 2018-19 to 15.9%. Partial success improved from 9.5% to 6.3%. 
    
16-19  
 
Compared with the previous year, withdrawals decreased overall for the 16-19 age 
group, from 17.1% to 15.9%, and partial success improved from 19.2% to 13.3%. In 
2018-19, half of all FEFT students were aged 16-19 and withdrawals decreased 
significantly from 32.8% to 25.9% and partial success improved from 11.6% to 11.0%. 
 
Care Experienced Students 
 
Overall withdrawals for care experienced students in 2018-19 increased by 9.3 
percentage points to 23.6%, however partial success improved by 10.6 percentage 
points. Most care experienced students studied at FE level. Over half of care 
experienced students were aged 16-19. 
    
How do we know? 
 
Throughout the year students provided feedback to staff and through the Student 
Association’s self-evaluation process on what was supporting them remain in college 
or what we could do to ensure they did. The following HNC Social Science student 
summed up the difference that his lecturers, support staff and the Student Association 
made to him staying at college: 
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“I received my graded unit results and much to my surprise I achieved my desired grade of an A, 
which has enabled me to continue my studies at the very prestigious establishment of St Andrew's 
University. I do not believe I would have been able to achieve this without the great help received 
from yourselves at the Student Association. Towards the end of my course I became homeless, in 

turn making my endeavour to pass my HNC Social Sciences course incredibly difficult. However, the 
Student Association provided me a safe space to deal with all the stress and doubt incurred from the 
situation by offering advice on financial stability to providing hygiene products when needed. Leading 
up to my graded unit exam, I had people and a place I could trust to help me through an extremely 
anxious period of time which helped me pass. So from the bottom of my heart, I thank all of you for 
your support, I will never forget what the team have done to help me feel confident and comfortable 

enough to build a future for myself!” 

 
A visiting colleague on an ERASMUS exchange from a Dutch technical college, who 
shadowed our Motor Vehicle team and others across the college, commented: 
 
“I spent a whole day with Steven, Tommy and Ewan in the motor vehicle workshop. I was impressed 

by the way they were looking after the students, motivating them and especially keeping them 
focused on the task. Students had a great respect for the three men and showed a great deal of 

interest in expanding their knowledge. We finished the day with a full hour of theory taught by Steven 
and again I could see the way he was motivating people to use their existing knowledge and try to find 

the answers themselves. I also met up with Murdo from Student Services and learned about the 
extensive way your college looks after people with a special need.” 

 

Preparation for Health and Social Care students gained volunteering experience over 
the year while supporting the Brock Trust, a social enterprise that supports people 
living with severe mental health conditions. A pilot project, established by their lecturer, 
with students who expressed challenges on mental health and anxiety was supported 
by therapeutic workshops delivered in partnership with the Brock Trust. 
 
What are our successes? 
 
Curriculum teams made good use of course risk assessments in 2018-19 to assess 
progress for every student and to identify early action to put measures in place to 
support that student to remain on course. A review of FE course frameworks, for 
example embedding core skills units in almost all courses, resulted in a reduced 
assessment burden on FE students and improved retention. In Construction and Motor 
Vehicle withdrawal rates improved for FEFT and FEPT students, with many courses 
reporting full retention. Schools courses in this curriculum area reported low 
withdrawals compared to other curriculum areas. 
 
Meet-ups arranged by Hairdressing and Beauty prior to the start of 2018-19 courses 
introduced new students to other students, their lecturers, as well as staff from learning 
support and student funding. This resulted in earlier take-up of support for learning 
which improved retention. Homework clubs at the end of the day enabled students, 
often unable to study at home, to complete their work. Individual plans were developed 
for pregnant students which enabled them to return to their course.  
 
Almost 150 students participated in one to four week summer schools to prepare for 
courses in a range of subject areas. Summer schools on Maths helped social care and 
childcare students who struggled with a subject that is necessary for future 
progression to university. Confidence gained on these summer schools led to 
improved retention on FEFT courses. Supported by ERASMUS, 123 FE students 
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(including seven foundation apprentices) benefited from two-week work experiences 
in countries across Europe, and this was a contributory factor to improved retention.     
 
In November 2018, in response to feedback from staff and students that an increasing 
number of students were facing challenges related to poverty and poor mental health 
that were having a negative impact on their ability to stay on their course, the college 
introduced free soup and a roll for all students to ensure that hunger was not a factor 
leading to withdrawals. The Student Association established a welfare scheme 
distributing personal hygiene products and signposting the most vulnerable students 
to appropriate support.  
 
Throughout the year there was an increased focus on building strong employer 
engagement and work experience elements into course frameworks. This led to 
improved retention in a number of courses in Business, Creative and Computing 
where engagement with employers was previously low.  
  
What are our challenges and priorities? 
Building on the use of course risk assessments introduced in 2018-19, improving 
student retention remains a key priority for 2019-20, in particular for FEFT courses 
where there is a higher proportion of students aged 16-19 years. While more FEFT 
students in most curriculum areas achieved successful outcomes, a small number of 
subject areas have been identified as having particular challenges related to student 
retention. A range of actions are in place to improve this in 2019-20.  
  
While there has been a range of excellent interventions to support students affected 
by poor mental health from staff and the Student Association, goring demand for help 
is increasingly difficult to manage with finite resources. Priorities for 2019-20 include 
making effective use of SFC funding for the support of mental health counsellors 
(announced 1 November 2019), continued work with partners to access support for 
students, and collaboration across curriculum areas (for example, to encourage more 
male students to discuss their mental health). 
 
Continued estates and IT infrastructure development is a priority for 2019-20 to 
improve learning spaces and workshop facilities. This is critical for the effective 
delivery of construction and engineering courses and essential for improving student 
retention and success in these areas, particularly at FEFT level.  
 
Managing lecturer absence is a priority as performance data, self-evaluation reports 
and student feedback show a strong correlation between high student withdrawals and 
the disruption caused by staff absence. 
 
Excellent progress was made in 2018-19 to improve the enrolment process for full 
time and schools programme students. Early indicators suggest that this has had a 
positive impact on retention. This needs to be replicated for all part time students who 
enroll from August 2020. 
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HOW GOOD WAS OUR ATTAINMENT? 
 

Despite a 10.1% increase in enrolments over the year, 80.3% of students (full and part 
time as well as FE and HE) completed their course successfully. This represents the 
college’s best ever student outcomes with the highest ever number of enrolments. 
 
The college achieved the best success for FEFT students for ten years, despite 
enrolments doubling over that period. The biggest contributor to improvement for 
students over the year was a reduction in partial success.  
 
Completed success for HEFT students increased slightly over the year, however an 
increase in withdrawals and partial success prevented more progress being made. 
 
FEPT student success was the best ever, despite a large increase of around 500 
enrolments on the previous year. While withdrawals went down, the biggest 
contributor to improved success was a significant reduction in partial success. 
 
Successful outcomes for HEPT students were the best for ten years.  
 
Gender 
 
Successful outcomes for both male and female students increased significantly over 
the year – from 75.0% to 81.0% for female students, and 71.5% to 79.2% for males. 
Table 6 shows positive and negative movement in student success for female and 
male students over the year. Successful outcomes increased for both genders over 
the year in three out of four levels/modes.  
 
Table 6 Successful outcomes by gender (improvement on previous year in green) 

 
          FEFT       FEPT     HEFT     HEPT  
 F M F M F M F M 
2017-18 65.4% 65.9% 77.7% 75.8% 73.2% 64.9% 80.2% 72.9% 
2018-19 69.2% 65.9% 84.4% 85.9% 71.5% 69.3% 87.7% 78.4% 

 

SIMD10 

Successful outcomes for enrolled students resident in SIMD10 areas increased 
significantly over the year, from 74.4% overall to 78.2% (enrolments also increased, 
from 464 to 541). In all levels/modes, except for FEFT, enrolments from SIMD10 
students increased, student success exceeded Outcome Agreement targets and was 
greater than the related college average success rate. 

Table 7 SIMD10 student outcomes (improvement on previous year in green) 

          FEFT       HEFT     FEPT     HEPT  
 # Success # Success # Success # Success 
2017-18 129 69.8% 48 62.5% 246 78.1% 41 80.5% 
2018-19 120 52.5% 55 74.6% 276 86.9% 90 87.8% 
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Gender variations for students living in SIMD10 are most apparent for FEFT students, 
with an 11.8 percentage point difference between female and male students. Low 
success is reflective of FEFT student outcomes for the 16-19 age group. 
 
Table 8 SIMD10 student outcomes by gender (improvement on previous year in green) 

 
          FEFT       FEPT     HEFT     HEPT  
SIMD10 F M F M F M F M 
2017-18 70.7% 68.5% 76.5% 82.3% 78.6% 40.0% 87.0% 72.2% 
2018-19 57.5% 45.7% 86.8% 87.3% 77.1% 70.0% 87.1% 86.7% 

 
Care Experienced 

Overall success for care experienced students was 67.98%, an improvement on the 
previous year. Half of all students declared as care experienced were aged 16-19. The 
majority of care experienced student enrolled on FE courses (62% full time and 38% 
part time) and their success was closest to the college average for FEFT and FEPT. 
There were 98 FEFT care experienced enrolments in 2018-19 and we exceeded our 
Outcome Agreement target for these students (64.3% vs as target of 53.0%). Fewer 
care experienced students (18) enrolled on HEFT courses for which we did not meet 
our target for success.  
 
16-19  
 
Successful outcomes for students aged 16-19 increased over the year from 64.9% to 
69.8%. Half of all FEFT students (607) and a third of all HEFT students (254) in 2018-
19 were aged 16-19. Success rates for 16-19 year old FEFT students increased from 
55.7% in 2017-18 to 63.1%, although we did not achieve our Outcome Agreement 
target of 65.0%. This age group was less successful in all categories than older 
students. 
 
How do we know? 
 
Growth in enrolments over the year did not impact negatively on student success. 
Indeed, all subject areas that had significant increases in enrolments over the year 
also had increased successful student outcomes.  
 
For example, HEFT enrolments in Computing and Engineering increased from 148 to 
177 and successful outcomes went up from 69.6% to 76.8%; FEPT enrolments in 
Construction and Motor Vehicle went up from 215 to 254 with successful outcomes 
improving from 68.4% to 77.5%; and FEPT enrolments in Computing and Engineering 
increased from 164 to 298 with successful outcomes increasing from 60.4% to 71.5%. 
 
Student satisfaction survey responses significantly increased over the year and 
satisfaction rates were higher than the sector average. 
 
What are our successes? 
 
In 2018-19, 178 students identified as care experienced and 121 students were 
supported by the Support for Learning team. The Support for Learning team also 
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provided personalised learning support for a further 226 students. Successful 
outcomes for care experienced students exceeded the college’s Outcome Agreement 
targets for FEFT.  
 
Successful outcomes for ESOL students improved over the year, with 98% achieving 
their qualification. In addition, 98% of full time ESOL students had positive 
destinations. 
 
An increasing number of curriculum teams offered weekly drop-in classes to provide 
opportunities for students facing difficulty with particular subjects. This was particularly 
successful in improving retention and attainment on HE engineering and computing 
courses where Maths was an area of concern for some students.  
 
Motor Vehicle introduced a hybrid qualification into all courses to enhance 
employability. Part time Friday afternoon schools classes, which included servicing 
local food bank charity vans, had full retention and attainment.  
 
Student success in many curriculum areas improved over the year. For example,  
Engineering HEFT, FEPT and HEPT successful outcomes increased significantly to 
86.4%, 75.6% and 76.9% respectively. Hospitality student success increased to 
66.7% for FEFT (up from 51.1%) and 87.0% for FEPT (up from 82.9%). 
 
Entering competitions and applying for scholarships and awards have aided student 
success in subjects like hospitality. For example, a Level 5 Professional Cookery 
student won a bespoke Hospitality Industry Trust scholarship, four Level 5 
Professional Cookery students won Bronze Awards at the Scottish Culinary 
Championships, HNC Events students reached the finals of the 2019 Eventit Awards, 
and an HNC Beauty Therapy student reached the finals in UK WorldSkills. An HND 
Business student completed a year-long scholarship at Clark College in Washington 
State. 
 
What are our challenges and priorities? 
 
Student results on SQA Higher and National 5 exams were not good. Measures for 
improvement are in place for 2019-20, for example all Higher and National 5 students 
now have access to high quality SCHOLAR online materials 
 
In a small number of curriculum areas, although retention improved, the rate of partial 
success was high. This is being monitored closely in 2019-20. 
 
Attention is being paid to the subject areas which had the lowest FEFT student 
success last year and strategies are in place to reduce withdrawals in 2019-20, for 
example, industry visits earlier in the year, sequencing of units, embedding core skills, 
and opportunities to achieve early success.  
 
For these subjects, practical workshop activity for FE students is essential to maintain 
their motivation and enhance their learning. However, workshop facilities in these 
curriculum areas are in urgent need of upgrading and reconfiguration, which is a major 
challenge given the absence of capital funds to achieve this. 
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HOW GOOD WAS OUR PROGRESSION? 
 
The college made progress in 2018-19 in improving existing articulation arrangements 
with universities such as Edinburgh Napier and on exploring new opportunities with 
universities such as Queen Margaret. Improved arrangements were put in place in all 
subject areas. 
 
Collaborative opportunities arose from the college’s engagement with the Regional 
Learner Passport Group, in particular a meeting with the principal of Heriot-Watt 
University to explore possibilities.  
 
How do we know? 
 
The college met or exceeded the targets in our Outcome Agreement for positive 
destinations for leavers, ie 97% vs 96% for FE and 98% vs 98% for HE. Overall 
positive destinations were 96.0% compared to the national figure of 95.4%. 
 
HNC Art students continued to secure highly sought after degree places, with all 
students receiving offers for all the universities they applied to. This was the first year 
that Gray’s Art School offered advanced standing for our students and over 60% of 
the class secured direct entry into second year of degree study at that institution.  
 
For the second consecutive year, all of the college’s Project Search students achieved 
100% positive destinations (based on securing a job and still being in work ten months 
after completion of their course). West Lothian College was the only provider in the 
UK to achieve this. An increasing number of ESOL students and students on assisted 
programmes progressed into work or onto mainstream vocational courses. 
 
What are our successes? 
 
In 2018-19, the college secured the first articulation agreement for Queen Margaret 
University’s new BA (Hons) Education Studies (Primary) degree which takes effect 
from 2019-20. This enables HNC Childhood Practice students to progress directly into 
the second year of the degree.  
 
This is the tenth year of our partnership with Edinburgh Napier University, through 
which the college delivers year three of BA Business Management on the campus. 
This pathway enables HNC/HND Business students to progress onto fourth year or 
Masters at the university. Seven students from the 2018-19 BA Business Management 
part time group achieved their degrees with distinction.  
 
The college was the first provider in Scotland to achieve a placement for every 
student progressing into the second year of their Foundation Apprenticeship. Aaron 
Charge, who completed his Civil Engineering Foundation Apprenticeship at the 
college in June 2019, was awarded the Foundation Apprentice of the Year award at 
West Lothian Council’s 2019 STELLAR Awards. Aaron secured a job with his 
placement company and is now being sponsored through a four-year graduate 
apprenticeship degree at Heriot-Watt University.  
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Our 2017-19 two-year Foundation Apprenticeship students and one-year 2018-19 
cohort had high positive destinations. Of the 2017-19 cohort, 31 out of 32 students 
had a positive destination – 18 moved onto full time college course, 12 moved into 
work and one moved onto university. All 11 students in the 2018-19 cohort had positive 
destinations – 7 moved onto college, 3 to university and one into work. 
 
Thirteen full time students on the 2018-19 electrical pre-apprenticeship course  
secured employment with local companies and returned to college this year as Modern 
Apprentices. Increasing numbers of HND Software Development students secured 
work placements, paid summer internships, full time employment and sponsorship 
through a Graduate Apprenticeship at Heriot Watt University.  
 
What are our challenges and priorities? 
 

Until this year, efforts on articulation agreements have concentrated on the Edinburgh 
universities, primarily Napier and Queen Margaret. We need more articulation 
agreements with more universities, and the college will work in partnership with all 
universities in Scotland to secure the most favourable arrangements for our students. 
For example, with 60 students on HNC Cyber Security in 2018-19 we are actively 
pursuing articulation agreements with Dundee, Abertay and Glasgow Caledonian in 
addition to what we currently have with Napier and Heriot-Watt. This needs to be 
supported by strategic leadership at vice principal level. 
  
The proportion of the college’s HNC/D completers in 2017-18 moving onto university 
with advanced standing was 40.6% (down from 44.8% in 2016-17). A significantly 
higher proportion of our HE leavers (49.2%) moved into employment compared to the 
sector average (37.9%), and fewer were unemployed. Correspondingly, a smaller 
proportion of our HE leavers moved onto university (46.7%) than the sector (56.3%).  
This may be related to growing employment in the region and is something we need 
to understand better. 
 
An exploratory workshop with curriculum leaders in a range of subjects, which was co-
chaired by the principal of the college and the vice principal for learning and teaching 
at Heriot-Watt University, has established some very promising opportunities which 
will be taken forward this year. 
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Board of Governors 
 
Education Scotland Progress Visit Report  
 
In 2018 all colleges produced three-year Evaluative Report and Enhancement Plans 
which were endorsed by Education Scotland and the Scottish Funding Council.  
 
Progress Visits from Education Scotland allow colleges to demonstrate how well they 
are delivering on the targets and milestones identified in their Enhancement Plans. They 
provide opportunities for colleges to outline any changes to their circumstances resulting 
in revisions to their original objectives.  
 
Progress Visits provide reassurance to key stakeholders on the effectiveness of 
improvement actions undertaken by colleges. Whilst undertaking the visits, HM 
Inspectors of Education take account of the context and individual nature of each 
college. 
 
The report prepared by Education Scotland as a result of our recent Progress Visit is 
attached at Annex A. It is a very positive report that reflects the progress we are 
making on our Enhancement Plan. For awareness, there were only two possible 
assessments for the report, Satisfactory and Unsatisfactory.   
 
 
 
 
 
Jenny Stalker 
Head of Service 
10 December 2019 
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College Principal Jackie Galbraith 

Date of Progress Visit 3-4 October 2019 

College Nominee Jenny Stalker 

Managing Inspector Janet Campbell 

College HMI Scott Anderson 

SFC Outcome 
Agreement Manager 

Phillip McGuinness 

Outcome of Progress 
Visit Satisfactory Progress 

 
 

Background and context 
 
The college and its context 
 
West Lothian College is a regional college based in Livingston serving individuals, local 
communities and the regional economy, with a vision to develop a highly skilled and 
enterprising workforce.  
 
In 2017-18 a total of 8,095 students attended the college, 28% on full time courses and 
72% part time. Reflecting demographic and economic demand, the number of students 
attending the college has grown each year and the college has consistently exceeded the 
delivery target for credit activity agreed with the Scottish Funding Council. 
  
Since publication of the college current Evaluative Report and Enhancement Plan (EREP), 
the context of the college has changed considerably.  The previous college principal retired 
and was replaced by the new principal in August 2018.  Since taking up post, the new 
principal has established a more visible and accessible senior team and is bringing them 
closer to staff.  The principal has also introduced refreshed direction to the college with 
regard to digital learning and working approaches. 
 
Purpose of the progress visit 
 
In 2018, all colleges produced an Evaluative Report and Enhancement Plan (EREP) 
which were endorsed by Education Scotland and the Scottish Funding Council (SFC).  
During Progress Visits (PV) colleges demonstrate how well they are delivering on the 
targets and milestones identified in their Enhancement Plans (EP).  They allow colleges 
opportunities to outline any changes to their circumstances resulting in revisions to their 
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original objectives.  PVs provide reassurance to key stakeholders on the effectiveness 
of improvement actions undertaken by individual colleges.  Whilst undertaking PVs, HM 
Inspectors of Education take account of the context and individual nature of each 
college. 
 
Overall judgement regarding progress 
 
At the end of the PV, HM Inspectors of Education, Associate Assessors and Student 
Team Members review the evidence gathered during their discussions with college 
managers, staff, learners and stakeholders.  They assess the progress that colleges 
have made against their EPs, taking account of any changes to local circumstances.  
Based on this evidence, the team will form a view as to whether the college has made 
satisfactory progress against its EP or has not made satisfactory progress against its 
EP.  This outcome is contained within this report with accompanying commentary to 
support the findings. 
 
The endorsed EREP for West Lothian College can be found at:  
 
https://education.gov.scot/assets/contactorganisationinspectionreports/westlothiancolleg
eerep201718.pdf 
 
There are twenty two strategic actions identified by the college in its current EP.  The 
college has aligned these actions with the Quality Indicators (QI) in the quality 
improvement framework for Scotland’s colleges: How good is our college?   A number of 
the actions are relevant to more than one QI.  West Lothian College has made progress 
on all of the twenty two strategic actions. 
 
 
 
  

https://education.gov.scot/assets/contactorganisationinspectionreports/westlothiancollegeerep201718.pdf
https://education.gov.scot/assets/contactorganisationinspectionreports/westlothiancollegeerep201718.pdf
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Findings from the progress visit 
 
Outcomes and impact 
 
Areas of positive progress  
 

 Staff in Curriculum Centres have been particularly active in relation to strategic actions 
to embed the college’s Gender Action Plan and address gender imbalance in some 
programmes.  Developments such as the West Lothian STEM Hub and the Women 
into STEM programme have made a significant contribution, together with the college’s 
work to encourage girls and women into sport and men into childcare.  In the next year 
of the enhancement plan, the college plans to evaluate fully the impact of their activity 
in this area. 

 
 The Further Education (FE) portfolio of the college has been reviewed by staff, together 

with a review of the FE course framework structure.  The benefits of the reviews have 
already resulted in some change within Curriculum Centres.  The college recognises 
that the full benefits and more wholesale change in the FE portfolio will be realised 
later in the lifetime of the enhancement plan, where further targets have been 
identified. 

 
 Similarly, staff have also reviewed the Higher Education (HE) portfolio. In an effort to 

improve attainment rates for HE programmes, the college has piloted the introduction 
of personal guidance and support for students in a few Higher National (HN) 
programmes.   This has been achieved through effective use of the limited resources 
available and the improved use of Personal Development Planning classes.  In 
addition, specialist support staff can now access all students through attendance at 
timetabled classes.  This is in addition to the support offered to students who seek 
individual support from central student services. 
 

 The college has established a short life working group to focus on essential skills and 
has now developed a more ambitious approach for this area of work.  This includes a 
broader focus on meta-skills, linking where appropriate to recently introduced 
employer advisory groups for some programmes. 

 
 
Areas of further progress and actions required 
 

 Although the college has identified specific actions required in relation to improving the 
success rates of young female HE full-time students and young male student 
outcomes, there is generally insufficient awareness of these areas of concern across 
the college.  Overall, staff do not have sufficient clarity about what the specific issues 
are within their own Curriculum Centres. 

 
 Two Centre Gender Champions have been identified so far and the college is 

continuing to spread this practice across all Curriculum Centres to ensure consistency 
when addressing gender imbalance within particular curriculum areas. 
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Delivery of learning and services to support learning 
 
Areas of positive progress  
 

 The management information now available in the college is far more reliable and 
easily accessible than in previous years.  Staff are becoming increasingly aware of 
the richness of the data available, and are keen to make use of it themselves, for 
planning, monitoring and review.  Overall, this real time data has been shared 
effectively in most teams.  The new data capability at the start of this academic year 
is allowing staff to pay particularly close attention to student attendance.  Staff are 
very keen to monitor this closely having identified the impact this can have on 
retention figures. 
 

 In response to student feedback suggesting that there were too many surveys in the 
college, and that some were too lengthy, staff have worked closely with the Student 
Association to make improvements.  Student surveys have now been effectively 
combined and include fewer, more targeted questions.  In the last academic year, the 
college has achieved an increase in the response rate of over 30%.   
 

 Staff have developed effective approaches to working with employers. As well as 
formal engagement with employers through college events and advisory groups, staff 
in most Curriculum Centres have well-established relationships with both local and 
national employers that have been developed over a number of years.  As a result, 
employers are increasingly influencing the curriculum. 
 

 The college has identified the need to develop shorter learner journeys as part of their 
renegotiation of existing articulation arrangements with universities.  Currently, staff 
are actively pursuing revised and improved articulation agreements with universities 
with the aim of achieving advanced standing for students where possible. 
 

 Development of the college infrastructure and estate is a priority for the college.  The 
most recent works over the summer months have resulted in improvements to the 
college estate which are very much welcomed by staff and students.  More classrooms 
are available, the IT infrastructure has been improved with further targets identified 
within the college’s 3 Year Estates Plan, including improved facilities and resources 
for support for learning and student social space.  Substantial investment has been 
made to enhance digital learning in the computing and engineering subject areas.  
Curriculum Centres have benefitted from some new, state of the art equipment which 
has enabled changes to the portfolio on offer, for example the introduction of HN Cyber 
Security.  
 

 The Student Association was involved in developing the new Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy for students and staff across the college.  As a result, they have developed 
good partnerships with Curriculum Centres and other college departments.  Students 
who self-refer with any stress or mental health issues can now benefit from ‘recharge’ 
packs which include gym membership, a hair and beauty voucher and valuable 
signposting to support services. 
 

 The college continues to build on their approaches to the observation of learning and 
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teaching which has been developed in the college.  Work is on-going to evolve the 
teaching observation process to ensure it contributes more effectively to the evaluation 
of learning and teaching and the sharing of good practice.  Teach Meet sessions will 
be arranged during 2019-20, together with the establishment of collaborative spaces 
allowing the sharing of effective practice to take place more naturally.  A small fund for 
innovation in learning and teaching has also been established and the college is 
creating further opportunities for staff to reflect on learning and teaching approaches 
as part of their review of the teaching observation arrangements.  

 
 
Areas of further progress and action required 
 

 The college recognises that further Continuous Professional Development is 
necessary in order to gain the full benefits of the improvement in access to data 
and IT functionality and has appropriate plans in place.  Digital upskilling for staff 
to enhance learning and teaching approaches also continues to be ongoing. 

 
 Currently, part-time students do not have access to Student Advantage and the 

college is actively considering the most efficient and effective way to roll this out in 
the near future.   Additionally, the Student Association do not currently have direct 
access to PowerBi, although there are plans to remedy this as soon as possible. 

 
 Whilst the Employer Engagement Plan has been developed in line with the 

college’s target dates, it has yet to be rolled out fully to ensure consistency of 
implementation across all Curriculum Centres. 

 
 The college plans to renegotiate articulation arrangements with existing HE 

partners in the coming year.  Staff recognise the need to broaden the range and 
reach of articulation agreements and expand the potential to enhance the associate 
student opportunities that exist across university partners. 

 
 The college is undertaking a review of the current course team review arrangements, 

to ensure that they continue to be fit for purpose.  There is a need for any revisions 
to consider learner representation, to take account of the overall college move away 
from class representative roles to Student Ambassadors. 
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Leadership and quality culture  
 
Areas of positive progress 
 

 The college identified the need for increased representation from the Student 
Association in strategic groups in a number of functions across the college.  In addition 
to achieving this target, the current Student Association, and continuing students more 
generally, can identify a significant culture change.  They highlight that they feel more 
involved in decision making and are more highly regarded across the college now, than 
in previous years.  Direct access to the principal and regular communication with senior 
managers is also highly valued by the Student Association. 
 

 The wealth of data now available provides a wide range of useful information to 
underpin decision making and to enhance curriculum planning for the future.  
Managers are now familiar with the systems and are optimistic about the benefits that 
will be available in the future. 

 
 
Areas of further progress and action required 

 
 Whilst the college has improved their IT infrastructure and functionality, they recognise 

that making the best use of the increased data available for decision making is evolving 
and will take some time to be fully embedded. 

 
 

What happens next? 
 
The progress visit report will be shared with SFC, the college Board (and in multi-college 
regions, the Regional Strategic Body). The outcomes of the PV will inform a refreshed 
Evaluative Report and Enhancement Plan (2020-23) due to be submitted by all colleges in 
October 2020.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Janet P Campbell  
HM Inspector  
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Board of Governors  
 
Curriculum Plan 2020-21 
 
 
Curriculum Development 
 
As outlined in the Strategic Review of our Curriculum paper presented at the 
September Learning and Teaching Committee, reviewing the college’s curriculum is 
a strategic goal set out in our 2019-22 Outcome Agreement and a priority theme for 
improvement in our 2018-21 Enhancement Plan. 
 
Over the summer, meetings were held with all curriculum centres to develop three 
year visions for each area and agree the 2020-21 curriculum plan. 
 
The collaborative nature of the meetings enabled cross-curriculum opportunities to 
be identified, and ideas and plans were refined through robust but supportive 
challenge.  
 
Running in parallel, as highlighted in the September paper referred to above, five 
short life action groups have been meeting to recommend how our future curriculum 
might be delivered with respect to learning and teaching models, use of digital 
resources, integration of core skills, etc. 
 
Planning Priorities and Targets 
 
Informed by the visioning exercise, three initial priorities informed the 2020-21 
curriculum plan: 
 
• Reversing the decline in the number of credits allocated to STEM, a priority which 

was highlighted in the STEM paper presented at the September committee. 
• The expansion of Modern Apprenticeship provision aligned with industry demand 

and government priorities. 
• The development of introductory Level 4 courses to make the college more 

accessible to those furthest away from education or employment and to those for 
whom school did not work. 

 
As our credit allocation will not be confirmed until spring 2020 our planning is based 
on delivering a target of 46,239 credits (@25%), the same as 2019-20.  Colleges 
have been instructed by the Scottish Funding Council to assume a steady state in 
credit allocation for 2020-21. 
As it is unlikely there will be any increase in our credit allocation, we identified a 
number of courses which could be withdrawn thereby releasing credits that could be 
re-invested into the priority areas.  This was informed by factors such as recruitment 
performance, PI performance, sector priority (Government and/or industry e.g. Early 



2 
BoG/101219/iShare 

Years, Construction), employment opportunities and progression/articulation 
opportunities. 
 
Given the indication that the college would over-deliver credits in 2019-20, the 
revised curriculum plan target for 2020-21 was reduced from 46,239 credits to 
45,320. This resulted in the need for additional courses to be removed and planned 
new courses being postponed until 2021-22. 
 
Recommendations 
 
1 We are proposing to remove travel and tourism provision. This is based on the 

nature of the provision and our current learning resources. To date, the courses 
have mostly attracted students looking to join the airline industry as either 
ground or cabin crew. Both Edinburgh and Glasgow colleges have superior 
learning resources to serve these programmes and we have more pressing 
demands to invest in facilities in engineering, construction and the library. 

 
2 We are also proposing to remove HNC Events. This course has struggled to 

recruit for a number of years and anecdotal evidence from other colleges 
suggests they face similar difficulties.  There are no specific lower level feeder 
courses for this HNC, hence the difficulty with recruitment.  To create a learner 
pathway would require a new travel and tourism portfolio to be developed which, 
given our recommendation to prioritise other areas, is not viewed as a viable 
option. 

 
3 Over the last two years we have reduced the photography components of our 

creative industries provision but added the Foundation Apprenticeship Creative 
and Digital Media and NC Creative Industries. HNC Media and Communications 
courses have struggled to recruit and the outcomes have not been good.  We 
are therefore recommending withdrawing this HNC and focusing our creative 
industries provision on lower level courses, with students then progressing onto 
higher level courses at colleges such as Edinburgh or Glasgow which have 
significantly better learning environments in music, film and performing arts. 

 
4 We will discontinue a number of part-time courses in hairdressing and beauty, 

social sciences and some commercial courses due to poor recruitment. 
 
5 Investment in the new Cyber Lab and the successful introduction and 

recruitment to the new HNC in Cyber Security was part of the planned expansion 
of provision in 2018-19. The next phase of this plan was to introduce one cohort 
onto a new HND Cyber Security for 2020-21.  However, we are proposing to 
introduce a second cohort in light of the high volume on the HNC. This will 
require the creation of a second Cyber Lab adjacent to the existing one. 

 
6 Responding to increasing skills and recruitment shortages in the construction 

sector and the impact of infrastructure investment facilitated by the City Deal we 
are suggesting: 

 
• The introduction of an additional cohort of electrical apprenticeships in 

conjunction with Scottish Educational Charitable Training Trust (SECTT); 
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• The expansion of construction provision including the introduction of entry 
level courses; 

• The expansion of CITB construction apprenticeships. 
      
Appendix A contains two summary tables outlining the major changes in courses and 
credit allocations. 
 
Conclusion/Recommendations 
 
The Learning and Teaching Committee was invited: 
 
 • To note the progress being made in our review of the curriculum. 

 
 • To approve the curriculum plan for 2020-21 

 
 
 
Simon Earp 
Vice Principal, Curriculum and Enterprise 
10 December 2019 
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Appendix 1 
 
Curriculum Plan Course Changes 
 
The table below shows the significant deletions/additions to courses for 2020-21. 
 
 Removals Additions 
Beauty Therapy and  
Hairdressing 

Acrylic Nail Extensions  (Eve) 
Eye enhancements (Eve)  
Ladies hair cutting (Eve) 

 

Business and 
Creative 

NQ Digital Imaging (Eve) 
Schools Intro to Photography 
(P/T) 
Schools Higher Photography 
(P/T) 
Schools HNC Creative 
Industries (P/T) 
HNC Media and 
Communications (F/T) 
HNC Events (F/T) 

 

Childhood Practice 
and Sport & Fitness 

HND Childhood Practice 
(Eve) 

Men in Childcare (Eve) 

Computing and  
Engineering 

HND Networking (F/T) 
Women in STEM (F/T) 

HND Cyber Security 
(FT) 
SECTT Course (F/T) 

Construction and  
Motor Vehicle 

 MCMC - Introduction 
to Construction (P/T) 
Preparation for 
Construction 
(Summer) 
Preparation for 
Automotive 
Environment 
(Summer) 
VRQ 2 Light Vehicle 
Maintenance and 
Repair (F/T) 

Health, Social Care,  
Science & SS 

HNC Social Service (Eve) 
Higher Human Biology (Eve) 
Higher Psychology (Eve) 

 

Hospitality and  
Communities 

Travel and Tourism (P/T) 
Travel and Tourism (F/T) 
Schools Travel and Tourism 
(P/T) 

Christmas Leavers 
Programme (F/T) 
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The centres most significantly impacted by major changes in credit volumes of 
these course deletions, additions and capacity adjustments for 2020-21 compared 
to the current year are shown below 
 
 Credit movement between 

2019-20 and 2020-21 
Business and Creative -624 

 
Computing and Engineering +510 

 
Construction and Motor Vehicle +542 

 
Hospitality and Communities -548 

 
 
 
 
Simon Earp 
Vice Principal, Curriculum and Enterprise 
10 December 2019 
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Board of Governors 
 
Remuneration Committee - Committee Remit Review 
 
The Remuneration Committee reviewed its Committee Remit on 17 
September 2019. The Committee remit was recommended to the Board for 
approval with no amendments at this review. 
 
 
 
Action 
 
The Board is invited to consider and approve the Remuneration Committee 
Remit. 
 
 
 
 
Karine McNair 
Secretary to the Board of Governors  
10 December 2019 
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Board of Governors 
Remuneration Committee Terms of Reference 
 
CONSTITUTION AND MEMBERSHIP 
 

1. The Board shall establish a Committee of the Board to be known as the 
Remuneration Committee.  
 

2. The Committee and its Chair will be appointed by the Board and will 
consist of Members with no executive responsibility for the 
management of the College.  Membership of the Committee will 
comprise – 
 
• Chair of Remuneration Committee  – Vice-Chair, Board of 

Governors; 
• Chair, Board of Governors; and 
• Chairs of the Board Committees. 

3. The Principal shall not be a member of the Committee. 

4. The Committee may, if it considers it necessary or desirable, co-opt 
members with particular expertise. 

 
5. A quorum shall be one half of the Members entitled to vote on the 

question before the meeting. 

AUTHORITY  
 

6. The Committee is authorised by the Board to investigate any activity 
within its terms of reference.  It is authorised to seek any information it 
requires from any employee and all employees are directed to co-
operate with any requests made by Members. 

 
7. The Committee is authorised by the Board to obtain independent 

professional advice, with any costs of such advice to be paid for by the 
College, and to secure the attendance of non-members with relevant 
experience and expertise if it considers this necessary. 

PROCEEDINGS 
 

8. The Committee shall meet as required, but, normally, at least once per 
year. 
 

9. The Principal will normally be in attendance, except for matters relating 
to her salary or terms and conditions of employment. 
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10. The Secretary to the Board shall act as the Clerk to the Committee. 

 
DUTIES 

 
11. The Committee shall consider and agree the salaries of the members 

of the senior management team (which includes the Principal) and the 
managers within the pay envelope for all salary awards agreed by the 
Finance and General Purposes Committee as part of its consideration 
of the College budget for the year. 

 
12. The Committee shall take account of the following – 

 
a) that the senior management team and managers should be fairly 

rewarded for their performance and contribution to the College’s 
overall performance; 

 
b) where, in terms of senior management team and managers’ 

remuneration, the College stands in relation to other comparable 
institutions in the sector; 

 
c) the relationship between the remuneration of the senior management 

team and managers and that of other employees of the College; 
 
d) the benefits granted to the senior management team and managers; 

and 
 
e) the adequacy of pension arrangements and also the cost implication 

of pension arrangements, including the pension effect of remuneration 
proposals. 

 

Reporting Procedures 
 

13. The Committee shall provide the minutes of its meetings to the Board. 
 

14. The Committee shall highlight any matter which it feels is of particular 
importance to the Board. 
 

 
 

Last reviewed by Committee: September 2019 
Last approved by Board: December 2019 

Date for next review: June 2020 
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CONFIDENTIAL 
 
Nominations Committee 
 
Minute of the meeting of the Nominations Committee held on 17 September 
2019 at 2.45pm in the Principal’s Office in the College. 
 
 
Present:  Alex Linkston (Chair) 

Sue Cook  
Moira Niven 
Iain McIntosh 

 
In Attendance: Jackie Galbraith (Principal and Chief Executive) 
   Karine McNair (Secretary to the Board) 
 
 
19.32  Welcome and Apologies 
 

There were no apologies. 
 
19.33 Declarations of Interest 
 

No items of interest were declared. 
 
19.34 Minutes of Meeting of 18 June 2019 
 

The minutes of the previous meeting were noted as a true record of 
the meeting. 

 
19.35 Matters Arising from Minute of 23 May 2019 
 

All matters arising were noted as duly completed. 
 

19.36 Skills Matrix September 2019 
 
The Committee noted the updated Skills Matrix for September 2019 
and agreed that the forthcoming recruitment process should focus on 
HR management skills. 
 

19.37 Proposed Board Recruitment Process 
 

The Committee agreed that the Recruitment Panel should consist of 
the Chair of the Board, 2 of the Committee Chairs and the Student 
Association President. The Chairs of the Learning & Teaching 
Committee and the Finance & General Purposes Committee agreed to 
join the Recruitment Panel. 
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The Chair commented that the Board is committed to the legislation for 
Gender Equality on Public Boards and would be making all efforts to 
ensure gender equality on the Board by 2020. 
 
It was agreed that Morag McKelvie should be contacted to see if she 
would be willing and available to be the Independent Person for the 
recruitment process.  
 
Action 1: Board Secretary 
 
The Committee approved the broad timeline of the recruitment process 
and approved the Board Secretary contacting Changing the Chemistry 
to use their referral service for a charge of £150. 
 
Action 2: Board Secretary 
 
The Principal offered to update the College description and accolades 
mentioned in the Application Pack. 
 
Action 3: Principal 

 
 
19.38 Any Other Business 
 

There were no other items of business. 
 
 
19.39 Review of Meeting and Training Needs  
 

The Committee was satisfied with the operation of the meeting and the 
supporting papers provided. 

 
 
19.40 Date of Next Meeting 
 

The date of the next scheduled meeting is to be confirmed. 
 
Note:  There were no other matters discussed during the meeting during 

which members declared any conflict of interest, other than those 
already declared, or the Secretary was aware from the Register of 
Interests that discussion could give rise to such a conflict.  
 
 
Signed …………………………………………………. 
  Chair, Nominations Committee 

 
 

Date  ………………………………………………….. 
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BOARD DEVELOPMENT PLAN, REVIEW OF MEETING AND SUPPORTING PAPERS  
 
No. Action Planned delivery When /how delivered: 

 
Increased organisational knowledge; improved transparency & visibility; ensuring the learner voice is central to decision making 
 
1.1 Focus on learning and teaching issues at Board meetings ensuring effective 

oversight of challenging student success targets 
 

Include attainment update as 
agenda item for Board Meetings 
(in Chief Executive Report / L&T 
Update?) 

LASG – 06.11.19 

1.2 Include campus visits to Committee meetings 
• identifying whether most beneficial to be at the start or end of meeting 

 

Minimum of 1 visit a year per 
committee 

LTC – Cyber 
Classroom 04.09.19 
F&GP – Street 
Building 05.09.19 
Audit – Street 
Building 12.09.19 
Audit – Motor Vehicle 
28.11.19 

1.3 Board Members sit in on other Committee meetings 
• open invitation issued at each Board Meeting as a prompt 

Raised at every Committee Self 
Evaluation  
25% of members a year1 
 

 
11% 

1.4 Organise opportunities for Board members to meet with wider Student Association 
 
 

Executive shadowing and Sparkle 
meeting in January 2020 

 

                                                           
1 Excluding Chair & Principal (Chair attends L&TC regularly but best practice not to attend Audit; Principal attends all meetings) 
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BOARD DEVELOPMENT PLAN, REVIEW OF MEETING AND SUPPORTING PAPERS  
 
No. Action Planned delivery When /how delivered: 

 
1.5 Continue to share news about work of the Board through Principal’s update 

 
Ongoing Principal’s Fortnightly 

Updates to all staff 
1.6 Board to visit a Partnership Centre to see work of College in the Community Ongoing – viable date to be found  
Increased strategic overview 
 
2.1 Review College Strategic Plan ensuring the aims of the College are aligned with 

regional strategy/outcome 
March 2020  

2.2 Finance & General Purposes Committee to regularly review performance against 
the College Strategic Plan and report to the Board 
 

March 2020  

2.3 Organise annual Strategic Away Day for Board Members 
 

Planned for May 2020 – Audit 
Committee suggested in-depth 
discussion of KPI data 

 

Best practice in governance 
 

3.1 Include Strategic Risk Register in Board agenda on annual basis 
 

Postponed to allow discussion at 
September Audit Committee 
meeting. 
 
Rescheduled to Dec 2019 

Board ‘Risk Appetite’ 
Workshop 17/09/19 
 
Presented to Board 
10/12/19 

3.2 Provide information on Board member responsibilities to register and declare 
interests (2 year cycle).  
 

Planned for September 2019 
(include Charity Trustee 
obligations) 

Standards 
Commission 
information included 
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BOARD DEVELOPMENT PLAN, REVIEW OF MEETING AND SUPPORTING PAPERS  
 
No. Action Planned delivery When /how delivered: 

 
 in Board Secretary 

Report 17/09/19 
OSCR guidance 
notes sent in email 
27/08/19 

3.3 Keep in view the need to bring in / retain private sector non-execs; continue to 
raise issue with Scottish Government as appropriate 
 

Consider for future recruitment   Oct 2019 private 
sector non-exec 
recruited  

3.4 Consider establishment of Chairs Forum – considered 20/06/17 and agreed to 
keep as option for longer term development 
 
 

Consider for review   

Improved Board Diversity 
 
4.1 Review Board participation in shadowing scheme 

 
Nominations Committee approved 
candidate – May 2019 

EM joined Board as 
shadow Member Sept 
2019 
CM offered shadow 
position Nov 2019 

4.2 Highlight importance of improving Board diversity in recruitment material 
 

Board recruitment Oct 2019 Oct 2019 

4.3 Identify specific options to target vacancies including to organisations, groups & 
individuals 

Board recruitment Oct 2019  Oct 2019 CIPD and 
CtC involved in 
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BOARD DEVELOPMENT PLAN, REVIEW OF MEETING AND SUPPORTING PAPERS  
 
No. Action Planned delivery When /how delivered: 

 
 recruiting HR 

Management 
expertise 

Continuous Improvement 
 
5.1 Simplify the self-appraisal form for Board member review meetings  

• Board agreed review after 2 cycles  
 

Review in January 2020 when 
sending 6 month reminder 
 

 

5.2 Introduce system to track training and development actions agreed at Board 
member review meetings 
 

July 19 – after review meeting 
Jan 20 – 6 months reminder 
KMc to meet with HR in January 
2020 to discuss capabilities of 
new HR College system 

 

5.3 Maintain Board Development Plan as live document following discussion and 
input at Board and other meetings 
 

Ongoing Strategy Day 
suggestion from Audit 
Committee included 

5.4 Committee Self-evaluations 
 

March 2020  
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